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Appendix 4E — Preliminary Final Report Year Ended 31 March 2007

Key Information Year Ended 31 March
2007 2008 Movement
USEM USSM
Net Sales From Ordinary Activities 1.542.9 1,488.5 Up 4%
Operating Profit (Loss} From Continuing Operations After | ..n0 | zre-n | 1w |
Tax Atiributable to Sharehoiders 150.8 (506.7) Up
Operating Profit {Loss} Including Cumulative Change In
Accounting Principle For Stock-Based Compensation 1517 (506.7) Up M
Net Tangible Assets per Ordinary Share Us30.55 Us$o.20 Up | m

Dividend Information

A dividend of US 15.0 cents per shars/CUFS is payable to share/CUFS holders on 10 July 2007, A dividend of US 5 cents per
share/CUES was paid on 8 January 2007 and a dividend of US 4 cents per share/CUFS was paid on 6 July 2006,

Record Date is 14 June 2007 to determine entittements to the dividend payable o share JCUES holders on 10 July 2007 {jie, on the basis of
proper instrurments of transfer received by the Company’s registrar, Computershare Investor Services Ply Lid, Level 3, 60 Carrington
Street, Sydney NSW 2000, Australia, by 5:00 pm if securities are not CHESSE approved, or security holding balances established by 5:00
pin or such later time permitted by SCH Business Rules if securities are CHESS approved).

This dividend and future dividends will be unfranked for Australian taxation purposes.

This dividend is subject to Dutch withholding tax of 15%. For withholding tax information see: www . Jameshardie com (select investor
Relations, then Shareholder services then Tax Information) or contact Computershare.

The Australian currency equivalent amount of dividend to be paid fo CUFS holders will be announced 1o the ASX on or about
15 dune 2007

Mo dividend reinvestment plans are avallable for this dividend.

Movements in Controlled Entities during the year ended 31 March 2007

The following entities were liquidated: RIS lrrigation (Portugall A (22 June 2006}, Harflex Lid (16 August 2006},
Merehurst Europe Lid {22 February 2007)

Audit

The results and financial information included within this Preliminary Final Report have been prepared using US GAAP
and have been subject to an independent audit by external auditors.
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Analyst and Media enguiries about results,
28 May 2007 please contact Steve Ashe on
Tel: 61 2 8274 5246; Mob: 61 408 164 011

Full year net operating profit up 6% to US$$222.2m

4*" Quarter net operating profit US$54.4m, down 16%
{excluding asbestos adjustments and related tax benefit)

James Hardie today announced a U8$222.2 mitlion net operating profit, excluding asbestos adjustments
and related tax benefit, for the full vear ended 31 March 2007, an increase of 8% compared to the prior
full year.

The fourth quarter net operating profit, excluding asbestos adjustiments and refated {ax benefit, fell 16%
compared to the same period fast year, from US$64.7 million to US$54.4 miltion.

including these asbestos adjusiments for both fiscal years, net operating profit for the year was
US$151.7 milion compared to a net operating loss of US$506.7 million in fiscal year 2006. For the
fourth quarter, net operating profit including these asbestos adjustmenis was US$103.1 mitlion
compared {0 a net operating loss of US$650.9 million for the same quarter last year, when the company
established an initial provision of US$715.6 million in respect of fikely asbestos compensation payments
in Australia.

Tha asbestos adjustments are derived from an estimate of future Australian asbestos-related liabilities in
accordance with the Amended Final Funding Agreement (Amended FFA) that was signed with the New
South Wales (NSW) Government onn 21 November 2006 and approved by the company's security
holders on 7 February 2007. The adjustments include the "grossing-up® effect of recognising ths
anticipated tax benefit and other assets and liabilities arising from the asbestos-related paymenis.

Operating Performance

Despite residential housing construction activity in the company's main markets continuing o weaken,
fourth quarter EBIT excluding asbestos adjustments increased 33%, up from US$53.0 million to US$70.5
milfion. Net sales and gross profit were down 7% and 4%, respectively, to US$360.9 million and
US$133.8 miilion, respectively.

For the full year, net sales and gross profit were each up by 4%, to US$1,542.9 million and US$573.0
miliion, respectively. EBIT excluding asbesios adjustments increased by 14% to US$318.9 million
compared to US$280.7 million for the prior year.

in this Media Release, James Hardie may present financial measures, sales vofume ferms, financial ratios, and Nom-US GAAR financial
measures included in the Definitions section of this document starfing on page 8. The company presenis financial measures that if believes are
customarity used by its Austrafian investors. Specifically, these financial measures Include "EBIT", "EBIT margin®, "Operating profit” and “Net
operating profit’. The company may also present other terms for measuring ifs sales volumes (‘miflion square feet (mmsfl” and “thousand
square feef (msf]’}; financial ratios ("Gearing ratio”, "Net interest expense cover’, "Nef interest paid cover”, "Net debt payback”, “Net debtivash’);
amd Mon-US GAAPR financial measures ("EBIT and EBIT margin excluding asbestos adjustments”, "EBIT and EBIT margin excluding ashestos
adjustments, impairment charge and SCI and other refated sxpenses’, "Net operafing profit exciuding asbesios adjiustments and tax benefit
related to ashestos adjustments”, "Net operating profif excluding asbestos adfustments, tax benefit related fo ashesfos adjustments, impairmant
charge, SCi and other related expenses, make-whofe payment and tax provision write-back’, ‘Difuted eamings per share excluding asbesios
adiustments, tax benelfit related fo ashesios adjusiments, impairment charge, SCI and other refated expenses, make-whole paymert and fax
provision wiite-back”, "Opersting profif before income laxes excluding asbesios adjusiments”, “Income fax benefill(expensa) exciuding fax
banefit refated fo asbestos adiustments and tax provision write-back”, "Effective tax rate excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit refated 1o
ashestos adjustments and fax provision write-back”, and "EBITDA"}. Unless otherwise stated, resulfs and comparisons are of the current 4%

Ui

guarter and current fulf year versus the 47 guarter and fulf year of the prior fiscaf year.
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LUSA Fibre Cement net sales were down 11% for the quarter, as the new housing market continued to
deteriorate and affect sales volumes. However, EBIT increased by 2% compared fo the corresponding
pericd last year. For the full year, net sales increased 4% and EBIT was up 6% compared to the prior
year.

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement net sales were up 12% for the quarter despite weaker markat conditions.
EBIT for the fourth quarter decreased 5% to US$8.8 million due to reduced EBIT performance in the
Australia and New Zsaland Fibre Cement business, partially offset by improved EBIT performance in the
Philippines Fibre Cement business and favourable currency movements. For the full year, net sales
increased 4%, but EBIT was 6% lower compared to the prior year.

Diluted earnings per share for the quarier increased to US22.0 cenis per share in the fourth quarter from
a loss per share of US31.41 in the same period last year. Diluted earnings per share for fiscal year 2007
increased to US32.5 cents per share from a loss per share of U88$1.10 for fiscal year 2006.

Diluted earnings per share excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related to asbesios adjustments,
impairment charge, Special Commission of Inquiry (SCI) and other related expenses, make-whole
payment and iax provision write-backs, increased by 3% from US11.7 cents to US12.0 cents for the
quarter and increased by 8% from US45.7 cents o US49.3 cents for fiscal 2007.

At Quarter and Full Year at a Glance

USS$ Million Q4FY07 Q4 FY0B Chz:age Evo7 EY o6 Ch;/;:ge
Net sales $360.9 $380.8 {7} $1542.0 $1,488.5 4
Gross profit 133.8 138.5 {4 573.0 550.8 4
SCt and other related expanses {5.4) (2.7} {100} {13.8) {17.4} 22
EBIT excluding asbestos adjustments 70.5 530 33 3189 2807 14
Asbestos adjustments (286.3) (715.8) 80 {405.5) (715.6) 43
ERIT (215.8) (662.6) 67 (86.6) (434.9) 80
Net interest (expense) income {4.23 0.7 - {6.5) {0.2} -
lncorne tax benefit {expense) 323.1 11.0 - 2438 {71.8) -
Net operating profit {loss) 103.1 {650.9) - 151.7 {506.7) -

The results include SCt and other refated expenses of US$5.4 million for the quarter and US$13.6 mitlion
for the full year (US$5.0 million and US$12.6 million after tax, respectively), a tax provision write-back of
US$3.0 million for the quarter and US$10.4 million for the full year and, for the full year only, a make-
whole payment of US$6.0 million (US$5.6 million after tax) resulting from the prepayment of US$-
denominated notes in May 2006.

Net operating profit excluding asbestos adjusimenis, tax benefit related fo asbestos adjusiments,
impairment charge, SCi and other related expenses, the make-whole payment and the tax provision
write-backs, increased 3% for the quarter to US$56.4 million and increased 8% to US$230.0 million for
the full year, as shown in the following table:
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% %

[T (1] o

US$ Million Q4FYO?7 Q4FYOS Change | FYO7 FY08 Change
Net operating profit {loss) 51031 ${650.9) - $ 1517 $(506.7) -
Asbestos adjustments 286.3 715.6 60 405.5 715.8 43
Tax benefit ralated to asbestos adjusiments {335.0) - - {335.0) - -
Net operating profit excluding asbestos

adiustments and tax benefit related to asbestos 54 .4 64.7 {18} 2222 208.9 6
adjusiments

impairment of roofing plant {net of tax) - 8.0 - - 8.0 -
SCI and other related expenses (net of tax} 50 2.5 {100 12.6 16.5 24
Make-whole payment {net of tax) - - - 586 - -
Tax provision write-back 3.0} (20.7} - {10.4) {20.7} (50}

Net operating profit excluding asbestos
adiustments, tax benefit related to asbestos
adjustments, impairment charge, 8Ct and other
related expenses, rmake-whole payment and tax $ be4 b 545 3 $ 2300 § 2127 8
provision write-hack

Commentary

James Hardie's Chief Executive Officer, Louis Gries said: "A strong bottom line operating performance in
USA Fibre Cement, cur largest business, helped cap off a very solid set of full year results amidst
difficuit and chalienging market conditions.

“‘Compared with last year, both revenue and earnings, excluding asbestos adjusimenis, were sironger
despite housing construction activity being considerably weaker in the US and, to a lesser extent, in
Australia and New Zealand.

“We have seen some improvement in demand in our US business so far this first quarter, but the outlook
for the US housing market continues to carry significant uncertainty,” said Mr Gries.

“The adjusiments made to ouwr US business in late 2006 and early 2007 have positioned us wel for
addressing the weaker markst conditions. We are well placed to quickly flex up’ should the market
improve.

“The business is continuing to focus on growing demand for fibre cement, on taking market share from
alternative materials and on cost managemsni. The underlying fundamentals of the business remain
strong.

“In February, shareholders voted overwhelmingly in favour of our voluntary asbestos compensation

proposal and the company made its initial payment of A$184.3 milion to the Asbestos Injuries
Compensation Fund, which is now up and running,” Mr Gries said.

Dividend

The company today announced plans for a final dividend of US15 cenis a share, an increase of US11
cents on last year's final dividend. The dividend will be paid on 10 July 2007 to sharehoiders registered
en 14 June 2007.

As a consequence, the full yvear dividend for FYO7 will be US20 cents a share; an increase of US12
cents on last year's full year dividend of US8 cants a share.
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it is anticipated that the company’s future dividend payout ratic will be between 50% and 75% {excluding
ashestos adjustments), subject to financing requirements.

USA Fibre Cement

Fourth quarter net sales were down 11% compared 1o the same quarter last year, to US$289.9 milion.
Sales volume decreased 16% o 484.9 million square feet, and the average net sales price was 6%
higher at US$588 per thousand square feet.

The US housing construction market continued o weaken, with the US Census Bureau reporting that
new housing starts were down 25% and 30% respectively for the three months ended 31 December
20086 and 31 March 2007, compared to the corresponding quarters of last year.

The weaker housing market had a significant adverse sffect on sales for the quarter, felt mainly in our
exterior producis category where demand was lower across nearly all regions. Compared to the same
period last year, net sales were lower for all products in the exteriors category other than the premium-
priced, differentiated products, XLD® trim and the ColorPius® collection. Sales of our interior products
were close to flat compared to the same period last year.

For the full year, net sales increased by 4% to US$1,262.3 million, driven by a 5% increase in the
average net selling price to US3588 per thousand square feet, partially offset by a 2% decrease in sales
volumes to 2,148.0 million square fest.

EBIT for the quarier was 2% higher at US$84.6 miilion, helped by the improved average sales price, cost
efficiencies and a lower accrual for employee bonuses compared to the same quarter last year, and was
8% higher for the full year at US$362.4 million. The EBIT margin was 29.2% for the quarter and 28.7%
for the full year, compared with 25.4% and 28.1%, respesctively, for the prior year.

Australia and New Zealand Fibre Cement

Net sales increased 10% to US$56.4 million for the quarier, compared to US$51.1 million in the same
period last year. Sales volumes were up by 6% but the average net sales price in Australian dollars was
down 2%.

Both the new housing and rencvation markets continued to weaken during the quarter, but sales
volumes increased as a result of market share gains in the fibre cement segment in both Australia and
New Zealand. These gains were achieved through initiatives designed to grow primary demand for fibre
cement and increase sales of value-added, differentiated products. Selling prices for non-differentiated
products continued to be subject to strong competition, leading to a lower average net sales price.

EBIT was 14% lower for the quarter at US$7.9 million due to increased manufacturing costs, including
inefficiencies associated with the rsbuild of inventory following the temporary closure of the Rosehill,
NSW plant in December 2006 for asbestos-related reasons and SG&A costs, partially offset by
increased sales volume. The EBIT margin was 14.0%.

For the full year, sales increased 2% to US8%$223.4 million, compared to US$218.1 million in the same

pericd last year. EBIT was down 8% to US$35.7 million. The EBIT margin for the full year was 16.0%
compared with 17.8% for the prior year.

Philippines Fibre Cement
Net sales increased for the quarter and full year compared o the same periods last year, as the

business improved its market penetration in the new residential and commercial segments. The
business recorded a small positive EBIT for the quarter and full year.
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USA Hardie Pipe

Net sales for the quarier decreased, but increased for the full year, compared 1o the same pericds last
year. The business is continuing 1o focus on growing sales in its core markets and improving profitability.
A small negative EBIT for the quarter was recorded, hut a small positive EBIT for the full year was
achieved.

Europe Fibre Cement

Sales continued to grow steadily, albeit from a low base.

Asbestos Compensation Funding Arrangement

As of 31 March 2067, all conditions precedent to the Amended FFA were salisfied and the new
compensation funding arrangement was operational.

Readers are referred to Note 12 of the company's 31 March 2007 Finandial Report for further information
on the voluntary funding proposal, and for information on the SC1 and other related matters.

Asbestos adjustments

The asbestos provision recorded at 31 March 2006 was made up of a number of components, chiefly the
valuation provided by KPMG Actuaries. In line with the terms of the Amended FFA, the aciuarial
valuation has been updated following an actuarial assessmeni by KPMG Actuaries at 31 March 2007.

The asbestos adjustments to EBIT comprise the following components for the three months and full ysar
ended 31 March:

US$ Million FYo7 FYo5 FY07 FY06
Effect of foreign exchange (171} - {84.5) -
Adjustrnents fo net Amended FFA ligbility at

30 September 2008 ) ) (41.8) )
Agﬁuagi;tzég;et Amended FFA liability at 70.2 ) 20.3 )
Contributions to asbestos research and education {4.5) - {4.5) -
lmpact of tax-affecting the net Amended FFA liability {335.0) - £335.0} -
Initial recording of provision at 31 March 2006 - {715.8) - {715.6}
Asbestos adjustments to EBIT (286.3} (715.6) (405.5) (715.6)

ASIC Proceedings and investigation

On 14 February 2007, the Australian Securities & investments Commission (ASIC) advised the company
that it had commeanced civil proceedings against JEI NV, a former subsidiary and ten then-serving or
former officers and direciors of the James Hardie group. The civil proceedings concemn alleged
contraventions of certain provisions of the Corporations Law and/or the Corporations Act connected with
the affairs of the company and certain subsidiaries during the period February 2001 to June 2003.

On 2¢ February 2007, the company annocunced that the three serving directors named in the ASIC
proceedings had resigned from the Board and Beard Commitieas.
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The company has considered the impact of the ASIC proceedings upon its current financial statements
and believes that these proceedings will have no material impact. However, there remains considerable
uncertainty surrounding the likely outcome of the ASIC proceedings in the longer term and there is a
possibility that the related costs to the company could become material. At this stage it is not possible to
determine the amount of any such liability.

Readers are referred to Note 12 of the company’s 31 March 2007 Financial Report for further information
on the ASIC Investigation.

Cash Flow

Operating cash flow for the full year fell from cash provided by operating activities of U8$240.6 million to
cash used in operating activities of US$67.1 million. The decrease was primarily due to the A$191.9
miliion (LUS$154.8 million) ATC deposit payment and the A$184.3 {US$148.7 million) initial funding
payment made 1o the AICF. As a result, at 31 March 2007, the company had net debt of US$153.9
milfion compared to net cash of U8$12.4 million at 31 March 20086.

Capital expenditures for the purchase of property, plant and equipment decreased from US$162.0 miilion
to US$92.6 million for the full year.

Outlook

in North America, there is still considerable uncertainty over the outlook for new residential housing
construciion activity. Recently released housing data shows a continued deterioration in the new
housing market, with April 2007 annualised housing starts at an estimated 1,528,000, up slightly {2.5%)
from March 2007 but down 16.1% from April 2006. Building permits, an indicator of future activity,
deteriorated in April and are running significantly below the pace of a year ago.

Despite the recent slight improvement in new housing starts, the supply of new homes for sale appears
to still be greater than demand, and builder confidence levels remain low.

While interest rales continue to be relatively low, tightening of lending standards related to problems of
the sub-prime mortgage sector is causing increased unceriainty over the short to medium-term outlook
for credit avaitability and demand for new housing.

The Naiional Association of Home Builders Chief Economist, David Seiders, made the following
statement on 16 May 2007: “The patters of building permits clearly shows that the dramatic downward
correction in housing production is still underway. Home buyer demand has been sent info another
down leg by the abrupt tightening of mortgage lending standards, and there is an increasingly heavy
supply of vacant housing uniis on the market. Under these conditions, builders are cutting back on new
consiruction and intensifying their efforts to bolster sales and limit cancellations”. The NAHB is now
projecting that housing production will not begin improving until late this year, and that the early stages of
the subsequent recovery will be quite siuggish.

James Hardie's USA Fibre Cement business underwent some re-setting in late 20086, esarly 200,7 to
address the weaker market conditions and remains well positioned to *flex-up” in response tc higher-
than- anticipated demand.

Sales volumes for the first quarter of fiscal 2008 are expected to be adversely affacted by the weaker
new housing market, but the business remains focussed on, and has strategies in place to grow, primary
demand for fibre cement and take further market share from aliernative materials including wood and
vinyi siding. [t is also continuing to focus on cost management.

The repair and remodelling market is anticipated o remain relatively stable in the short-term and further
market share gains for our isterior products category are expscted.
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in the Australia and New Zealand Fibre Cement husiness, weak market condilions are forecast to
continue, but further volume growth is expected from market initiatives aimed at driving primary demand
for fibre cement. Prices for non-differentiated products are expected o remain under pressure due to
price competition in Australia. Manufacturing and other cost sfficiencies are targeted.

in the Philippines, healthy building and construction activity is expected to help domestic demand in the

short-term.  Compstitive pricing pressurs is continuing in both the Philippines domestic and export
markets.

Changes to the net Amended FFA liability to reflect changes in foreign exchange rates or updates io the

actuarial estimate may have a material impact on the company's consolidated financial staiements.
Refer to note 12 of the company’s Financial Report as at 31 March 2007 for more information.

END

Media/Analyst Enquiries:

Steve Ashe
Vice President investor Relations

Telephone: 61 2 8274 5246

Maobile: 51 408 164 011
Email: steve ashe@iameshardie.com.au

Facsimile: 61282745218
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This Media Release forms part of a package of information about the company’s resulis. 1 should be
read in conjunction with the other paris of the package, including Management's Analysis of Results, a
Management Preseniation, and a Financial Report.

These documents, along with an audiocast of the management presentation on 28 May 2007, are
available from the investor Relations section of James Hardig's website at: www lameshardie.com

The company lodged its annual filing with the SEC on 26 September 2006.

All holders of the company's securities may receive, on request, a hard copy of our complete audited
financiai statements, free of charge. Requests can be made via the company website or by contacting
one of the company’s corporate offices — contact detaiis are made available on the company's website.

Definitions

Financial Measures — US GAAP equivalents

EBIT and EBIT margin — EBIT is equivalent fo the US GAAP measure of operating income. EBIT margin is
defined as EBIT as a percentage of net sales. James Hardie believes EBIT and EBIT margin {o be relevant and
useful information as these are the primary measures used by management to measure the operating profit or loss
of #s business. EBIT is one of several metrics used by management to measure the eamings generated by the
company’s operations, sxcluding interest and incoms tax expenses. Additionally, EBIT is believed to be a primary
measure and terminclogy used by its Australian investors. EBIT and EBIT margin should ba considered in addition
to, but not as a substitute for, other measures of financial performance reported In accordance with accounting
principles generally accepied in the United States of America. EBIT and EBIT margin, as the company has defined
them, may not bée comparable to simifarly titted measures reported by other companies.

Operating profit — is equivalent to the US GAAP measure of income.

Net operating profit - is equivalent to the US GAAP measure of net income.

Sales Volumes
mmsf - million square feet, where a sguare foot is defined as a standard square foot of 5/18” thickness.

msf - thousand square feet, where & square foot is defined as a standard squars foot of 516" thickness.

Financiai Ratios
Gearing Ratio — Net debt/cash divided by net debtfcash plus shareholders’ equity.

Net interest expense cover — EBIT divided by net interest expense.

Net interest paid cover — EBIT divided by cash paid during the period for interest, net of amounts capitalised.

Net debt payback — Net debt/cash divided by cash flow from operations.

Net debt/cash - short-term and long-term debt less cash and cash equivalents.

Madia Release: James Hardie ~ 4 Quarter and Full Year FY07 8



Non-US GAAP Financial Measures

EBIT and EBIT margin excluding asbestos adjustments - EBIT and EBIT margin excluding asbestos
adjustments are not measures of financial performance under US GAAP and should not be considerad to be more
meaningful than EBIT and EBIT margin. James Hardie has included these financial measures to provide investors
with an alternative method for assessing its operating results in a manner that is focussed on the performance of its
ongeing operations and provides useful information regarding its financial condition and results of operations. The
company uses these non-US GAAP measures for the same purposes.

US$ Million Fvor Y06 EY07 FY06
EBIT $ (215.8) $ (562.5) $ (868} B (434.9)
Asbestos adjustments 286.3 715.6 4055 715.6
£8IT excluding asbestos adjustments 70.5 530 318.9 280.7
Net Sales $360.9 $389.8 $1.542.9 51,4885
EBIT margin excluding asbestos adjustments 19.5% 13.8% 20.7% 18.9%

EBIT excluding asbestos adjustments, impairment charge and SC] and other related expenses — EBIT

excluding ashestos adjustments, impairment charge and SC! and other related expenses is not a measure of
financial performance under US GAAP and shouid not be considered o be more meaningful than EBIT. James
Hardie has included this financial measure to provide investors with an alternative method for assessing s
operating resulis in a manner that is focussed on the performance of its ongoing operations and provides useful
information regarding iis financial condition and resulis of operations. The company uses this non-US GAAP
measure for the same purposes.

- Q4 Q4
US$ Million FY07 FY06 FY07 FY06
EBIT $ (2158 $ (662.6) $ (86.6) $ (434.9)
Asbestos adjustments 286.3 715.8 4055 7156
lmpairment of roofing plant - 13.4 - 134
SCt and other related expanses 54 2.7 13.6 17.4
EBIT excluding asbestos adjustrments, impairment $75.9 $ 601 $3325 $ 311.5

charge and SCl and other related expenses

Net operating profit excluding asbestos adjustments and tax benefit related fo asbestos adjustments — Net
operating profit excluding asbestos adjustments and tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments is not a measure
of financial performance under US GAAP and should not be considered to be more meaningful than net income.
The company has included this financial measure fo provide investors with an alternative method for assessing its
operating results in a manner that is focussed on the performance of s ongoeing operations. The company uses
this non-US GAAP measure for the same purposes.

- Q4 Q4
US$ Million FY07 FY06 FY07 FY06
Net operating profit {loss) $ 1031 $ {650.9) $ 1517 5 {506.7)
Asbestos adjustments 286.3 7156 405.5 715.6
Tax benefit related o ashestos adjustments {335.0) - {335.0) -
Net operating profit excluding asbestos adjustments and $ 544 $ 647 $ 2222 $ 2080

tax benefit related to ashestos adjustments

Madia Release: James Hardie ~ 4 Quarter and Full Year FY07 2



Diluted earnings per share excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments,

impairment charge, SCI and other related expenses, make-whole payment and tax provision write-back —
Giluted earnings per share excluding asbhestos adjusiments, tax benefit related o asbestos adjustments,
impairment charge, SCI and other related expenses, make-whole payment and tax provision write-back is not a
measure of financial performance under US GAAP and shouid not be considerad 1o be more meaningful than
dilvted earnings per share. The company has included this financial measure to provide investors with an
alternative method for assessing its operating resulls in & manner that is focussed on the performance of its
ongoeing operations. The company’'s management uses this non-US GAAP measure for the same purposes.

- Q4 Q4
US$ Mittion FYO? FY06 EY07 FY06
Net operating {loss) profit $ 1031 $ (6503 51517 $ (506.7)
Asbestos adjustments 286.3 715.8 405.5 71586
Tax benefit related o ashastos adjusiments {335.0} - {335.0) -
Impairment of roofing plant (net of tax) - 8.0 - 8.0
S and other related expenses {net of tax) 50 2.5 12.6 16.5
Make-whole payment {net of tax} - - 5.6 -
Tax provision write-back {(3.00 £20.7) {10.4) £20.7}
Net operating profit excluding asbestos adjustments, tax
benefit related 1o asbestos adjustments, impairment
charge, SCI and other related expenses, make-whole $56.4 $ 545 $2300 $212.7
payment and tax provision write-back
Weighted average commeon shares ocutstanding
- Dituted {rmiltions) 459.0 487.0 486.4 465.0
Diluted samings per share excluding asbestos
adjustrnents, tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments,
impairment charge, SCI and other related expenses,
make-whole payment and tax provision write-back {US 120 ns 49.3 457
cents)

Effective tax rate excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments and tax
provision write-back — Effective tax rate excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related to asbestos
adjustments and tax provision write-back is not a measure of financial performance under US GAAP and shouid
not be considered to be more meaningful than effective fax rate. The company has included this financial measure
to provide investors with an alternative method for assessing its operaling resuils in a manner that is focussed on
the performance of its ongoing operations. The company’s management useas this non-US GAAP measure for the
same purposes.

- Q4 Q4
US$ Million FY07 FY06 FY07 FY06
Operatfing {loss) profit before income taxes $(220.09 $ (661.9) $(93.1) $ {4351
Asbestos adjustments 286.3 715.6 405.5 715.6
Operating profit before income taxes excluding
ashestos adjustments $66.3 $ 537 $312.4 $ 2805
Incorne tax benefit / (expense) $ 3231 5110 $ 2439 $ (718
Tax benefit related 1o ashestos adjustments {335.0} - {335.0) -
Tax provision write-back {(3.00 £20.7) {10.4) £20.7)
Incorne tax banefit / (expense) excluding tax bensfit
related to asbestos adjustments and tax provision write- $(14.9) $ wn $ (101.5) $ {92.3)
back
Effective tax rate excluding asbestos adjusiments, tax
benefit relatad to asbestos adjusiments and tax 92 5% 18.1% 32 59, 132.9%

provision write-back
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EBITDA - is not @ measure of financial performance under US GAAP and should not be considered an altemative
to, or more meaningful than, income from operations, net income or cash flows as defined by US GAAP or as a
measure of profitability or liquidity. Not aill companies calculate EBITDA in the same manner as James Hardie has
and, accordingly, EBITDA may not be comparabte with other companies. The company has included information
concerning EBITDA because it belisves that this data is commonly used by investors to evaluate the ability of a
company’s earnings from its core business operations to satisfy its debt, capital expenditure and working capital

requirements.
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Disclaimer

This Media Release contains forward-looking statements. We may from time to time make forward-looking
statements in our periodic reports filed with or furnished o the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
on Forms 20-F and 6-K, in our annual reporis to shareholders, in offering circulars and prospectuses, in media
releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by our officers, directors or employees 1o
analysis, institutional investors, representatives of the media and others. Examplas of forward-looking stalements
inciude:

« expectations about the liming and amount of payments to the Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund {AICF),
a special purpese fund for the compensation of proven asbestos-related personal injury and death claims;

« expettations with respect o the effect on our financlal statements of those payments;

» statements as to the possible consequences of proceedings brought against us and certain of our former
directors and officers by the Australian Securities & Investments Commission;

« expectations that our credit facilities will be extended or renewed;

» projections of our operating results or financial condition;

« statements regarding our plans, objectives or goals, including those relating 1o competition, acquisitions,
dispaositions and our products;

« statements about our future performance; and

« statements about product or environmental liabilities.

n o "o "o "o "o now "o

Words such as "believe,” "anticipate,” "plan,” “sxpect,” "intend,” “target,” "estimate,” “project,” “predict,” “forecast,”
“guideling,” "should,” "aim” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-locking statements but are not
the exclusive means of identifying such statements.

Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties. We caution you that a number of important
factors could cause actual resulls to differ materially from the plans, objectives, expectations, estimates and
intentions expressed in such forward-looking statements. These factors, some of which are discussed under “Risk
Factors”™ beginning on page 5 of our Form 20-F filed on 28 September 2008 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, include but are not limited to: all matters relating to or arising out of the prior manufaciure of producis
that contained asbhesios by current and former James Hardie subsidiaries; required coniributions to the AICF and
the effect of foreign exchange on the amount recorded in our financial statemenis as an asbestos liability;
compliance with and changes in tax laws and treatments; compelifion and product pricing in the markets in which
we operate; the consequences of product failures or defects; exposure to environmental, asbestos or other legal
proceadings; general aconomic and market conditions; the supply and cost of raw materials; the success of ouwr
research and development efforts; our reliance on a small number of product distributors; compliance with and
changes in environmental and health and safety laws; risks of conducting business internaticnally; compliance with
and changes in laws and regulations; foreigh exchange risks; the successful implementation of new software
systems; and the successful implementation of the internal confrol over financiat reporting requirements of Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as codified by ltem 308 of regulation S-K. We caution you that the
foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive and that other risks and uncertainties may cause actual resuits to differ
materially from those in forward-looking statemenis. Forward-looking statemenis speak only as of the date they are
made.
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i@ James Hardie

28 May 2007

James Hardie Industries N.V.
Results for the 4" Cluarter and Full Year Ended 31 March 2007

Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
US GAAP - LSS Millions
% %
Q4 FYO07 | Q4 FY06 Change FYo7 FY06 Change

Net Sales
LUSA Fibre Cement $289.9 $325.6 11 $1,262.3 $1,2184 4
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 64.3 57.2 12 251.7 241.8 4
Other 6.7 7.0 (4) 28.9 28.3 2
Total Net Sales $360.9 $389.8 (") 51,5429 $1,488.5 4
Cost of goods sold {227.1) (250.3) 9 {869.9) {937.7} {3)
Gross profit 133.8 138.5 (4) 573.0 550.8 4
Selling, general & administrative expense (62.3} {63.4) 18 {214 6} {209.8) {2)
Research & development expense {5.6} (7.0} 20 {25.9) (28.7) 10
Special Commission of Inquiry (SCI} & other
refated expenses {5.4} (2.7 {100; {13.6) (17.43 22
Impairment of roofing plant - {13.4) - - (13.4) -
Asbestos adjustments {286.3) (715.6) 60 {405.5) {715.8) 43
Other operating expense - - - - {0.8) -
EBIT {215.8) {662.6) 67 (86.6) {434.9) 80
Net interest {expense) income {4.2) 0.7 - {6.5} {0.2} -
Operating loss before income taxes {220.0} (661.9) 67 {93.1) {435.1) 78
income tax benefit (expense) 323.1 11.0 - 243.9 (71.6) -
Operating profit {loss) before cumulative
effect of change in accounting principle 103.1 (650.9) - 150.8 {506.7) -
Cumutative effect of change in accounting
principle for stock-based compensation, net of
income tax expense of US$0.4 million - - - 0.9 - -
Net operating profit {loss) $103.1 $(650.9) - $1561.7 $(506.7} -
Eamnings {loss) per share — diluied (US cenis) 220 (140.7) - 32.5 {109.7} -
Volume {mmsf)

LISA Fibre Cement 484.9 5751 {16} 2,148.0 2,182.8 {Z)

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 98.2 90.3 2 300.8 368.3 8
Average net sales price per unit {per msf)

USA Fibre Cement LUS$598 | USE566 8 US$588 Us$558 5

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement A$833 A$859 (3) A$842 A$872 {3}

in this Management's Analysis of Resulls, James Hardie may present financial measures, sales volume lerms, financial ratios, and Non-US GAAFR
financial measures included in the Definifions section of this document starting on page 16. The company presents financial measures that #
believes are customarily used by ifs Auslrafian investors. Specifically, these financial measures include "EBIT™, "EBIT margin®, "Operating profit®
artd “Net operating profit”. The company may also present other ferms for measuring its sales volumes {"million square feet (mmsf)” and ‘thousand
square feet (msfl’); Financial ratios {“Gearing ratio”, "Net inferesf expense cover”, “Nel interest paid cover’, "Net debf payback’, “Nef debticash’);
and Non-US GAAP financial measures ("EBIT and EBIT margin excluding ashestos adjustments”, "EBIT and EBIT margin excluding asbestos
adiustments, impairment charge and SCI and ofher related expenses”, “Nef operating profit excluding asbesfos adiusiments and tax benefit related
to asbestos adjustments™, "Net operaling profif excluding asbestos adiustments, lax benefit refated to asbesios adjustrnents, impairment charge,
SCI and ofher related expenses, make-whole payment and tax provision wrile-back’, "Diluted eamings per share excluding asbestos adjustments,
tax benefit related to asbestos adiusiments, impairment charge, SCI and other related expenses, make-whole payment and fax provision write-
back”, "Operating profif before income laxes excluding asbestos adjustments”, “lncome fax benefiti{expense) excluding tax benefif related fo
asbesfos adjusiments and fax provision wrile-back’”, "Effective fax rate excluding asbestos adjustments, fax benefit relafed fo asbesfos adjusiments
and fax provision write-back”, and "EBITDA’). Unless ofherwise stated, resulfs and comparisons are of the current 47 quarter and current fulf year
versus the 4% quarter and full year of the prior fiscal year.
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Total Net Sales

Total net sales for the quarter decreased 7% compared o the same quarter of the previous year, from
U8$389.8 million to US$360.9 millions. For the full year, total net sales increased 4% from US$1,488.5
million to US$1,542.9 million.

Net sales from USA Fibre Cement for the quarter decreased 11% from US$325.6 million to US$289.9
milion, due to decreased sales volume which was partially offset by an increased average net sales
price. For the full year, net sales from USA Fibre Cement increased 4%, from US$1,218.4 million to
US$1,262.3 million, due to a higher average net sales price partially offset by decreased saies volume.

Net sales from Asia Pacific Fibre Cement for the quarter increased by 12% from US$57.2 million to
US$64.3 million and 4% for the ll year from US$241.8 million fo US$251.7 miflion, due to increased
sales volumes and favourable currency exchange rate differences, partially offset by a decreased
average net sales price.

Other net sales for the quarter decreased 4% from US$7.0 million fo US$6.7 million due o a decrease in
sales in the USA Hardie Pipe business, partially offset by improved sales performance in the Europe
Fibre Cement business. For the full year, Other net sales increased by 2% from US$28.3 million to
US$28.9 million due to improved sales performance in the USA Hardie Pipe business and the Europe
Fibre Cement business partially offset by decreased sales resulting from the sale of the Chile fibre
cement business in July 2005.

USA Fibre Cement

Quarter

Net sales decreased 11% from US$325.6 million in the fourth quarter of the prior fiscal year to US$289.9
milion due to decreased sales volume, which was partially offset by an increased average net sales
price.

Sales volume decreased 16% from 575.1 million square feet to 484.9 million square feet for the quarter,
as base demand for the company’s products decreased due to a weaker residential housing construction
market.

The average net sales price increased 6% from US$566 per thousand square feet to US$598 per
thousand square fest due to price increases on cerfain products implemented during this fiscal year and
an increased proportion of higher-priced, differentiated products in the sales mix.

Fuli year

Net sales increased 4% from US8$1,218.4 million fo US$1,262.3 million due o a higher average net sales
price, partially offset by decreased sales volume.

Sales volume decreased 2% from 2,182.8 million square feet to 2,148.0 million square feet due mainly to
a decrease in base demand for the company’s products during the second half of the fiscal year as a
result of weaker residential housing construction activity, partially offset by growth in primary demand
during the first half of the fiscal year.

The average net sales price increased 5% compared to the same period last year, from US$558 per
thousand square feet to US$588 per thousand square feet. The increase was due primarily fo price
increases on certain products implemented during this fiscal year and an increased proportion of higher-
priced, differentiated products in the sales mix.
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Biscussion

The new housing construction market continued to weaken, with the US Census Bureau reporting that
new housing starts were down 25% and 30% respectively for the three months ended 31 December
20086 and 31 March 2007, compared to the same periods last vear.

Despite interest rates remaining relatively low, deepening problems in the sub-prime mortgage market
kept buiider and consumer confidence at weak levels.

According to Brian Catalde, President of the National Association of Home Builders {NAHB), “Builders,
overall, have been systematically cutting back on new building activily for more than a year now. This
siowdown is enabling them to reduce their inventory and better position themselves for the balance of
the year, especially when faced with uncertainties over the impacts of the sub-primefto match first
reference above — they need to be the same] -related fightening of mortgage lerding standards on home
sales”. Despite this, supply of new residential housing remains greater than demand and industry
inventory levels at the end of the quarter continued to be above optimal levels at around 7 to 8 months
supply, as reported by the NAHB.

Demand in our exterior producis category for the guarter was affected significantly by weaker housing
construction activity. The decrease in net sales was due mainly to softer demand in our exterior
products category, which spanned all regions except the mid-Atlantic region. Net sales were lower for all
products in the exteriors category other than the higher-priced, differentiated products, XLD® trim and
the ColorPlus® coliection.

With all ColorPlus® fines now complete and operational, including those in our plants in Reno, Nevada
and Pulaski, Virginia, the business has commenced launching the ColorFlus® coilection of products into
both the Western and Southern divisions.

Repair and remodelling activity was relatively steady during the quarier and sales in our interior producis
category were flat compared {o the same period last year. Continued acceptance of Hardibacker 500®
as a wet area wall solution helped grow sales for that product during the guarter, almost off-setting
weaker sales of our %" Hardibacker® product in 2 number of our larger markets.

The net sales growth for the full year largely refiects further market penetration against alternaive

materials, mainly wood and vinyl, across the Northern, Southern and Western Divisions and in the
exierior and inlerior product categories, and an increase in the average net sales price.

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement

Net sales for the quarter increased 12% from US$57.2 million to US$64.3 milliors. Net sales increased
5% in Australian dollars largely due to a 9% increase in sales volume, partially offset by a 3% decrease
in the average Australian dollar net sales price.

Net sales for the full year increased 4% from US$241.8 million to US$251.7 million. Net sales increased

2% in Australian dollars, due to a 6% increase in sales volume from 368.3 million square feet to 390.8
miliion square feet, partially offset by a 3% decrease in the average Australian dollar net sales price.

Australia and New Zealand Fibre Cement

Quarter

Net sales for the quarter increased 10% from US$51.1 million to US$56.4 million. Net sales increased
4% in Australian doilars due to a 8% increase in sales volume, partially offset by a 2% decrease in the
average Australian dollar net sales price.
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Fuli year

Net sales for the full year increased 2% from US$218.1 million to US$223.4 million. In Austrafian dollars,
net sales increased 1% due to a 5% increase in sales volume, offset by a 4% decrease in the average
Ausiralian dollar net sales price.

Biscussion

In the Australia and New Zealand business, both the new housing and rencvation markets continued to
weaken during the guarter, but sales volumes increased 6% due to market share gains in the fibre
cement segment in both Australia and New Zealand. These gains were achieved through market
initiatives designed to grow primary demand for fibre cement and increase sales of value-added,
differentiated products. There was strong sales growth in the recently-launched Scyon™ range of
premium products and in Linea™ weatherboards. Selling prices for non-differentiated products continue
to be subiect to strong competitive pressures, leading to a lower average net sales price for the quarter.

For the full year, sales volume was aiso higher in a softer market compared to the same period last year,
due to market initiatives designed to grow primary demand for fibre cement and increase sales of value-
added, differentiated products. The average net sales price was also lower for the full year due to
competitive pressures.

Philippines Fibre Cement

Net sales for the guarter increased compared to the same quarter last year due to increased sales
volumes and a slight increase in the average net sales price. For the full year, net sales increased due
to increased sales volumes, partially offset by a slight decrease in the average Philippine peso net sales
price. The increase in sales volume for the quarter and fiscal year was due to stronger domestic building
and construction activity and increased export demand.

Other

USA Hardie Pipe

Net sales for the quarter decreased compared to the same guarter iast year due to lower sales volumes
as a resuit of weaker residential housing activity in Florida, partly offset by an increase in the average net
sales price. For the full year, net sales increased due o improved sales volumes and a higher average
net sales price. The business continued to focus on building sales volume in core markets and
expanding into other strategic markets.

Europe Fibre Cement

Sales continued to grow steadily, albeit from a low base.
Gross Profit

Quarter

Gross profit decreased 4% from US$139.5 million to US$133.8 million. The gross profit margin increased
slightly from 35.8% to 37.1%.

USA Fibre Cement gross profit decreased 6% compared to the same quarter last year due to lower sales
volumes and higher unit costs, partially offset by a higher average net sales price and lower freight costs.
The gross profit margin increased 2.1 percentage points.

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement gross profit increased 6% compared to the same period last year due to
favourable currency movements. In Australian dollars, gross profit remained flat due to the improved
performance of the Philippines business being offset by reduced profitability of the Australia and New
Zealand Fibre Cement business. The gross profit margin decreased 1.4 percentage points.
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Fuli year

Gross profit increased 4% from US$550.8 million to US$573.0 million. The gross profit margin increased
0.1 percentage points to 37.1%.

USA Fibre Cement gross profit increased 5% compared to the same period last year due mainly to
increased net sales and, to a lesser extent, lower freight costs. The gross profit margin increased 0.5
perceniage points.

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement gross profit decreased 3% primarily due to reduced profitability in the
Australian Fibre Cement business. The decrease was due mainly to a lower average net sales price,
increased freight and raw material cosis in Australia, costs associated with the starf-up of the
manufacture of new producis, and inefficiencies associated with the rebuild of inventory at the Rosehill,
New South Wales plant associated with the plant's temporary closure in December 2006 for asbestos-
refated reasons. in Australian dollars, gross profit decreased 5%. The gross profit margin decreased
2.2 percentage points.

Seling, General and Administrative {(§G&A) Expense

SG&A expense decreased 18% for the quarter, from US$63.4 million to US$52.3 million, primarily due to
reduced sales and marketing spending in the USA Fibre Cement business and a decrease in the accrual
for empioyee bonuses compared o the same period last year. As a percentage of sales, SG&A
expense decreased 1.8 percentage points from 16.3% to 14.5%.

For the full year, SG&A expense increased 2% from US$209.8 million to US$214.6 million, primarily due
to an increase in spending in the USA Fibre Cement business reflecting expenditures on business
initiatives including a build-up of organisational infrastructure to drive growth strategies. As a percentage
of sales, SG&A expense decreased 0.2 of a percentage point o 13.9%.

Research and Development Expense

Research and development expense includes cosis associated with “core” research proiects that are
designed to bensfit ali business units. These cosis are recorded in the Research and Development
segment rather than being attributed to individual business units. These costs were 20% lower for the
quarter at US$5.6 million and 10% lower for the full year at US$25.9 million.

Other research and development costs associated with commercialisation projects in business units are

included in the business unit segment resulis. In total, these costs were 41% lower at US$2.6 million for
the quarter and 21% lower at US$12.9 million for the full year.
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SCi and Other Related Expenses

In February 2004, the Government of New Scuth Wales (NSW) in Australia established a Special
Commission of Inquiry (SCI} to investigate, among other matters, the circumstances in which the Medical
Research and Compensation Foundation was established in early 2001. Shortly after release of the SCI
report on 21 September 2004, the company commenced negofiations with the NSW Government, the
Australian Councii of Trade Unions (ACTU), UnionsNSW and a representative of asbestos claimants in
refation to its offer to the SCi on 14 July 2004 to provide funds voluntarily for proven Australia-based
asbestos-related injury and death claims against certain former James Hardie Australian subsidiary
companies. On 21 December 2004, James Hardie entered into a Heads of Agreement with the above
parties to establish and fund a Special Purpose Fund (the Asbestos Injuries Compensation Foundation
or AICF) to provide funding for these claims on a long-term basis. On 1 December 2005, James Hardie,
a wholly owned subsidiary of James Hardie (the “FPerforming Subsidiary”) and the NSW Government
signed the Final Funding Agreement {Original FFA). An amended version of that agreement {Amended
FFA) was executed on 21 November 2006 and approved by the company’s shareholders on 7 February
2007.

Costs incurred during the quarter associaled with the SCI and other related expenses totalled US$5.4
million, bringing the totai for the full year to US$13.6 million, compared with US$17.4 million incurred in
the prior fiscal year.

Readers are referred {0 Note 12 of the company’s 31 March 2007 Financial Report for further information
on the SCI and other related expenses.

ASIC Proceedings and Investigation

On 14 February 2007, the Australian Securities & Investmenis Commission {ASIC) advised the company
that it had commenced civil proceedings against JHI NV, a former subsidiary and 10 then-serving or
former officers and directors of the James Hardie group. The civil proceedings concern alleged
contraventions of certain provisions of the Corporations Law and/or the Corporations Act connected with
the affairs of the company and certain subsidiaries during the period February 2001 to June 2003.

On 20 February 2007, the company announced that the three serving directors named in the ASIC
proceedings had resigned from the Board and Board Commitiees.

The company has considered the impact of the ASIC proceedings upon its current financial statements
and believes that these proceedings will have no material impact. However, there remains considerable
uncertainty surrcunding the likely outcome of the ASIC proceedings in the longer term and there is a
possibifity that the related costs o the company could become material. However, at this stage it is not
possible to determine the amount of any such liability.

Readers are referred {0 Note 12 of the company’s 31 March 2007 Financial Report for further information
on the ASIC Investigation.

Asbestos Compensation Funding Arrangement

Following receipt of security holders’ approval at the company’s Extraordinary General Meeting heldon 7
February 2007, all conditions precedent to the Amended FFA were satisfied. In accordance with the
Amended FFA, James Hardie made an initial contribution of A$184.3 million (US$148.7 million) 1o the
AICF on 9 FFebruary 2007. The new asbestos compensation funding arrangement is now operational.
The AICF had net assets of A§182.1 million at 31 March 2007.

Readers are referred to “SCI and Other Related Expenses” above and Note 12 of the company's 31

March 2007 Financial Report for further information on the voluntary funding proposal, and for
information on the SCIi and related matters.
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Asbestos Adjustments to EBIT

The asbestos adjustments are derived from an estimate of future Australian asbestos-related liabilities in
accordance with the Amended FFA [already defined above] that was signed with the NSW {aiready
defined above] Government on 21 November 2006 and approved by the company’s security holders on
7 February 2007. The adjustments include the "grossing-up® effect of recognising the anticipated tax
benefit and other liabilities and assets arising from the asbestos related payments.

The asbestos adjustments comprise the following components for the three months and full year ended
31 March:

US$ Million Fvor FYos FYO7 FY06
Adjustments fo the net Amended FFA liability

at 30 September 2006 - : (41.8) :
A:gu;fr:ﬂear;t;tg (t)?)?’ riet Amended FFA liabifity 70.3 A 70.3 N
tmpact of tax-effecting the net Amended FFA liability {335.0) - {335.0) -
Effect of foreign exchange {17.1} - {94.5) -
Coentributions to asbestos research and educatiorn {4.5) - {4.8) -
tnitiat recording of provision at 31 March 2006 - {715.6) - {715.8)
Asbestos adjustmenits to EBIT {286.3) {715.6) {405.5) {715.6)

Adjustments to the Net Amended FFA liability

The discounted central estimate as calculated by KPMG Actuaries Pty Ltd (KPMG Actuaries) is the main
component of the net Amended FFA liability. In addition to the discounted central estimates there are
US GAAP adjustments that are required to be made as the standards of US GAAR differ from actuarial
standards. KPMG Actuaries Pty Litd issued two additional reporis during fiscal year 2007 (at 30
September 2006 and at 31 March 2007) adjusting the discounted central estimate and other amounts
related to the net Amended FFA liability. The following table illustrates the impact on the net Amended
FFA liability of the updated KPMG Actuaries’ valuations:

September 2006 Valuation:

. .- e 30 September 31 March Increase /
{in A% millions, except where indicated) 2006 2006 (decrease)
Discounted Central Estimate A% 1.554.8 AS1,517.0 A 37.8
US GAAP Adjustments
Discounting and inflation allowance {112.6} {113.2} 085
Uninflated and undiscounted central estimate 1,442.2 1,403.8 384
Provision for claims handling costs of AlICF 87.7 67.7 -
Other US GAAP adjustments 31.5 28.7 2.8
Net {assets} liabili#ies of AICF excluding funding payments {33.0} {71.6} 38.8
Total net Amended FFA liability pre-tax 1,508.4 1,428.6 75.8
Total niet Amended FFA liability post-tax A% 1,055.5 A% 1,000.0 A% 559
Excharige rate — A% to LUS$ - 30 September 2006 1.3365
Increase {decrease) ini the nst Amended FFA liability {US$) Uss 41.8

Management’s Analysis of Results: James Hardie — 4™ Quarter and Full Year FY07 7



March 2007 Vaiuation:

{in A$ millions, except where indicated) 31;33?" 30 Sezgf}esmber (Iéi:;?ea::el}
Discounted Ceritral Estimate A% 1,355.1 A% 1,554.8 A% {198.7)
US GAAP Adjustments

Discounting and inflation allowance {82.1} {112.6} 30.5
Uninflated and undiscournited central estimate 1,273.0 1,442.2 {169.2)
Provision for claims handling costs of AICF 882 67.7 1.5
Other US GAAP adjustments 358 31.5 8.1
Net (assets} liabilities of AICF excluding furiding paymenis 2.2 {33.0) 352
Total net Amended FFA liability pre-tax 1,384.0 1,508.4 {124.4)
Total net Amended FFA liability post-tax A% 068.8 A% 10659 AS {871}
Excharige rate — A% to US$ - 31 March 2007 1.23585
Increase {decrease) ini the net Amended FFA liability {US$) Uss {70.3)

The uninflated and undiscounted central estimate and the provision for claims handling costs of the AICF
are recorded on the balance sheet under the caption asbestos liability. The other US GAAR
adiustments, net assets (liabilities) of the AICF, and the tax effect of the net Amended FFA liability are
recorded within other captions on the balance sheet; readers are referred to the section Nef Amended
FFA Liabifity below for further details.

Impact of Tax Effecting the Net Amended FFA Liability

Frior o the final approval of the Amended FFA by James Hardie shareholders on 7 February 2007, the
net Amended FFA liability had been recorded in the accounts of James Hardie net of the anticipated tax
effect on the company of its payments to the AICF. Following approval by sharsholders, a deferred tax
asset of US$335.0 million has been recorded fo reflect the anticipated tax deductions commensurate
with the projected payments under the Amended FFA.

Effect of Foreign Exchange

The components of the net Amended FFA liability are denominated in Ausfralian dollars and thus the
reported value of the net Amended FFA liability in the company’s consolidated balance sheets in US
dollars is subject fo adjustment depending on the closing exchange rate between the two currencies at
the balance sheet date. The effect of foreign exchange rate movements between these currencies has
caused an increase in the net Amended FFA liability of US$17.1 million and US$94.5 million for the three
months and fuli year ended 31 March 2007, respectively.

Contributions to Asbestos Research and Education
Following the adoption of the Amended FFA, a provision of US$4.5 million was recorded for amounts

James Hardie will pay for asbestos medical research funding and an asbestos education campaign over
the next ten vears based on the provisions of the Amended FFA.
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Net Amended FFA Liability

The net Amended FFA liability is presented in the consolidated balance sheet within the following

captions at 31 March 2007:

USS Millions

Insurarice receivables — current

— nori-current

Workers' compensation receivable — currerit

Workers' compensation fiability — current

— hon-current

Asbestos liability — current
— non-current
Deferred tax asset — current

— norecurrent

— non-currant

Income taxes payable {reduction fo income tax payabie)

Other niet liabifities

Net Amended FFA liability at 31 March 2007

EBIT

$ 94
165.1
27
76.5
(2.7)
(76.5)
(63.5)
(1.225.8)
7.8
318.2
9.0
(6.3)
(786.1)

EBIT increased from a loss of US$662.68 million for the same quarter last year to a loss of US$215.8
million for the current quarter. EBIT for the guarter includes asbestos adjustments of US$286.3 million

and SCI and other related expenses of US$5.4 million, as shown in the table below.

For the full year, EBIT increased from a loss of US$434.9 million to a loss of US$86.6 million. EBIT for
the fiscal 2007 includes asbestos adiustments of US$405.5 million and SCI and other related expenses
of US$13.6 million as shown in the table below.

EBIT - US$ mitlions

USA Fibre Cement

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement
Research & Development

OCther

impatrment charge for roofing plant
Generat Corporate

Asbestos adjustments

EBIY

Excluding:

impairment charge for roofing plant
Asbestos adjustments

SC1 and other related expenses

EBIT excluding asbestos adjustmerits,
impairment charge and SCI and other retated

axperises
Net sales

EBIT margin excluding asbestos

adjustments, impairment charge and SCI

and other related expenses
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Three Months and Full Year Ended 31 March
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USA Fibre Cement EBIT

USA Fibre Cement EBIT for the quarter increased 2% from US$82.7 million to US$84.6 million, primarily
due to decreased SG&A spending and lower freight costs, partially offset by the decrease in net sales.
For the full year, EBIT increased 6% from US$342.6 million to US$362.4 million. The increase was due
primerily to increased net sales and lower unit freight costs, partially offset by higher SG&A expenses.
The USA Fibre Cement EBIT margin was 3.8 percenfage points higher at 29.2% for the quarter and 0.8
of a percentage point higher at 28.7% for the full year.

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement EBIT

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement EBIT for the quarter decreased 5% from US$9.3 million to US$8.8 million, due
to reduced EBIT perdformance in the Australia and New Zealand Fibre Cement business, partially offset
by improved EBIT performance in the Philippines Fibre Cement business and favourable currency
movements. [n Austratian dollars, EBIT for the quarter decreased 11%. For the full year, EBIT decreased
6% from US$41.7 million to US$39.4 million, due to reduced EBIT performance in the Australia and New
Zealand Fibre Cement business, partially offset by improved EBIT performance in the Philippines Fibre
Cement business. In Australian dollars, EBIT for the full year decreased 7%. The EBIT margin
decreased 2.6 percentage points fo 13.7% for the quarter and decreased 1.5 percentage points o 15.7%
for the full year.

Australia and New Zealand Fibre Cement EBIT for the guarter decreased 14% from US$9.2 million to
US$7.9 million. In Australian dollars, EBIT decreased 21% due to higher SG&A spending, increased
manufacturing costs and a lower average net sales price partially offset by increased sales volumes.
The EBIT margin decreased 4.1 percentage points to 14.0% for the quarter.

For the full year, EBIT for the Australia and New Zealand Fibre Cement business decreased 8% from
US$38.9 millieon to US$35.7 million. In Australian dollars, EBIT decreased 10% due to increased
manufacturing costs, including costs associated with the temporary closure of the Rosehill plant in late
2006 and a lower average net sales price, partially offsef by an increase in sales volume and decreased
SG&A spending. The EBIT margin decreased 1.8 percentage points to 16.0% for the full year.

The Philippines Fibre Cement business recorded an increase in EBIT for the guarter and the full year
due to increases in volume and improved operating efficiencies, partally offset by increased SG&A
costs.

Other EBIT

The USA Hardie Pipe business recorded a small negative EBIT for the quarter and a small positive EBIT
for the full year compared to small EBIT losses in the same periods last year.

The Europe Fibre cement business incurred an EBIT loss for the quarter and the full year as it continued
to build sales.

Following a review of the results of its roofing product trials in California, the company closed its roofing
pilot plant iry April 2006. During fiscal 2007, this business incurred closure costs of US$1.2 million.

General Corporate Costs

General corporate costs for the quarter decreased by US$1.2 million from US$17.9 million to US$16.7
milfion. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease of US$4.1 million in earmnings-related employee
bonuses, partially offset by an increase in SCI and other related expenses of US$2.7 million.

For the full year, general corporate costs decreased by US$4.9 million from US$61.4 to US$56.5 million.
The reduction was primarily caused by a decrease of US$6.5 million in earnings-related bonuses and a
decrease of US$3.8 million in SCI and other related expenses, partially offset by an increase of US$1.0
million in defined benefit pension costs and an increase of US$4.5 million in other corporate costs.
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Net interest (Expense) iIncome

Net interest expense for the quarter increased US$4.9 million from net interest income of US$0.7 million
to net interest expense of US$4.2 million. For the full year, nat interest expense increased from U8$0.2
milion to US$6.5 million. The increase in net interest expense was due fo the higher average level of
net debt outstanding compared o the same periods in the prior year.

Income Tax Benefit (Expense)

Income tax benefit for the quarter increased US$312.1 million from US$11.0 million to US$323.1 million
primarily due to the US$335.0 million tax benefit related to asbestos adjustmenis. In the prior year, the
income fax benefit was a result of the release of a tax provision of US$20.7 million. Excluding the tax
benefit related to asbestos adjustments and the tax provision write-back of US$3.0 million, income tax
expense for the guarter was US$14.9 million. The company's effective tax rate on eamings excluding
asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments and tax provision write-back was
22.5%.

The income tax benefit for the full year increased US$315.5 million from an income fax expense of
US$71.6 million in fiscal year 2008 to an income tax benefit of US$243.9 million in fiscal year 2007. The
increase is due primarily to the US$335.0 million tax benefit related to asbestos adjustmenis and the tax
provision write-back of US$10.4 million, partially offset by the increase in taxable income for the full year
and a change in the geographical mix of earnings. The company’s effective tax rate on earmings
excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related 1o asbestos adjustments and the write-back of a tax
provision was 32.5%.

Disputed Amended Australian Income Tax Assessment

As announced on 22 March 2006, RCi Mty Lid {RCIl), a wholly owned subsidiary of the company,
received an amended assessment from the Australian Taxation Office {ATO) in respect of RCI's income
tax return for the year ended 31 March 1999. The amended assessment relates to the amount of net
capital gains arising as a result of an internal corporate restructure carried out in 1998 and has been
issued pursuant to the discretion granted to the Commissioner of Taxation under Part IVA of the income
Tax Assessment Act 1936. The original amended assessment issued to RCI was for a total of A$412.0
milion. However, after subsequent remissions of general interest charges by the ATQ, the total was
changed to A$368.0 million, comprising A$172.0 million of primary tax after allowable credits, A$§43.0
milfion of penalties (representing 25% of primary tax) and A$153.0 million of general interest charges.

RCl is appealing the amended assessment. On 5 July 2006, pursuant to the agreement negotiated with
the ATO and in accordance with the ATO Receivable Policy, the company made a payment of A$189.0
milfion (US$152.5 million). The company also agreed to guarantee the payment of the remaining 50% of
the amended assessment should its appeal not be successful and to pay general interest charges
accruing on the unpaid balance of the amended assessment in arrears on a quarterly basis. The first
payment of accrued general interest charges of A32.9 million {US$2.3 million) was paid on 16 October
2006. However, the company has not recorded any Hability at 31 March 2007 for the remainder of the
amended assessment because, at this time, the company believes RCI's view of its tax position will be
upheld on appeal; therefore no such liability is probabie in accordance with US accounting standards.

The company has treated ali payments in relation to the disputed assessment as a deposit in the
condensed consolidated financial statements and the company currently intends fo freat any future
payments as a deposit pending resolution of this matter.

Readers are referred to Note 14 of the 31 March 2007 Financial Report for further information on the
ATO amended assessment.
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Net Operating Profit (Loss)

Net operating profit {loss) for the quarter increased from a net operating loss of US$650.9 million in the
final quarter of fiscal 2006 to a net operating profit of US$103.1 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal
2007. Net operating profit for the current period includes asbestos adjustments of US$286.3 million, a
tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments of US$335.0 million, SCI and other related expenses of
US$5.4 million {(US$5.0 million after tax), and a tax provision write-back of US$3.0 million. in the
comparable period last year, net operating loss included an impairment charge of US$13.4 mitiion
(US$8.0 million after tax} relating to the closure of the roofing plant, SCI and other related expenses of
USS52.7 million (US$2.5 million after tax) and a write-back of tax provision of US$20.7 million. For the
guarter, net operating profit excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments,
impairment charge, SC| and other related expenses and tax provision write-back increased 3% from
US$54.5 million to US$56.4 million as shown in the table beiow.

For the full year, net operating profit {loss} decreased from a net operating loss of US$506.7 million in
fiscal year 2008 to a net operating profit of US$151.7 million in fiscal year 2007 and includes asbestos
adjustments for the full year of US$405.5 million and a tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments of
US$335.0 million. Also included in net operating profit for fiscal year 2007 are SCI and other related
expenses of US$13.6 million (US$12.8 million after tax}, the make-whole payment on the prepayment of
USS$ notes of US$H86.0 million (US$5.6 million after tax) and a tax provision write-back of US$10.4 million.
In the comparable period last year, net operating loss included an impairment charge of US$13.4 million
(US$8.0 million after tax) relating to the closure of the roofing plant, SCI and other related expenses of
US$17.4 million {US$16.5 million after tax) and a write-back of tax provision of US$20.7 million. For the
full year, net operating profit excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related fo asbestos
adiustments, impairment charge, SCI and other related expenses, the make-whole payment and the tax
provision write-back increased 8% to US$230.0 million as shown in the table below.

Net Operating (Loss) Profit - US$ millions

Three Months and Full year Ended 31 March
QAFYO7 | Q4FY08 % FY07 FY06 %
Charnge Change

Net operating profit {foss) $ 1031 $ (650.9) - $161.7 ${508.7) -
Excluding:
Impairment charge for roofing plant {net of
tax} - B.0 - - 8.0 -
Asbestos adjustments 2863 7158 80 405.5 7156 43
Tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments {335.0} - - {335.0) - -
SC] and other related expenses {net of tax) 50 2.5 - 12.8 165 24
Make-whole payment {net of tax} - - - 58 - -
Tax provision write-back {3.0} {20.7) - {10.4) {20.7} {50}
Net operating profit excluding asbestos
adiustments, tax benefit related to asbesios
adiustments, impairment charge, SCl and
other related expenses, make-whole
payment and tax provision write-back 3 56.4 $ 54.5 3 $ 230.0 $212.7 8

The company has included the above financial measure o provide investors with an alternative mathod
for assessing its operating results in a manner that is focussed on the performance of ifs ongoing
operations excluding asbestos-related adjustments, the tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments,
impairment charge, SC| and other related expenses, the make-whole payment and the tax provision
write-back.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The company has historically met its working capital needs and capital expenditure requirements
through a combination of cash flow from operations, proceeds from the divestiture of businesses, credit
facilities and other borrowings, proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, and proceeds
from the redemption of investments. Seasonal fluctuations in working capital generally have not had a
significant impact on its short-term or long-term liguidity. The company believes that it can meet its
present working capital requirements for at least the next 12 months based on its current capital
resources. Any cash commitments arising from the Amended FFA will be met either from cash
generated by operating activities or, should this prove insufficient, from borrowings under existing credit
facilities.

The company had cash and cash equivalents of US$34.1 million as of 31 March 2007. At that date it
also had credit facilities totalling US$355.0 miliion, of which US$188.0 miliion was drawn. The credit
facilities are all uncoliateralised and consist of the foliowing:

At 31 March 2007

Description Effective Interest Rate Total Facility Principal Drawn

{USH millions)

USS 364-day facilities, can be drawn in USE,

variable interest rates based on LIBOR plus

margin, can be repaid and redrawn untit December

2007 582% $ 110.0 $ 830

LSS term facilities, can be drawn in US$, variable
interest rates based on LIBOR plus margin, can be
repaid and redrawn until June 2010 5.98% $ 2450 $ 105.0

Total $385.0 $188.0

At 31 March 2007, the company had net debt of US$153.9 million, compared with net cash of US§12.4
miliion at 31 March 2006.

At 31 March 2007, the company had US$ 364-day facilities in the amount of US$110.C million, which
expire in December 2007 and term facilities in the amount of US$245.0 million, which expire in June
2010. At 31 March 2007, there was US$188.0 million drawn under the combined facilities and US$167.0
miliion was available, but unuilised.

Fursuant to an agreement negotiated with the ATO and in accordance with the ATO Receivabie Folicy,
the company made a payment of A$189.0 million (US$152.5 million} along with the provision of a
guarantee from JH1 NV in favour of the ATO for the unpaid balance of the assessment. [do we need to
explain here what the assessment was — or refer people to the section above — just seems strange to
have it appear like this] The company has also agreed to pay general interest charges accruing on the
unpaid balance of the assessment in arrears on a quarterly basis. Even if the company is ulimately
successiul in its appeal and the cash deposit is refunded, this procedural requirement to post a cash
deposit materially and adversely affects the company's financial position and liquidity in the intervening
pericd. See “Disputed Amended Australian Income Tax Assessment” above for further information on
the ATO amended assessment.

If the company is unable to extend its credit facilities, or is unabie to renew its credit facilities on terms
that are substantially similar to the ones it presently has, it may experience liguidity issues and will have
to reduce its levels of planned capital expenditures, reduce or eliminate dividend paymenis or take other
measures {0 conserve cash in order o mest its future cash flow requirements. The company believes it
will have sufficient funds fo meet its planned working capital and other cash requirements for the next 12
months based on #s existing cash balances and anticipated operating cash flows arising during the year.
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Cash Flow

Operating cash flow for the full year feli from cash provided by operating activiies of US$240.6 million fo
cash used in operating activities of US$67.1 million. The decrease was primarily due fo the A$191.8
million (US$154.8 million) ATO deposit payment and the A$184.3 (US$148.7) initial funding payment
made to the AICF. As a result, at 31 March 2007, the company had net debt of US$153.9 million
compared to net cash of US$12.4 million at 31 March 2006.

Capital expenditures for the purchase of property, plant and equipment decreased from US$162.0 million
0 US$92.6 million for the full year.

Asbestos Compensation Funding Arrangement

In late 2008, the Board of JHI NV approved amendments to the Original FFA to provide long-term
funding for proven Australian-based asbestos-related personal injury claims that result from exposure
fo products made by former James Hardie Australian subsidiaries. Representafives of the company
and the NSW Government signed the Amended FFA on 21 November 2006.

The Amended FIFA was consistent in all material respects with the terms of the Heads of Agreement
signed on 21 December 2004. |t is a legally binding agreement and seis out the basis on which
James Hardie will provide funding fo the AICF. The arrangements include:

» the establishment of the AICF to provide compensation to Australian asbestos-related personal
injury claimants with proven claims against the Former James Hardie Companies;

o initial funding of approximately A$184.3 million provided by the Performing Subsidiary to the
AICF, calculated on the basis of an actuarial report prepared by KPMG Actuaries as of 30
September 2006. That report provided an estimate of the discounted net present value of all
present and future Australian asbestos-related personal injury claims against the Former
James Hardie Companies of A$1.55 billion (US$1.25 billion);

» subject o the cap described below, an annual contribution in advance to top up the funds in the
AICF 1o equal the actuarially calculated estimate of expected Australian asbestos-related
personal injury claims against the Former James Hardie Companies for the foliowing three
years, to be revised annually {so as to create a rolling cash “buffer” in the AICF);

» a cap on the annual paymenis made by the Performing Subsidiary o the AICF, initially set at
35% of the company's free cash flow {defined as cash from operations in accordance with US
GAAP in force at the date of the Original FFA) for the immediately preceding financial year,
with provisions for the percentage to decline over time depending upon the company's financial
performance {(and therefore the contribudions already made to the AICF) and the claims
outlook;

» an initial term to 31 March 2045, at the end of which time the parties may either agree upon a
final payment to be made by the company in satisfaction of any further funding obligations, or
have the term automatically extended for further pericds of 10 years until such agreement is
reached or the relevant asbestos-related liabilities cease to arise;

» the entry by the parties and/or others into agreemenis ancillary to or connsected with the
Amended FFA {the "Related Agreements”);

» no cap on individual payments to asbestos claimants;
» the Performing Subsidiary's payment obligations are guaranteed by JHI NV;

o« the AICF's claims to the funding payments reguired under the Amended FFA will be
subordinated to the claims of the company's lenders;

» the compensation arrangements will extend to members of the Baryuigift community for
asbestos-related claims arising from the activities of a former subsidiary of ABN 60; and
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« JHI NV will, for 10 years, provide an annual sum of A$500,000 for the purpose of medical
research into the prevention, freatment and cure of asbestos disease and contribute an annual
sum of A$75,000 towards an education campaign for the benefit of the Australian public on the
dangers of ashestos.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007, all conditions precedent, including the following, were satisfied:

» receipt of an independent expert’'s report confirming that the funding proposal is in the best
interests of the company and its enterprise as a whole;

» approval of the company’s lenders and confirmation satisfactory to the company’s Board of
Directors, acting reasonably, that the contributions to be made by JHI NV and the Performing
Subsidiary under the Amended FIFA wiill be tax deductible;

+ confirmation as to the expected tax consequences arising fo the AICF and others from
implementing the arrangements;

+ approval by the company’s security holders at an extraordinary general meeting heid on 7
February 2007; and

o initial funding payment of A$184.3 million (US$148.7 million) to the AICF on 9 February
2007.

The Amended FFA is now in operation. The AICF has net assets at 31 March 2007 of A$182.1 million.

Readers are referred to “SCI and Other Related Expenses” above and Note 12 of the company's 31
March 20G7 Financial Report for further information on the voluntary funding proposal, and for
information on the SCIi and related matters.

END
Media/Analyst Enquiries:

SBteve Ashe

Vice Prasident Investor Relations

Telephone: 61 2 8274 5246

Mobile: 6% 0408 164 011

Email: steve.ashe@jameshardie.com.auy
Facsimile: 81 2 8274 5218

This Management's Analysis of Results forms part of a package of information about James Hardie’s
results. It should be read in conjunciion with the other parts of this package, including a Media
Release, a Management Presentation and a Financial Report.

These documents, along with a webcast of the presentation on 28 May 2007, are available from the
Investor Relations area of the James Hardie website at www.jameshardie.com

The company lodged its annual fling for the year ended 31 March 2006 with the SEC on 29 September
2008.

All holders of the company's securities may receive, on request, a hard copy of our complete audited
financial statements, free of charge. Requests can be made via the Investor Relations area of the
company website or by contacting one of the company's corporate offices. Conlact details are available
on the company’s website.
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Definitions

Financial Measures — US GAAP equivalents

EBIT and EBIT margin — EBIT is equivalent to the US GAAP measure of operating income. EBIT margin is
defined as EBIT as a percentage of net sales. James Hardie believes EBIT and EBIT margin to be relevant and
useful infformation as these are the primary measures used by management to measure the operaling profit or loss
of #s business. EBIT is one of several metrics used by management to measure the eamings generaied by the
company's operations, excluding inferest and income tax expenses. Additionally, EBIT is believed {o be a primary
measure and terminciogy used by its Australian investors. EBIT and EBIT margin should be considered in addition
to, but not as a substitute for, other measures of financial performance reported in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepled in the United States of America. EBIT and EBIT margin, as the company has defined

them, may not be comparable to similarly titted measures reported by other companies.

Operating profit — is equivalent to the US GAAP measure of income.

Net operating profit — is equivalent to the US GAAP measure of net income.

Sales Volumes
mmsf — million square feet, where a square foct is defined as a standard square foot of 5/16” thickness.

sf — thousand square feet, where a square foot is defined as a standard square fool of 5/16° thickness.

Financial Ratios
Gearing Ratio — Net debt/cash divided by net debt/cash plus shareholders’ equity.

Net interest expense cover — EBIT divided by net interest expense.

Net interest paid cover — EBIT divided by cash paid during the period for interest, net of amounis capitalised.

Net debt payback — Net debt/cash divided by cash flow from operations.

Net debt/cash — short-term and long-term debt less cash and cash equivalents.
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Non-US GAAP Financial Measures

EBIT and EBIT margin excluding asbestos adjustments — EBIT and EBIT margin exciuding asbestos

adjustments are not measures of financial performance under US GAAP and should not be considered {o be more
meaningful than EBIT and EBIT margin. James Hardie has included these financial measures to provide investors
with an alternative method for assessing its operating results in @ manner that is focussed on the performance of its
ongoing operations and provides useful information regarding its financial condition and results of operations. The
company uses these non-US GAAP measures for the same purposes.

US$ Miltion F$g7 Yo FY07 FY06
EBIT $ (2158.8) $ (682.86) $ (86.6) $ (4349
Asbestos adjusimenits 286.3 715.86 405.5 7156
EBIT excluding asbestos adjustments 70.5 53.0 318.9 2807
Net Sales $ 3609 $ 3858 $1.542.8 3 1.488.5
EBIT margin excluding asbestos adijustmants 19.5% 13.6% 20.7% 18.9%

EBIT excluding asbestos adjustments, impairment charge and 8C| and other related expenses — EBIT
excluding asbestos adjustments, impairment charge and SCI and other related expenses is not a measure of
financial performance under US GAAP and should not be considered fo be more meaningful than EBIT. James
Hardie has included this financial measure to provide investors with an alternative method for assessing its
operating results in a manner that is focussed on the performance of its ongoing operations and provides useful
information regarding its financial condition and results of operations. The company uses this non-US GAAP
measure for the same purposes.

- Q4 Q4
US$ Mitlion FYo7 FY06 FY07 FY06
EBIT $ (215.8) $ (662.6) $ (86.6) 3 {434.9)
Asbestos adjustments 28863 7156 405.5 715.6
Impairment of roofing plant - 13.4 - 134
8CI and other related expenses 54 27 13.6 174
EBIT excluding ashestos adjustments, impairment $759 $ 60.1 $332.5 $ 3115

charge and SC! and other related expenses

Net operating profit excluding asbestos adjustments and tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments — Net
operating profit excluding asbestos adjustmenis and tax benefit related to asbestos adjustiments is not a measure

of financial performance under US GAAP and should not be considered to be more meaningful than net income.
The company has included this financial measure to provide investors with an alternative method for assessing its
operating results in a manner that is focussed on the performance of its ongoing operations. The company uses
this non-US GAAP measure for the same purposes.

G Q4 Q4
US$ Mitlion FYO7 FY06 EYo7 FY06
Net operating profit {loss} $103.1 $ (650.9) $151.7 $ (508.7)
Asbestos adjustments 286.3 7158 405.5 715.6
Tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments {335.0) - {335.0} -
Net operating profit excluding ashestos adjustments and $ 54.4 $ 64.7 $ 2222 $ 208.9

tax benefit related to asbestos adjustmenis
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Diluted earnings per share excluding asbestos adiustments, tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments,
impairment charge, SC| and other related expenses, make-whole payment and tax provision write-back —
Diluted earnings per share excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments,
impairment charge, SCI and other related expenses, make-whole payment and tax provision write-back is not a
measure of financial performance under US GAAP and should not be considered to be more meaningful than
diluted earnings per share. The company has included this financial measure to provide investors with an
alternative method for assessing its operaiing results in a manner that is focussed on the performance of its
ongoing operations. The company’'s management uses this non-US GAAP measure for the same purposes.

- Q4 Q4
US$ Miltion FYo7 FY06 FYQ7 FY06
Net operating (loss) profit $ 1031 § (650.9) $151.7 $ (R06.7)
Asbestos adjusiments 2883 715.6 4055 7158
Tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments {335.0} - {335.0) -
Impairment of roofing plant {net of tax} - 8.0 - B.0
SCI and other related expenses {nist of tax} 5.0 2.5 12.6 16.5
Make-whole payment {net of fax} - - 58 -
Tax provision write-back {3.0} {20.7} {10.4) {20.7)
Net operating profit excluding asbestos adjustmenits, tax
bensefit related o asbestos adjustments, impatrment
charge, SCI and othier related expenses, make-whole 3564 3 545 $2300 32127
paymerit and tax provision write-back
Weighted average common shares outstanding
- Diluted {mitlions) 469.0 487.0 466.4 465.0
Diluted earnings per share excluding asbestos
adjustments, tax benefit related to asbestos adjusiments,
impairment charge, SCI and other related expenses,
make-whole payment and tax provision write-back {US 120 "7 493 457
cents}

Effective tax rate excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments and tax
provision write-back — Effective tax rate excluding asbestos adjustments, tax benefit related to ashesios
adjustments and tax provision write-back is not & measure of financial performance under US GAAP and should
not be considered to be more meaningful than effective tax rate. The company has included this financial measure
to provide investors with an alternative method for assessing #s operating results in a manner that is focussed on
the performance of its ongoing operations. The company's management uses this non-US GAAP measure for the
Same purposes.

Y} Q4

US$ Million FYO7 FY06 FYO7 EY06
Operating {loss} profit before income taxes $(220.0) $ (661.9) $(53.1) $ {435.1)
Asbestos adjustments 286.3 715.6 405.5 7158
Operating profil before income taxes excluding

asbestos adjustmenis $66.3 $ 537 $312.4 $ 2805
Income tax benefit / {expense} 323.1 11.0 243.9 {71.8)
Tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments {335.0) - {335.0} -
Tax provision write-back {3.0) {20.7) {10.4} {20.7}
Income tax benefit / {expense} excluding fax benefit

related to ashestos adjustments and tax provision write- §{14.9) $ 9N §{101.5} $ (82.3)
back

Effective tax rate excluding ashestos adjustments, tax
benafit related lo asbestos adjustments and tax o o o 5
provision write-back 22.5% 18.1% 32.5% 32.9%
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EBITDA — is not a measure of financial performance under US GAAP and should not be considered an alternative
to, or more meaningful than, income from operations, net income or cash flows as defined by US GAAP or as a
measure of profitability or liquidity. Not all companies calculate EBITDA in the same manner as James Hardie has
and, accordingly, EBITDA may not be comparable with other companies. The company has included information
concerning EBITDA because it believes that this data is commonly used by investors to evaluate the ability of a
company's earnings from ifs core business operations to salisfy iis debt, capital expenditure and working capital
requirements.
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Supplemental Financial Information

James Hardie's management measures its operating performance and analyses year-over-year changes
in operating results with and without the effect of the net Amended FFA liability recorded in the fourth
guarter of fiscal year 2006 and believes that security holders will do the same.

As set forth in Note 12 of the 31 March 2007 Financial Report, the net Amended FFA liability, while
recurring, is based on periodic actuarial determinations, claims experience and currency fluctuations. it
has no relation to the resuls of the company's operations. Accordingly, management believes that the
following information is useful to it and investors in evaluating ongoing operating financial performance.

The following tables are considered non-GAAFR and are not intended to be used or viewed in any respect
as substitutes for the company’s GAAF consolidated financial statements. These non-GAAR measures
should only be viewed as a supplement to reported GAAI financials statements, and, in all cases, the
corresponding GAAP amounts are shown on the same line as the non-GAAP measure, to avoid any
possibie confusion.

The following tables should be read in conjunction with JHI NV’s financial statements and related notes
contained in the 31 March 2007 Financial Report.
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James Hardie Industries N.V.
Conscolidated Balance Sheet
31 March 2007

(Unaudited)
Total Fibre
Cement
Operations
~ e@xcluding
Asbestos Asbestos
US8$ Million Compensation | Compensation As Reported
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash squivalents $ 341 $ -1 % 34.1
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 5.0 146.9 151.9
Accounts and notes receivable, net of
allowance for doubtful accounts of $1.5m 162.9 0.5 163.4
Inventories 147.6 - 147.6
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 323 0.1 324
Insurance receivables - 9.4 8.4
Workers’ compensation - 2.7 2.7
Deferred income taxes 27.3 7.8 351
Total current assets 408.2 167 .4 576.6
Property, pfant and equipment, net 827.3 0.4 827.7
Insurance receivables - 165.1 165.1
Workers' compensation - 76.5 76.5
Deferred income taxes 6.9 3182 3251
Deposit with Australian Taxation Office 154.8 - 154.8
Other assels 2.3 - 2.3
Total assets $ 14005 & 7276 | $ 21281
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 1000 $ 08 % 100.8
Shori-term debt 383 43.7 83.0
Accrued payroll and employee benefits 41.9 0.1 42.0
Accrued product warranties 57 - 57
Income taxes payable 18.6 (5.0 10.6
Asbestos liability - 63.5 83.5
Workers’ compensation - 2.7 2.7
Other liabilities 8.3 - 9.3
Total current liabilities 215.8 101.8 317.8
Long-term debt - 105.0 105.0
Deferred income taxes 93.8 - 93.8
Accrued product warranties 8.5 - 9.5
Asbestos liability - 1,225.8 1,225.8
Workers’ compensation - 76.5 76.5
Other liabilities 36.6 4.6 41.2
Total Habilities 3557 1,513.7 1,869.4
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity
Common stock, Euro 0.59 par value, 2.0
billion shares authorised; 467,295,321 shares
issued and outstanding 2518 - 2518
Additional paid-in capital 180.2 - 180.2
Retained sarnings {Accumulated deficit) 607 .4 {786.1} (178.7)
Accumulated other comprehensive income 54 - 54
Total shareholders’ equity 1,044.8 {(786.1) 2587
Total Habilities and shareholders’ equity % 14005 $ 727.6 $ 2,128.1
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James Hardie Industries N.V.

Consolidated Statement of Operations

For the full year ended 31 March 2007

(Unaudited)

US$ Million

Net Sales

LISA Fibre Cement

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement
Other

Total Net Sales

Cost of goods sold

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrafive expenses

Research and deveiopment expenses

SC1 and other related expenses

Asbestos adjustmenis

EBIT

Net interest expense

Operating profit {loss} before income taxes

income tax {expense} benefit

QOperating Profit (loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Change

in Accounting Principle

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle for stock-
based compensation {net of $0.4 million tax)

Net Operating Profit {loss)

Volume {mmsf;
USA Fibre Cement
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement

Average net sales price per unit {per msf}
USA Fibre Cement
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement

Total Fibre
Cement
Operations
- excluding
Asbestos Ashestos
Compensation | Compensation | As Reported
$ 11,2623 $ - 3 12623
251.7 - 251.7
28.9 - 28.9
1,5642.9 - 1,542.9
{969.9) - {969.9)
573.0 - 573.0
{214.8) - {214.6)
(25.9) - {25.9)
{13.6) - {13.8)
- (405.5) {405.5)
318.9 (405.5) {86.6)
{6.5) - {6.5)
3124 (405.5) {93.1)
{01.1) 335.0 243.9
221.3 (70.5) 150.8
0.9 - 0.9
3 202.2 $ (705 | $ 1517
2,148.0 - 2,148.0
390.8 - 390.8
UsHsss - LSs588
Us$e42 - LJS$842
22
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James Hardie Industries N.V.
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the full year ended 31 March 2007

US $ Miltion

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided

by {used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortisation
Deferred income taxes
Prepaid pension cost
Stock-based compensation
Asbestos adjusiments

Effect of cumulative change in accounting principle

Deposit with Australian Taxation Office
Other

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Accounts and notes receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Other accrued liabilities and cther liabilities

Net cash provided by {used in) operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property, plant and ecuipment
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Repayments of short-term borrowings
Proceeds from long-term borrowings
Repayments of long-term borrowings
inttial funding of AICF
Proceeds from issuance of shares
Tax benefit from stock options exercised
Dividends paid
Coliections of loans receivable

Net cash provided by {used in) financing activities

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand
Short-term deposits

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

(Unaudited)
Total Fibre
Cement
Operations
- excluding
Asbestos Asbestos

Compensation | Compensation | As Reported

§ 2222 3 {(70.5) $ 1517

50.7 - 50.7

15.6 {326.0) {310.4)

{0.4) - {0.4)

4.5 - 4.5

- 405.5 405.5

{0.9) - (0.9)

{154.8) - (154.8)

1.3 - 1.3

{5.0} (146.9} (151.9}

{4.8} - {(4.8)

{19.5) {19.5)

{0.1} - {0.1)

(18.4} - {18.4)

{8.8} {10.8} {18.6)

$ 818 $ (148.7) 3 (67.1)

(92.6) - {92.6)

$ (928 $ - $ (82.6)

(98.0} - {98.0)

105.0 - 105.0

{(121.7) - {(121.7)

{148.7) 148.7 -

18.5 - 185

1.8 - 1.8

(42.1} - {4213

0.1 - 0.1

3 (285.1) 3 1487 $ (1364

15.1 15.1

{281.0} - (281.0)

3151 - 315.1

$ 344 3 - 3 34.1

$ 2641 - $ 2641

8.0 - 8.0

$ 3441 3 - 3 34.1
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Disclaimer

This Management's Analysis of Resulls confains forward-looking statements. We may from time to time make
forward-looking statements in our periodic reperts filed with or fumished to the United States Securilies and
Exchange Commission on Forms 20-F and 6-K, in cur annual reports to shareholders, in offering circulars and
prospectuses, in media releases and other written materials and in oral statements made by our officers, dirsctors
or employees to analysts, institutional investors, representatives of the media and others. Examples of forward-
looking statemenis include:

« expectations about the timing and amount of payments to the Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund {AICF),
a special purpose fund for the compensation of proven asbestos-related personal injury and death claims,
« expectations with respect o the effect on our financial statemenis of those payments;
« statements as to the possible consequences of proceedings brought against us and certain of our former
directors and officers by the Australian Securities & Investments Commission;
« expectations that our credit facilities will be extended or renewed,
« projections of our operating results or financiai condition;
« statements regarding our plans, objectives or goals, including those relaling to competition, acquisitions,
dispositions and our products;
« statements about our future performance; and
« statements about product or environmental liabilities.
Words such as “believe,” "anticipate,” “plan,” “expect,” "intend,” “target,” “estimate,” "project,” *predict,” “forecast,”
“guideline,” "should,” “aim” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statemenis but are not
the exclusive means of identifying such statements.

"o "o nou

Forward-icoking statemenis involve inherent risks and uncertainties. We caution you that a number of important
factors could cause actual results to differ materially from the plans, objectives, expectations, estimates and
intentions expressed in such forward-looking statements. These factors, some of which are discussed under *Risk
Factors” beginning on page 5 of our Form 20-F filed on 29 September 20086 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, include but are not limited {o: all matters relating o or arising out of the prior manufacture of products
that contained asbestos by current and former James Hardie subsidiaries; required contributions to the AICKF and
the effect of foreign exchange on the amount recorded in our financial statements as an asbestos lability;
compliance with and changes in tax laws and treatments; competition and product pricing in the markets in which
we operate; the consequences of product failures or defects; exposure o environmential, asbestos or other legal
proceedings; general economic and market conditions; the supply and cost of raw materials; the success of our
research and development efforts; our reliance on a small number of product distributors; compliance with and
changes in environmentat and health and safety laws; risks of conducting business internationally; compliance with
and changes in laws and regulations; foreign exchange risks; the successful implementation of new software
systems; and the successful implementation of the internal controt over financial reporting requirements of Section
404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as codified by ltem 308 of regulation S-K. We caution you that the
foregoing list of factors is not exhaustive and that other risks and uncertainties may cause actual results to differ
materially from those in forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are
made.
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. James Hardie

FYOQ7 4% Quarter and Full Year Results
28 May 2007
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@ James Hardie

»  Qverview and Operating Review — Louis Gries, CEQ
«  Financial Review — Russall Chenu, CFO

«  Questions and Answers




« 4 Quarter and Full Year results affected by asbestos adjustments

« Very solid net operating profit excluding adjustments for items noted below, particularly

givent weaker markets in the US, Australia and New Zealand

L85 Million

Met operaling profit (losg)

MNet operating profit exciuding
ashestos adjustrnents and lax benefit
refated to asbestos adjustments

Mot operating profit excluding
asbesios adjustments, lax benefit
retated to asbestos adjusiments,
impairmend charge”, 5C1 and ather
refated expenses, make-whols
payment® and tax provision wrile-back

Q4 Q4 % %
FYG7 FYGB Change FYG7 FY0§ Change
103.1 650.%) - 15817 (506.7) -
54.4 64.7 (18} 2222 208.9 8
56.4 54.5 3 2300 2127 8

+ Charge in G and {uil year 2608 oniy.
“ Charga i il yoar 2007 rasufle anly.

4% Quarter

*  USA Fibre Cement — strong botiom line performance with EBIT up
despite sales being affected by a significantly weaker housing market

+  Agia Pacific Fibre Cement — sales up despite weaker Australian and
New Zealand housing and renovation markets, but EBIT lower due to
a fower average sales price and higher manufacturing costs in

Austratia

»  Business continued to generate strong operating cash flows




Fult Year

»  LSA Fibre Cement — strong operating performance with both sales
and EBIT up in a significantly weaker US housing market, especially
in the 27 half

» Asia Pacific Fibre Cement — sales up, but EBIT lower due to higher
manufacturing costs

»  Strong operating cash fiows

» Shareholders approved asbestos compensation funding proposal in
February — Asbestos injuries Compensation Fund now operational

* BPon Defosset annocunced as new Chairman in April, replacing John
Barr who was Acting Chairman following the resignation of Meredith
Hellicar in February

»  Significantly increased dividend announced




James Hardie

Seyear
FY'oy Compournd Eorg-Term
Actual Average T

Srowth Hate

Reveriue Growth 4% 16% >15% pa
EBI{T'/Sales 22% >15% pa
Return on Assets? 16% >15% pa
Net Debt Payback® 1.9 years <5 years
Net Interest Expense Cover! 51.2 times >3 times

Excludes asbeclos adjusimenis aed SC1 and other ralatod axpenses

* Mg incanme [axcuding askesios adjushments, 1ax benafit rataes 1o asbeelos agjestmends, S0 and olbar solalad expenses, maka-wtole pamerd and tax
prevision wrils-back] divided by avesadpe fal assobs fesalading asbestoe-rolisnd assols)

3 Exitudiog paymends uader ha Aranted £78 7

James Hardie

. James Hardie

Operating Review
Louis Gries, CEO
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@ James Hard

Market

ing

to US$5289.9 million

- Weaker US Housi

4t Quarter Result

11%

down

a5

i

Net Sa

10 484.9 mmsf

16%

down

Sales Volume

p 8% to US$598 per msf

3]

Average Price

2% to US$84.6 million

up

EBIT

3.8pisi029.2%

up

EBIT Margin

10




ames Hardie

4" Quarter Market Conditions

»  Further weakening in new housing construction activity

= Starts down 25% and 30% for December and March quarters,
respectively

*  Tightening of mortgage lending standards — morigage foreclosures
up

»  Supply continued to be greater than demand for new houses
* Builder confidence lower

»  Repair and remodelling activity relatively steady

11

ames Hardie

Key Points

= Demand in exterior products category affected by weaker new housirig
market

«  Weaker demand for exterior products across nearly all key regions
«  Within exterior products, sales up for XLD® trim and ColorPlus®

= Commericed laurich of ColorPlus® products in Western and Southern
Divisions

« Sales for interior products category flat
« Higher average sales price
«  Margin improvement

« Full year sales up 4%, EBIT up 8%, EBIT margin 28.7%

12




Outlook

* |ncreased uncertainty due to tightening of lending standards for
subprime borrowers

*  New permit data suggests some further weakness likely short-term
»  Repair and remodelling activity expected to remain relatively stable
¢ Continued investment in growth initiatives

#  Focus remains on cost management and market share gains against
alternative materials

13
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Strategy

»  Aggressively grow demand for our products in targeted market
segments

v Grow our overall market position while defending our share in
existing market segments

v Offer products with superior value to that of our competitors,
introducing differentiated products to reduce direct price competition

17

EBIT and EBIT Margin®
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4t Quarter Result

Net Sales up
Sales Volume up
EBIT down
EBIT Margin down

12% to US$64.3 million
9% 1o 98.2 mmsf
5% 1o LIS$8.8 million

26ptsto 13.7%

2




Strategy

v Grow primary demand for our producis

»  Leverage our superior technology to offer differentiated products and
systems with superior value to those of competitors

+  Promote a smarter way to build composite construction houses using
our products

v Vigorously defend our position in existing market segments

Fyl

Key Points

«  Further weakness in new housing and renovations markets in
Austratia and New Zealand; Philippines continued to improve

e ANZ Q4 net sales up 10% {4% in AS), volumes up 6% due to market
share gains, prices down stightly due to competition

e ANZ EBIT down 14% (21% in AS) due largely to increased
manufacturing costs at Rosehill, NSW; EBIT margin 14%

«  Philippines remained EBIT positive for the quarter and full year

»  Full year Asia Pacific Fibre Cement sales up 4%; EBIT down 6% due
to higher manufacturing costs; EBIT margin 15.7%

a2




Qutlook

Australia and New Zealand

+  No near-term improvement expected in new housing and rencvations
activity

v Further growth in primary demand for fibre cement
«  Market share gains

«  Manufacturing and other cost efficiencies

Philippines

«  Heatthy level of building and construction activity expected short-ierm

23

USA Hardie Pipe

« Q4 net sales lower due to weaker residential housing activity in
Florida

« Impact of lower volumes partly offset by higher average net sales
price

v Small EBIT loss for the quarter, but positive for the full year

Europe Fibre Cement

«  Sales continuing to grow steadily

24




USA Fibre Cement

¢ Unceriainty over when new housing market will improve, but soms
further softening expected in the short-term

v Expect to continue outperforming the market overall

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement

¢  Market conditions to remain challenging, but further growth in primary
demand expected

25

James Hardie

Financial Review
Russell Chenu, CFO




James Hardie

«  Results significanily affected by asbestos adjustments

Background

« March 06 — booked asbestos provision of US%716m ({net basis)

« September 08 — new actuarial estimate, US$ provision adjusted fo
US$790m (net basis)

« Fabruary 07 — shareholder approval of voluntary comperisation funding
proposal

« March 07 — new actuarial estimate, moved fo gross accounting {FAS 5}
as foreshadowed in Explanatory Memorandum

a7

James Hardie

Asbestos Adjustments

US5 Mitliens Q4 FYg? Q4 FYis EYQY FYU&
Adjustments {o net Amended FFA Sabifity at 30 September 2008" - - i41.8) -
Adjustments {o net Amended FFA ab#ity at 31 March 2007 0.3 - 70.3 -
impact of tax-effacting the nat Amendad FEA liahility (3360 - (3350 -
impact of foreign exchange {17 - {44 5) -
Contribufions to asbestos research and education {4.8) - 4.5) -
inttial recording of asbestos provision at 31 March 2006 - {715.8) - {7156}
Net impact on EBIT {286.3) {715.8) {405.5) {718.6)
Tax bensfit refated to asbestos adjusktments 3380 - 3350 -
Met impact on Net Qperating Profit 4B8.7 {1158} {10.8) {118.6)
*hajushmants reflact sharges in he KPEMS Acluades aclkuasal L LIS Gask ad) anif e ret assols of e SI0E, 28




ames Hardie

« Balance sheet remains very strong excluding net Amended FFA
liability
u Net debt — US§153.9m

o Cash and unused term facilities — US$201.1m

¢ |nitial payment to Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund (AICF} of
A%$184.3 million made on 9 February 2007

«  Annual contribution amount due 1 July 2007. Cash flow cap will
apply

28

ames Hardie

e |ncreased dividend

v Final dividend US 15 cents a share. Full year dividend US 20 cents a
shiare — up US 12 cents a share

v {ncrease due 10:
«  Reduced capital expenditurs requirements

= Finalisation of asbestos compensation funding arrangement
v Record date 12 June 2007
w Payable 10 July 2007

«  Anticipated dividend payout ratio going forward of between 50% and
75%, subject to funding requirements




ST WHlHon

Net sales

(5ross profit

SE&M expenses

Research & development expense
impairment of roofing plant

S0 and other related expenses
Asbestos adjustments

EBIT

Net interast {expense) income
income tax benefit

Net aperating profit {loss)

Q407 Q4'06 % Charige
360.9 382.8 ')
133.8 139.5 (4
{62.3) (63.4) 18
(5.6} {7.0) 20
. {13.4) .

(5.4) 2.7) {100}
{285.3) {715.6) 80
{215.8) (662.6) &7

{4.2) 0.7 .

323.1 1.6 .
103.1 (650.9) .
1

US$ Midlion

Net operating profit {ioss)

Asbestos adjustments

Tax benefit refated to asbestos adjusiments

Met operating profi excluding asbestos adjustments and
tax benefit retated to asbestos adjustments

Impairment of roofing plant inat of tax)

SC1 and other related expenses (net of tax)

Tax provision write-back

MNet operating profit excluding asbestos adjustments, tax
benefit related to asbesios adjustments, 3C1 and other
related expenses and fax provision write-back

04'07 £4'06 % Change
1031 {B50.9)
286.3 7156 80
{335.0) -
54.4 84.7 {18)
8.0
50 25 {100}
{3.0) {20.7)
56.4 E4.5 3
a2




HEE Million

Met sales

(Gross profit

SG&A expenses

Research & development expense
impairment of roofing plant

SLt and other related expenses
Other operating expense

Asbestos adjusiments

EBIT
Met interest expense
income tax bensfit {expense)

Effect of change in accounting principke

Net operating profit {loss)

EY 07 FY 08 % Change
1542 9 14885 4
5730 550.8 4
(214.8) (209.8) (2)
{25.9) (28.7) 10
. {(13.4)
{13 6} {17 49 22
- {08
{405 5) (715.8) 43
{86 6) (434.9) 80
(B.5) 0.2}
2439 (716)
0.9
151.7 (508.7)

33

UST Million

Net operating profit {ioss)
Asbestos adjustment

Tax benefit related to ashestos adjustmenis

Net operating profit exciuding asbestos adjustments and
tax benefit retated to asbestos adjustments

tmpairment of rocfing plant {net of tax}
SC1 and other related expenses {net of tax}

KMake-whole payment (net of tax)

Tax provision wrile-back

Met operating profit exciuding asbestos adjustments, tax
benefit related 1o asbestos adjustments, 3C| and other
related expenses and fax provision write-back

FY ‘07 FY '08 % Change
1517 {506.7} .
405.5 7156 43
(335.0) . .
222.2 208.9 8

- B0 -

12.6 16.5 24

5.8 . .

(10.4) {207} (507

230.0 2127 8
a4




LigS Million

USA Fibre Cement

Asia Pacific Fibre Cemenit

Other

Total

4 '07 04 08 % Change
289.9 325.8 {11}
64.3 57.2 12
8.7 7.0 {4)
360.9 389.8 {7}

35

LigS Million

USA Fibre Cement

Asia Pacific Fibre Cemenit

Other

Total

EY g7 FY '08 % Change
1,262.3 1,2184 4
2517 241.8 4
289 283 2
1,642.9 1,488.5 4

36




USE Million Q407 Q408 %% Change
USA Fibre Cement 84.6 827 2
Asia Pacific Fibre Sement BB g3 {5}
Other {2.73 (3.8} 25
R&D {3.5) {3.9} 10
Total Segment EBIT B7 .2 243 3
impairment of roofing plant - {13.4}

General Corporate {18.7) {17.9% 7
;g;itEmB;; Sexciuding asbestos 705 53.0 23
Asbestos adjusiments {286.3) {715.6) &80
Total EBIT (215.8) (662 6) 87

AED iacudes core’ RAD expanses and adminizliative sxpensas, bl sxcludes priducl developmanl gxpanses

a7

US$ Million FY ‘07 FY ‘08 % Change
USA Fibre Cement 362.4 3428 &
Asia Pacific Fibre Sement 394 417 {6}
Other {9.3) {13.1) 29
R&D {1713 {15.7) (9
Total Segment EBIT 3754 3555 &
impairment of roofing plant - {13.4) -
General Corporate {56.5) {61.4) 8
Taj}ai EBIT excluding asbestos 2189 280.7 14
adijustments

Asbestos adjusiments {405.5) {715.8) 43
Total EBIT {B6.8) {434.9) 80

R&D includas “rora” RED sxporses ant adrainisirative sxpanses, buf excludes produtt daviiaprnn oxponses




James Hardie

UST Millinn

Stock compensation expense
Australian pension plan
SC! and other related expenses

Earnings-refated bonus
Other costs

Totat

04'07 Q4' 06 % Charnge
1.7 2.2 23
0.5 1.3 62
5.4 2.7 (100)
0.9 5.0 82
8.2 6.7 (22
16.7 17.9 7
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James Hardie

UST Millinn

Stock compensation expense

Australian pension plan

SC! and other related expenses

Earnings-refated bonus
Other costs

Totat

EY 07 EY 08 % Charige

5.8 5.9 2

2.8 1.8 (56)
13.6 17.4 22

3.0 9.5 68
31.3 26.8 (17)
56.5 61.4 8




USE Million Q4 07 £4 06

Net interest {expense) income {4.2) 0.7
EY ‘07 EY '08
Net interest expense {6.5) (0.2}

P07 incledas a USSE million maka-etiols payraeni.
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USE Million

Operating loss before income taxes
Asbestos adjusiments

Operating profit before income taxes excluding asbestos adjustrients

Income tax benefit
Tax benefit related 1o asbestos adjustments

Tax provision write-back

Income tax expense excluding tax benefit related to asbestos
adjustments and tax provision write-back

Effective tax rate excluding asbestos adjustments

Q407 Q406
(220.0) {661.0)
286.3 715.6
£6.3 3.7
3231 11.0
{335.0)
{3.0) (20.73
{14.9) (8.7}
22.5% 18.1%
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UES Million

Operating loss before income taxes
Asbestos adjustments

Operating profit before income taxes excluding asbestos adjustments

Income tax benedit {expense)
Tax benefit related to asbestos adjustments

Tax provision write-back

Income tax expense excluding iax bensfit related fo asbestos
adjustments and tax provision write-back

Effective tax rate excluding asbestos adjustments

EY07 £Y'08
{(83.1) (435.1)
405.5 7158
312.4 280.5
243.9 (71.8)
(335.0) .
{10.4) (20.7)
(101.5) (92.3)
32.5% 32.9%
43

LSS Milkiony Q4’07 £4'06 % Change
EBIT

UBA Fibre Cement 848 827 2
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 8.8 9.3 {53
Other 2.7} (17.2) B4
R&D (3.5) (3.9} 10
General Corporate {18.7) {17.9} 9
BDepreciafion and Amortisation

USA Fibre Cement 13.2 82 {24)
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 28 28 -
Other 0.8 07 {14)
Total EBITDA before asbestos adjustments 84.1 64.5 30
Asbestos adjustments {2886.3) {715.6) -
Total EBITDA including ashestos adjustments 2022 B551.1 58 44




ST WHlHon
EBIT

UBA Fibre Cement

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement

Other

R&D

General Corporate
BDepreciafion and Amortisation
USA Fibre Cement

Asia Pacific Fibre Cement

Other

Total EBITDA before ashestos adjustments
Asbestos adjustments

Total EBITDA including ashestos adjustments

£Y 07 EY 06 % Charige

362.4 342 6 6
39.4 417 (8)
(9.3) {26.5) 85
(17.1) {(15.7) (9)
{56.5) (61.4) 8
37.8 .4 (an
10.1 10.0 (1)
2.8 2.9 3
369.6 326.0 13
{405.5) (715.6) 43

{35.0) 3895 91 45

as
US$ Mitiions
EBIT
Mon-Cash tems
- Asbestos adjostments
« OHher Non-Cash Hems
Met Working Capital Movements

Cash Fiow from Operations

Tax Payrments

Baposit with ATO

iniial Funding Paymaent to AICF
interest Paid (riet)

MKet Operating Cash Flow

FPurchases of Froperty, Plant & Equipmant
Bividends Paid

Equity fesued

Other

Movement in Net Cash (Debt)

Met Cash (Debd} — 31 March — Beginning of Year
Met Cash (Debt} - 31 March - End of Year

£Y 08
(86.6) (534.9)
408.5 7154
54.8 541
{52.8) 27
3211 3375
(50.8) (93.4)
{154.8) -
{148.7) .
{39 {3.5}
{67.1) 7406
(92.8) (182.0)
{42.1) {45.9)
18.5 187
17.0 68
{166.3) 562
12.4 (45.8)
{153.9) 124

4% Change
506

(43)
1

{5

46




US$ Million

USA Fipre Cement

Asia Pacific Fibre Sement
Other

Total

FY '07 EY '08 %% Change

78.8 154.5 49

105 6.2 (69)
33 1.3

92,6 162.0 43
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EPS (Diluted)’

Dividend Paid per share

Return on Shareholders' Funds !
Return on Capital Employed 2
EBIT! Sales (EBIT margin} 2
Gearing Ratio !

Net Interest Expense Cover 2
Net Interest Paid Cover 2

Net Debt Payback®

! Eariudes asbasios agjustmants, lax berei rofaded Lo asbestos adjostrments, SC1and othar related sxpensas, impainmant chargs, mako-whuols

piyerd ar tan proveion wrils-back.

# Eerindes asheslos adjustments, S0 and olhar relalad expanse, and impagrnent |

3 Exalading payrasnis andar e Amardad FiTh

EY '07 FY 08 Y '05
49.3¢ 45.7¢ 32.6¢
8.0¢ 10.0c 3.0c
24.0% 28.7% 25.8%
27.7% 32.0% 26.8%
21.6% 20.9% 18.5%
12.5% {1.5Y% 8.6%
£1.2% - 44.0%
65.2% 89.0x 21.0x
1.8 yrs - 0.2 yrs
48




¢ Shareholders voted overwhelmingly in favour of funding proposat on
7 February

¢ |nitial payment of A$184 3m made to AICF on 9 February 2007

e Uipdated actuarial report completed as at 31 March 2007

e Annual contribution to AICF due 1 July 2007 — cash flow cap will
apply

49

A% Milions
KPMEG Actuaries P/L axpecied estimate for 31 March 2007, based on 30 AF1,5673
September 2008 estimate {allowing for cost savings in NEW only)
Shange in discount rale (62.7)
1,504.6
Reduced by
Raduction in average claims cos! and legat costs (34.7)
Reduction in claim numbers {909
Emerging claims experence 10.1)
nsurance recoverias (2.8
Sroas claim recoveries {14.4)
Ni cost claims 3.2
Tolal depletion i ret lability {149.5)
Actuarial estimata at 31 March 2007 A%1,355.1
50




James Hardie

Net accounting Hability under Amended FFA
A% millicns (except where siatad) 31 March 2666 31 March 2007
Cerntral Estirmale — Discourited 1.517.0 1,355.1
Discountirg and inflation allowanca (113.2) (8213
Provision for claims handling costs of AICF BF.F £%.2
Otbar US GAAP adjustments 87 398
Mot (ascets) labdiles of AICF (exc! funding payment) i71.8) 22
Contributions ko asbestos research and education - 56
Effect of tax {428.8) {415.2)
Mot post-lax labilidy 1, 000.0 av4 4
Exchange rate A% fo UGS 1.3875 1.2395
Mot post-lax lability in USE millions Ti58 THE1

54

James Hardie

Comparison

AS Billions 30 Jun 94 31 Mar 93 36 Jun G3 31 Mar 96 30 Sept 06 31 Mar 07

Ceartral Egtirmate —

Piseoited 1.538 1.885 1.568 1.5171 1.5551 1.3557
Central Estimata - 3.586 3.604 3431 3.079¢ 3.169' 2817
Eridisooired

Rarnge - Undiscounted 20-57 20-58 1.5-5.5% 1.7 5,31 18587 1851

1 lasbudes estirnaded logat cocl savirgs for NIV s
52




Very solid overall operating performance for quarter and full year

Asbestos compensation funding arrangement now operational
The company's financial position remains strong

Results subject to fluctuation in A$ : USS exchange rate for
foreseeable fulure

Increased dividend

Questions
&
Answers




@ James Hardie

Thiz fdanagenmant Prodonfasion cortaing forward-tesking SEAtBTOnES. Yo nay frous tipo 5o e makes foreard-lsoling Stefaments i our pestiedic

rapores Filed will of fuirmshed 1o tha Unifad Sfases Socoritios and & wrk e Foces 20-F and S-K_ i owre anrwal caponts 1
sharahoiders, in oﬂmrm i airied e it med»a ar»d b sl matanials and in vl stafements mada By our sificars,
clifeetons of 0y iy SE: il Fimastors, fay i of ie madia and offiecs. Examples of forward-losking statsmorss
il

* axpctations ahou She STing ad Ao of paptiects s i Ashestos injunios Cormpensation Fued [AICE), a special pospose fund for the

curngensation of prover asbesos-raiated personal iy and 4oaih glaims;

 axpecialioss wilf) ragoect o the ot oo our linanciad statamends of esa paprents;

" atafanmms 22 {0 Fl possile sonseqoencat of proceedings Browgfl agaimst us and corfain of swe former divecies ard offivers ty the Auwsiralian
& Commigsion:

 axfeciations A0 oo sredid foines will be addocdad o ranowed;

» frcgeetions of o omeraging rasols o Fnangiad condilion;

» stafaments Agarding our [HA0s, objecies o goals, irctiding ose ieating 10 campeition ifions, dispesitons and cor peedocts;

» stafensnts abowd our fufira pordormance; and

 stasaanEnls bl product ar eevifonmernal dahiiliag,

Woras such ag “beliows, " anticipase,” ‘an, " Expect " Sinford, T targe, " “estimate, ™ prgfect,” wiedict, " Torecast, " uideline,” *shouid, " “sim” and
Sieriian gy iR EE Lo ietantify forveard-tealing st Dot zrie not e Ve s of iderdifing Sach sta 3

Forwara-fosking Satements invoha it fishs and ungadingias. We sadion you Sl 4 nurber ufmwfdni factirs cowdd sause Gelia rasulis
o diffar materiatly e Mo plans, shisc i and irsfantions oy i g fory fOotig These fcks,
Sene of which ara discpssed wodar SRSk Fastors ~ Dedrictring o page 5 of our Favr 20-8 flgd on 26 Septamifaer 2008 wills #o Securitios ad
Exatange Comiizgion, inglude Hus @ ol (e w26 matiers relading o of adising ouf of e prisr mavuafaciure of products thal cotfainad
agtestos by sunont dnd foimer James Havie subsidicnios; (aquiod confibufions &t AJCF and the effact of Faraign exchange on it amsant
racertiad in o S ag avs ashasins Fabdity, oy with arsd o I T2 fees ancl rearmng: npedfion and prodist
picing it e mackers i which we ogerefe; e consoguances of product fiires or defacts; aaposure fo ervioamental, sshesfss or ot fegal
OGRS GOl Beonrtue ded markol corsdafmws Hm Supply el Gt Of rawe pasorisis; e ucorss of our rosoaceh ard development offorts;

o m#um:e 50 d sma.'.' mmmur'ofpraduu i ity and itk oivronmentat aod Aot aod safaly i ik of
3 i wilh) arm‘ in favwes and ' : fordign 160 SigieE e dation
of riow soliwann systemes; dod Mo i dation of the indernel confrol evor Snancial reporting requiremants of Saciion 404 of the

Barbaig-Gxiey Ak af)m? g o f}y tfoan 308 of reguiations S-K. [Wo caction you that the foragoing §af of fctors & ot oxtiaustivs ard isas
e figlcs ared pessenlaintios may canse eohial fesuits e oiffer matedaiy Fom s in fersard-toosking statemecs. Farward-soling stademends
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@ James Hardie

This Managemeat Praseniation foems pad of 2 k af rtL fed abowd detr compamy's wslis, ¥ showio be read i corjuncion vt the st
pente of #is package, inslieding Management’s Snalpsis of Rosuirs, a Sacia Raloasa and a Finacscizal Rapoel

Defictitions

Einancis A U5 GAAP eoui

BB god B80T Barode - BRI iz dokined as spevating inceme., BT macgin is defined ag EEBIT as 2 percoriaae of s sal soies, Wa Belfove ERIT
aried FEIT saigit f e reievanst and ssafld infarmagion ag thesa dre the primary e Iy o f Hie o By prodit oo
toss of owr Businags, BET iz one of soveral molics esed e oon i bz it sty deal Froutt o i leeding inderast
ard irome fix axpocsts Addiienaity, EET s hetivred fo o a primarly and i Lesedf By o Aaptteal rr:vmstws BB aned FOT

At sfouid e codsidered i addifion fo, B nof as 2 substitets fon offler medsires of finarsial pecformanet: feponted it GuoordEncs wiEh
GECOLRE princieies ganeraly acsepled in e Uaied States of America. EGUT and EEIT margin, 28 wo hove dadined therm, may rod Be somparaile fo
siiizely Ptied mesuras ragoried by other Somparies,

EEIT and EBIT margin, @2 used in t6s docemont, s equivalens 1o o U5 GAAR moazoras of operaling ibcome Grid opacasing icome margi.
Qgsralmg gmﬁ it pquivatiznd lo e DS GAAP mesure of income.
HNet Drfif - i i the LS SAAR measwre of nef ncome,

girksf — mifion squdare faed
et - Focssnd sqeeie foef




@ James Hardie

Financlal Ratios

Gearlng Ratie — Met detgicash divided by red deblicash ples stiraboiders” oquiy.

Ner interest expense cover— ERIT divided by ned intaras! axperses,

Ner interest paid cover— EGIY divided by cash paid derng ke pesios for inleresl, nol of amosrds capdalsod.
Net deif payback — Mat debticash divided by sash fiow frorm operations.

Nef debtioasi — Shaert-feran and long-tesrn dadl less cash and cash aquivalarils,
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@ James Hardie

Non-US GAAF Financlal Measures

EBIT and EBIT margin excloding ashestes adlustrrents - EBIT and EBIT margin axciuding asbestos adjustments are
not measuras of finsncial periormance under US GAAR and shoctd not be considared (o be more meaningful than EBIT aeud
EBIT margin. James Hardie hag ingluded these financial maasures to provide investors with an altersative method for
assassing #s operating rasults in a mannes that is focussed on the performance of 1S angoing operations and provides
uasful information regarding s fisanciad condition amd results of aperations. The company uses these nan-US SAAR

maazuras for the same purposes.

USS #ition F?g? F336 FY07 FYos
EBIT $215.8) $i6562.6) HBGE  Has4.9
ASbEsios agusHments 286.3 7i5.6 405.5 7156
EBIT excluding asbestos adjusiments TH.5 53.0 316.9 280.7
Met Sales 5360.5 $389.8  §1,542.3  $1.4885
g?j.;;’gﬁg exchuding asbestos 19.5% 19.6% 20.7% £8.9%




@ James Hardie

Non-US GAAP Financial Measuras

EBIT excluding asbesios adjustments, impalrment charge and SC1 and other related exponses — EBIT excluding
azbesies adjustments, impairman charge and SCE and other ralated expenses is not a maasure of financial perfurmance
under US GAAP and should not be considarad to be morz meaningful thas EBIT. James Hardie has included this financial
maasura o provide investors with an allemative mathod for sssessing its operating resuliz in & manner that is facussed on
the performancs of its angning oparations and provides usefut informatizn regarding e fisaneial condilizn and resclts of
operations. The company uses this non-LS GAAP maasure for the sams purposes.

- Q4 G4

us$ Million Fro7 FYoe Fyor FYos
EBIT 5(215.8) 5(R62 Bi FBG5) 34349
Asbestos adjusiments 286.3 T15.8 403.0 Fi5.6
Impainment of Foofing plant 124 134
SC ang other related expenses 54 27 135 174
ERIT excliding ashestns agjustments,

impairment charge and SCFand other 5750 5691 53325 33118

reldied expenses

@ James Hardie

Non-US GAAP Financial Measuras

Net operatir ofit_excluding asbesios adjsstments and tax bonefit related fo ashestos adinstreents - MNet
operatisg profit axciuding ashastos adiusknants and tax bensfit refated o asbestos adjostmants is not a measure of
financiat performanee undar US GAAP and should aot be sonsidared fo be morg meaningful thas nat income. The campany
mag inclided this financiz measure 12 provide investors with an aifernative method for assassing s operating results in &
mannar that is focussed on the performance of its ongoing operations. The company uses this nos-US GAAR measars for
the s8Me pUrpoSEs.

asbestos adigsiments

16 Q% a4
Uss Miliion ] FY06 Evor Fyos
et operaing profi (foss) $1031 ${E50.9) B151.7 S(L8E.7)
Asheslos adiustments 2883 Fih6 4055 756
Tax benetl refated 1 asbesing agiustments (335.0) - {335.0) -
et operading profit excluding asbestos
adjusiments and tax benefit related to 3544 3547 §2222 £3589




James Hardie

Non-US GAAP Financlal Measures

Dijuted earnings per share excluding asbestos adjustments, fax benefit refated fo ashesios adlusimonts
impairment charge, 8Cl and other related sxponses, make-whote payment ard tax provision write-back - Diluted
eamings per share exclsding ashesins adiustments, tax benefif relatad o asbastos adinsiments, impairmest charga, SCI
and othar refated axpenses, make-whale paymert and fzx provdzion weile-back i not a maasure of financisd parformanse
undar L5 GAAP and should ant be conaidersd (o be more meanisgful thas diuted samings par share. The sompany haz
insludad this financial measure o provids isvestors with an séfernative method for assessing s operating rasults in a
manper that is focussed on the perdormance of s ongoing operations. The company's management uvses thiz non-US
GAAFP m=asure o the same purposes.

Cretaiis naxt slide.

&1

@ James Hardie

Non-US GAAP Financlal Measures

ng
SCl and

5 gl
ment ard fax

s B ing 2
other related ex

eztpe  ad nesds, b
fnses, make-wholg pa

CACNING
ment charge,

ad (5]

LSS Million FrOT FYoE FYOF Yo
et ooerafng {loss) proRt 1021 HEa0 9y 25T EE0E.7)
Asbhestns pojisimenis hes 7ing 5.5 TI5 6
Tar ieredt related tr arheatng adjustrments - {3350 -
Irnpaimrant of ronfihg piart {red of tew) . &0 . &0
SC1 and ofer related expenees [nef of taa) X1} 25 2. 16.5
Make-whoin pRpment (et of tac) . - -]

Tax provizion weite-laoh [ {20.7y (90.4) 1207
Met operafing poodt exchiding Bshestos adjustments, tex beneft

) : P -

s o bt st s b SIS g sws wwo s
ek

‘f’gﬂﬂ‘:&:;}gg;“mmm shares outstandag 4580 4374 1534 4653
Dilutes samings per share evclading asbssing adiusiments

nenslit reisted fo abestoe adjuetments, impairment sharge, 5T I 117 493 57

and other related expansen, make.whoie aayment And tse
rovision write-hack {5 cent)
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@ James Hardie

Non-US GAAP Financlal Measures

Effective fax rate excluding asbestos adjustments, fax benefit related to ashestos adjustments arsd tax provision
wiite-back - Effective fax rate excluding asbastos adjustmants, lax bansfit related (o asbestes adjasfrmants and tax
provision write-back is not a messcre of fnangial performance undar US GAAR and shauld not be songsidarad o be more
meaninglul than affective tax rata. The company has incleded this fisancial measure to orovide investors with an allermative
relhod for assessisg s operatisg resulls is & mannar that is focussed on the performance of is angoing operations. The
company’s management sas this non-US GAAP measure for the same parposas,

. (A1) o4
LSS Million FY87 FYD6 FYo7 FYE5
Operating (foss § profit before income tares 2200} Biggd 9y H33.1) F435.1)
Ashestos adjustmends 63 TIGE6 4085 FEER:
Crpesating profit before income taxes
exritding ashestos adjlstments 663 537 3124 SARCE
Fwome tax banelit {expense) 3231 40 2439 {71.6}
Tax benelit reiated to askbestos adjusiments {3350 - (3350 -
Yax provision wite-back 306} 124071 (R3] {267}
Income 13x benefit/ {expense) excluding tax
benefit refated to ashestos adiustments and (149} 587} 8£101.5) B023

tax provigion write-back

Efiective tax rate exciuding asbesios
adpstments, tax benefi relsted to asbestos

o o .
adiustments and fax provision wiite-back 225% 181 325% 32.9%

@ James Hardie

EBITEA - is not & measare of financizt parformance dader US GAAR and should sot be considersd an alfamative to, or more
mezingful than, income from operations, net ncome of cash flows & definsed by US GAAP or as a measure of profilabiity or
liquadity. Mot af companies caloculzte EBITOA in the sama manner as James Hardie has and. saecordingly, EBITDA may nod be
comparable with ather companies. The compasny hag includat information conceming EBITDA becauze § beleves that this
data is commosdy usad by invastors to svaluate the ability of a company's samings from ils core boziness operations o satisfy
its debt, capital expenditre and working capital requirements.




James Hardie

James Hardie

FYOQ7 4% Quarter and Full Year Results
28 May 2007
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James Hardie Industries N.V.
and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Financial Statements
As of 31 March 2007 and 2006
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated
statements of operations, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of James Hardie industries N.V. and Subsidiaries at 31
March 2007 and 2008, and the resulis of their operations and their cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended 31 March 2007 in conformity with accouniing principles
generally accepted in the United States of America. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in
accordance with the standards of the Fublic Company Accounting Oversight Board {United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonabie
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounis and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made
by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its
method of accounting for stock-based compensation and defined benefit pension plans.

/Q :M&L@WCM%,« LL%

Los Angeles, California
27 May 2007



Item 1. Financial Statements

James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries
Conscolidated Balance Sheets

{Milicns of {Millicns of
US dollars) Australian dollars)
31 March 31 March 31 Mtarch 31 March
Note s 2007 2006 2007 2008
{Unaudited} (Unaudited)
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash eguivalents 3% 34.1 % 3151 A% 42.3 A% 440.4
Restricted cash and cash eqguivalants 4 1519 - 188.3 -
Accounts and notes recehmble, net of allowance for
doubtful accounts of $1.5 million {A$1.9 million) and
$1.3 million {(A$1.8 million} as of 31 March 2007
and 31 March 2008, respectively [ 163.4 1683.2 202.5 2141
Inventories 5] 147.6 124.0 183.0 173.3
Prepald expenses and other cufrent assets 324 338 460.2 47 .2
insurance receivable - Asbesios 12 9.4 - 11.7 -
Workers' compensation - Asbestos 12 2.7 - 3.3 -
Defarred income taxes 13 27.3 30.7 23.8 42.9
Deferred incorne taxes - Asbestos 12 7.8 - 2.7 -
Total current assets 576.6 656.8 714.8 917.9
Property, plant and equipment, net 7 B827.7 7756 1,025.9 1,083.9
Insurance receivable - Asbestos 12 165.1 - 204.6 -
Workers' compensation - Asbestos 12 76.5 - 84.8 -
Deferred income taxes 13 8.9 4.8 8.6 8.7
Deferred income taxes - Asbestos 12 318.2 - 394.4 -
Deposit with Australian Taxation Office 14 154.8 - 191.9 -
Other assets 2.3 8.2 2.9 11.5
Total assets % 2,128.1 % 1,445.4 A$ 2,837.9 A% 20200
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Habilities:
Accounts payable and accrued labilities 8 % 100.8 % 117.8 A% 124.9 A% 1684.8
Short-term debt g 83.0 181.0 t02.9 252.9
Current portion of long-term debt g - 121.7 - 170.1
Accrued payrolf and employee benefits 42.0 46.3 52.1 84.7
Accrued product warranties 11 5.7 11.4 7.1 15.8
income taxes payable 13 10.8 24.5 131 34.2
Asbestos liability 12 63.5 - 8.7 -
Workers' compensation - Asbestos 12 2.7 - 3.3 -
Cther Habilities 893 3.3 11.5 4.8
Total current Habilities 317.6 506.0 393.6 707.0
Long-term debt g 14540 - 130.1 -
Deferred income taxes 13 93.8 79.8 116.3 t11.5
Accruad product warranties 11 8.5 4.1 11.8 5.7
Asbestos Habiily 12 1,225 8 715.8 1.519.4 +,000.0
Workers' compensation - Asbestos 12 76.5 - 24.8 -
Other liabilities 14 41.2 45.0 51.1 62.9
Total Habilities 1,869 4 1,350.5 A% 2,317 A% 18871
Commitments and contingencies {(Note 12)
Shareholders' equity:
Common stock, Euro 0.59 par value, 2.0 billion
shargs authorised; 487,295,391 shares issued
and cutstanding at 31 March 2007 and
483,306,511 shares issued and outstanding
at 31 March 2008 15 251.8 253.2
Additional paid-in capital 15 180.2 158.4
Accumulated deficit {178.7} {288.3)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 9 5.4 {28.4)
Total sharsholders’ eguity 258.7 84.9
Total Habilities and shareholders’ equity % 2,128.1 % 1,445 4

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars, except per share data) Notes 2007 2008 2005
Net sales 18 § 1,542.9 $ 1,488.5 $ 1,210.4
Cost of goods sold {969.9) (937.7) {784.0)
Grogs profit 573.0 550.8 426.4
Selling, general and administrative expenses {214.6) (209.8) {174.5)
Research and development expenses (25.9} (28.7) (21.6)
SC1 and other related expenses 12 {13.6} {17.4) (28.1)
Impairment of roofing plant - {13.4) -
Asbestos adjustments 12 {405.5} (715.6) -
Other operating expense - (0.8} {68.0)
Operating {loss) income {86.6} (434.9) 186.2
Interest expense {12.0} (7.2) {7.3)
Interest income 5.5 7.0 2.2
Other expense - - {1.3)
(Loss} income fom continuding operations
before income taxes 18 {93.1} (435.1) 189.8
income tax benefit (expense) 13 243.9 (71.6) (61.9)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 150.8 (506.7) 127.9

Discontinued operalions:
Loss from discontinued operations, net
of income tax benefit of nil, nit and $0.2 milkon,

respectively 15 - - {0.3)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations - - {0.7)
Loss from discontinued operations - - {1.0)
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle 150.8 (508.7) 128.9

Cumutative effect of change in accounting principle
for stock-based compensation, net of income tax

expense of $0.4 million, nit and nil, respectively 0.9 - -
Net income {loss) % 151.7 $ (6087 $% 128.9
Net income {loss) per share - basic $ 0.33 % (1.1 & 0.28
Net income {loss) per share - diluted $ 0.33 % (1.10) % 0.28
Weighted average common ghares outstanding
{Millions):
Basic 2 4684.6 481.7 458.9
Diluted 2 466.4 481.7 481.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemenis.
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(A% Unaudited)

Years Ended 31 March

{(Millions of Australian dollars, except per share data) 2007 2006 2005
Net sales A$ 2,016.0 A% 1,977.5 A% 1,68386.3
Cost of goods sold {1,267.3} (1,245.7) {1,059.9)
Gross profit 748.7 731.8 576.4
Selling, general and administrative expenses {280.4) (278.7) {235.9)
Research and development expenses (33.8}) {38.1) (29.2)
SCi and other related expenses {17.8} (23.1) (38.0)
Impairment of roofing plant - {17.8) -
Asbestos adjustments {529.8} (1,000.0) -
Gther operating expense “ (1.1) {8.1)
Operating {loss) income {113.1} (627.0) 265.2
Interest expense {(15.7} (9.6) {9.9)
Interest income 7.2 9.3 3.0
Gther expense - - {1.8)
(Loss} income from continuing operations
before income taxes {121.6} (627.3) 258.5
Income tax benefit (expense) 318.7 (85.1) (83.7)
income (loss) from continuing operations 197.1 (722.4) 172.8
Biscontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations, net
of income tax benefit of nil, nil and A$0.3 milkon,
respectively - - {0.4)
Loss on disposal of discontinued operations - - {0.9)
Loss from discontinued operations - - {1.3)
Income ({oss) before cumulative effect of
change in accounting principle 197.1 (722.4) 171.5
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle
for stock-based compensation, net of income tax
expense of AS0.5 million, nil and nil, respectively 1.2 - -
Net income {loss) A% 198.3 A% (722.4) A% 1715
Net income {loss) per share - basic A% 0.43 A% {1.568) AS§ 0.38
Net income {loss) per share - diluted A% 6.43 A% (1.58) A3 0.37
Weighted average common shares outsianding
(Millions):
Basic 464.6 461.7 458.9
Diluted 466.4 461.7 461.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemenis.
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Years Ended 31 March

{Millions of US doltars} 2007 2006 2005
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
MNet income (loss} $ 151.7 § {506.7) § 1269
Adjustments to reconcile net income {loss} to net cash
{used in} provided by operating activities:
Loss on sale of land and buildings . - 0.
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries and businesses - - 2.t
Depreciation and amortisation 50.7 45.3 38.3
Deferred income taxes {310.4) 4.3 111
Prepaid pension cost {0.4} 2.9 7.8
Tax benefit from stock options exercised - 2.2 0.4
Stock-based compensation 4.5 5.9 3.0
Asbesios adjustments 405.5 715.6 -
Impairment of roofing plant . 13.4 -
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle {0.9) - -
Deposit with Austratian Taxation Office {154.8) - -
Other 1.3 1.7 -
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents {151.9} - -
Accounts and notes receivable {4.8) {24.0} {3.7)
inventories {19.5) {26.6} 4.3
Prepaid expenses and other current assets {6.1) {24.8} 328
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities {18.4) 24.4 15.0
Other accrued liabilities and other liabilities {19.6) 7.0 {16.5)
Net cash {used in) provided by operating activities {67.1) 240.6 218.8
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment {92.6) {162.0} {153.2)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - - 34
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries and businessaes,
net of cash divested . 8.0 -
Net cash used in investing activities {92.6) {154.0} {149.8)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Net proceeds from line of credit . - 0.5
Proceeds from short-term borrowings - 1851.0 -
Repayments of short-term borrowings {98.0) - -
Proceeds from long-iermn borrowings 165.0 - -
Repayments of long-term borrowings {121.7} {37.6} {17.8}
Proceeds from issuance of shares 18.5 18.7 2.8
Tax benefit from stock options exercised 1.8 - -
Dividends paid {42.1} {45.9) {13.7)
Collections on loans receivable 0.1 0.3 0.8
Net cash {used in) provided by financing activities {136.4) 116.5 {27.8)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash 15.1 {1.5} {1.2}
Net {decrease} increase in cash and cash equivalents {281.0) 201.6 41.2
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 315.1 113.5 72.3
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 344 0§ 351 0§ 1135
Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand $ 26.1 $ 248 % 28.8
Short-term deposits 8.0 280.2 84.9
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 341 § 3151 $ 1135
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Activities
Cash paid during the year for interest, net of amounts
capitalised $ 39 3% 35 3 10.7
Cash paid during the year for income taxes, net $ 808 § g3.4 3 15.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemenis.
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries
Consclidated Statements of Cash Flows

(A% Unauditad)
Years Ended 31 March
{Millions of Australian dollars) 2007 2008 2005

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net income (loss) A% 198.3 AB{7224) A% 1715
Adjustrnents to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

{used in) provided by operating activities:

Loss on sale of land and buildings . - 0.8
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries and businesses . - 2.8
Depreciation and amortisation 66.2 80.2 491
Deferred incomae taxes {405.8) 57 15.0
Prepaid pension cost (0.5) 3.9 10.3
Tax henefit from stock options exercised - 28 0.5
Stock-based compensation 59 7.8 4.1
Asbeslos adjustrnents 529.8 1,080.0 -
lrnpaiment of roofing plant . 17.8 -
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle {1.2) - -
Deposit with Ausliralian Taxation Office {202.3) - -
Other 1.7 2.3 -
Changes in operating assets and labilities:
Restricted cash and cash equivalents {198.5) - -
Accounts and notas recehable (6.3) {31.9) {5.0)
Inventories (25.5) {35.3) 58
Prapaid expenses and other curent assets (0.1} {32.9) 44 1
Accounts payable and accruad liabilities {24.0) 32.4 203
Other accrued lisbilities and other labilities {25.8) 9.3 {22.3)
Net cash {used in) provided by operating activities {87.7} 319.8 297 .1
Cash Flows From Investing Activities
FPurchases of property, plant and equipment {121.0) {215.2) {207 1)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment - - 4.8
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries and businesses,
net of cash divestad - 10.6 -
Net cash used in investing activities {121.0) {204.6) {202.5)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities
Net proceeds from line of credit . - 0.7
Froceeds from shori-term borrowings - 240.5 -
Repayments of short-term borrowings {128.0) - -
Froceeds from long-term borrowings 137.2 - -
Repayments of long-term borrowings {159.0) {50.0} {23.8)
Proceeds fom issuance of shares 24.2 248 35
Tax benefit from stock oplions exercised 2.4 - -
Dividands paid (55.0) {61.0) {18.5)
Collections on loans receivable 0.1 0.3 0.8
Net cash {used in) provided by financing activities {178.1}) 154.6 {37.3)
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash {11.3) 23.¥ {5.5)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash squivalents {398.1) 293.5 51.8
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 4404 146.9 a5.1
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period A% 423 AB440.4 A 14869
Components of Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand A$ 324 AS 348 A$ 370
Short-term deposits 9.9 405.6 1117
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period A 42.3 A% 4404 A% 14898
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Activities
Cash paid during the year for interest, net of amounts
capitalised A% 48 AP 48 AF 145
Cash paid during the year for income taxes, net A$ 1002 A5 1305 AF 211

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemenis.
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

{Mifions of US dollars}

Balances as of 31 March 2004

Comprehensive income:
Netf income
Gther comprehensive income (ibss):
Amortisation of unvealised transition loss on
derivative instruments
Fareign currency franslation loss
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid
Stock-based compensation
Tax benefi from stock options exercised
Empioyes lbans repaid
Stock options exercised
Balances as of 31 March 2005

Comprehensive ipss:
Netloss
Gther comprehensive income (ibss):
Amortisation of unvealised transition loss on
derivative instruments
Fareign currency franslation loss
Other comprehensive loss
Total comprehensive loss
Dividends paid
Siock-based compensation
Tax benefit from stock options exercised
Employee oans repaid
Stock options exercised
Balances as of 31 March 2006

Comprehensive income:
Netf income
Unrecognised pension losses
Fareign currency transkation gain
Cther comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income
Dividends paid
Stock-based compensation
Tax benefi from stock options exercised
Employes lbans repaid
Stock options exercised
Gther
Baiances as of 31 March 2007

Accumuiated

Additional Accumuiated Other
Common Paid-in Earnings Comprehensive
Stack Capital {Beficit) [Loss) Income Total
$ 2452 % 1327 % 151.1 $ {243} § 504.7
- - 126.9 - 126.8
- - - 11 11
- - - (0.8) {0.9)
- - - 0.2 0.2
127.1
- - (13.7) - (13.7)
- 3.0 - - 3.0
- 0.4 - - 0.4
- 0.8 - - 0.6
1143 2.0 - - 2.6
2458 138.7 264.3 {24.1} 624.7
- - (506.7) - {506.7)
- - - 0.5 0.5
- - - {4.8) {4.8)
- - - #3) #3)
LD
- . (45.9) - {45.9)
- 59 - - 5.8
- 2.2 - - 2.2
- 0.3 - - 0.3
7.4 11.3 - - 18.7
253.2 158.4 {288.3) (26.4) 94.9
- - 151.7 - 1517
2.7) 2.7)
- - - 365 3B8.5
- - - 338 338
R
- - (42,13 - (42.1)
- 4.5 - - 4.5
- 1.8 - - 1.8
- 0.1 - - 0.1
31 15.4 - - 18.5
{4.5) - - - {4.5)
T 2578 § 18027 % AN 3 54 5 2587

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statemenis.
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1.

Background and Basis of Presentation

Nature of Operations

The Company manufactures and sells fibre cement building products for interior and exterior building
construction applications primarily in the United States, Australia, New Zealand, Philippines and
Europe.

Background

On 2 July 1998, ABN 60 000 008 253 Piy Lid, formerly James Hardie industries Limited ("JHIL™},
then a public company organised under the laws of Australia and listed on the Australian Stock
Exchange, announced a plan of reorganisation and capital restructuring {the "1998 Reorganisation™).
James Hardie N.V. ("JHNV™} was incorporated in August 1998, as an intermediary holding company,
with all of its common stock owned by indirect subsidiaries of JHIL. On 16 Ociober 1998, JHIL's
shareholders approved the 1998 Reorganisation. Effective as of 1 November 1998, JHIL contributed
its fibre cement businesses, its US gypsum wallboard business, its Australian and New Zealand
building systems businesses and its Australian windows business (collectively, the "Transferred
Businesses"} to JHNV and its subsidiaries. In connection with the 1998 Reorganisation, JHIL and its
non-transferring subsidiaries retained certain unrelated assets and liabilities.

On 24 July 2001, JHIL announced a further plan of reorganisation and capital restructuring {the
"2001 Reorganisation"). Completion of the 2001 Reorganisation occurred on 19 October 2001. In
connection with the 2001 Reorganisation, James Hardie Industries N.V. {"JHI NV}, formerly RCI
Netherlands Holdings B.V., issued common shares represented by CHESS Units of Foreign
Securities {"CUFS"} on a one for one basis o existing JHIL shareholders in exchange for their
shares in JHIL such that JH! NV became the new ullimate holding company for JHIL and JHNV.

Foliowing the 2001 Reorganisation, JH! NV conirols the same assets and liabilities as JHIL
controlled immediately prior to the 2001 Reorganisation.

Previously deconsclidated enlities have been consolidated at 31 March 2007 as part of the
accounting for the asbestos liability. Upon approval of the restated and Amended Final Funding
Agreement on 7 February 2007 {the "Amended FFA"}, the Asbestos Injuries Compensation Fund
{the "AICF"} was deemed a special purpose entity and, as such, it was consolidated with the resuits
for JHI NV. See Note 2 and Note 12 for additional information.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements represent the financial position, results of operations and cash
flows of JHI NV and its current wholly owned subsidiaries and special interest entities, collectively
referred to as either the "Company” or "James Hardie" and JHI NV together with its subsidiaries as
of the iime relevant to the applicable reference, the “James Hardie Group,” unless the context
indicates otherwise.

The assets, liabilties, income statement and cash flows of the Company have been presented with
accompanying Australian doflar (A$) convenience translations as the majority of the Company's
shareholder base is Australian. These A$ convenience translations are not prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The exchange rates
used to calculate the convenience translations are as follows:

31 March
{US$1 = A%) 2007 2008 2005
Assets and Habilities 1.2395 1.3975 1.2848
income statement 1.3066 1.3285 1.3518
Cash fiows - beginning cash 1.3875 1.2948 1.3156
Cash flows - ending cash 1.2395 1.3975 1.2848
Cash fiows - current period movements 1.3068 1.3285 1.351%
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

The Asbestos liability on the A$ unaudited consolidated statements of operations and A$ unaudited
consolidated statements of cash flows is translated using the assets and liabilities rate at 31 March
2007 and 31 March 2006.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Accounting Principles

The consclidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America ("US GAAP™). The US dollar is used as the
reporting currency. All subsidiaries and special purpose entities are consolidated and all significant
intercompany transactions and balances are eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with US GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions. These estimaies and assumptions affect the reported amounts of assels
and liabilties and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting peried. Actual
results could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications
Certain prior year balances have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation. The
reclassifications do not materially impact shareholders’ equity.

Foreign Currency Translation

All assets and liabilities are translated into US dollars at current exchange raies while revenues and
expenses are translated at average exchange rates in effect for the period. The effects of foreign
currency transiation adjustments are included directly in other comprehensive income in
shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses arising from foreign currency transactions are recognised in
income currently.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include amounts on deposit in banks and cash invested temporarily in
various highly kquid financial instruments with original maturities of three months or less when
acquired.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents
Restricted cash includes amounts on deposits with insurance companies and cash on deposit for
purposes of meeting claims from asbestos claimants.

Accounts Receivable

The Company reviews trade receivables and estimates of the allowance for doubtful accounts each
period. The allowance is determined by analyzing speciic customer accounts and assessing the risk
of uncollectability based on insolvency, disputes or other collection issues.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Cost is generally determined under the first-in,
first-out method, except that the cost of raw materials and supplies is determined using actual or
average costs. Cost includes the costs of materials, labour and applied factory overhead. On a
regular basis, the Company evaluates its inventory balances for excess quantities and cbhsolescence
by analyzing demand, inveniory on hand, sales levels and other information. Based on these
evaluations, inventory balances are written down, if necessary.
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Property, plant and equipment of businesses
acquired are recorded at their estimated cost based on fair value at the date of acquisition.
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives:

Years
Buildings 40
Building improvemaents 5 to 10
Manufacturing machinery 20
General equipment 5 to 10
Computer equipment, sofiware and software development 3to7
Office fumiture and equipment 3 to 10

The costs of additions and improvements are capitalised, while maintenance and repair costs are
expensed as incurred. interest is capitalised in connection with the construction of major facilities.
Capitalised interest is recorded as part of the assetl to which it relates and is amortised over the
asset's estimated useful life. Retirements, sales and disposals of assels are recorded by removing
the cost and accumulated depreciation amounts with any resulting gain or loss reflected in the
consolidated statements of operations.

impairment of Long-Lived Assets

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards {*SFAS") No. 144, “Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” long-lived assets, such as property, plant and
equipment, and purchased intangibles subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the
carrying amount of an asset to estimaied undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated
by the asset If the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimaied future cash flows, an
impairment charge is recognised by the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds
the fair value of the assets.

Environmental

Environmental remediation expenditures that relate to current operations are expensed or
capitalised, as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past
operations, and which do not contribute to current or fulure revenue generation, are expensed.
Liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and
the costs can be reasonably estimated. Estimated liabilities are not discounted to present value.
Generally, the timing of these accruals coincides with completion of a feasibility study or the
Company's commitment to a formal plan of action.

Revenue Recoghition

The Company recognises revenue when the risks and obligations of ownership have besn
transferred to the customer, which generally occurs at the time of delivery to the customer. The
Company records estimated reductions to sales for customer rebates and discounts including
volume, promotional, cash and other discounis. Rebates and discounts are recorded based on
management's best estimaie when products are sold. The estimates are based on historical
experience for similar programs and products. Management reviews these rebates and discounts on
an ongoing basis and the related accruals are adjusted, if necessary, as additional information
becomes available.
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold is primarily comprised of cost of materials, labour and manufacturing. Cost of
goods sold also includes the cost of inbound freight charges, purchasing and receiving costs,
inspection costs, warehousing costs, infernal transfer costs and shipping and handling costs.

Shipping and Handling
Shipping and handling costs are charged to cost of goods sold as incurred. Recovery of these costs
is incorporated in the Company’s sales price per unit and is therefore classified as part of net sales.

Selling, General and Administrative

Seliing, general and adminisirative expenses primarily include costs related to advertising,
marketing, selling, information technology and other general corporate functions. Selling, general
and administrative expenses also include certain transportation and logistics expenses associated
with the Company's distribution network. Transportation and logistic costs were US$2.1 million,
LS$2.5 million and US$1.2 million for the years ended 31 March 2007, 2008 and 2005, respectively.

Advertising

The Company expenses the production costs of advertising the first time the advertising takes place.
Advertising expense was US$17.0 million, US$19.1 million and US$15.7 million during the years
ended 31 March 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Research and Development
Research and development costs are charged 1o expense when incurred.

Accrued Product Warranties
An accrual for estimated future warranty costs is recorded based on an analysis by the Company,
including the historical retationship of warranty costs to sales.

income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Under this method,
deferred income taxes are recognised by applying enacted statutory rates applicable to future years
to differences between the tax bases and financial reporting amounts of existing assets and
liabilities. The effect on deferred taxes of a change in tax rates is recognised in income in the period
that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided when it is more likely than not
that all or some portion of deferred tax assets will not be reatlised.

Financial instruments

To meet the reporting requirements of SFAS No. 107, "Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial
Instruments,” the Company calculates the fair value of financial instruments and includes this
additional information in the notes to the consolidated financial statements when the fair value is
different than the carrying value of those financial instruments. When the fair value reasonably
approximates the carrying value, no additional disclosure is made. The estimated fair value amounts
have been determined by the Company using available market information and appropriate valuation
methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop
the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative
of the amounts that the Company could realise in a current market exchange. The use of different
market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated
fair value amounts.

Periodically, interest rate swaps, commodity swaps and forward exchange contracts are used o
manage market risks and reduce exposure resulting from fluctuations in interest rates, commodity
prices and foreign currency exchange rates. Where such contracts are designated as, and are
effective as, a hedge, gains and losses arising on such contracis are accounted for in accordance
with SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended.
Specifically, changes in the fair value of derivative instruments designaied as cash flow hedges are
deferred and recorded in other comprehensive income. These deferred gains or losses are
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James Hardie Industries N.V. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

recognised in income when the fransactions being hedged are completed. The ineffective portion of
these hedges is recognised in income currently. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments
designated as fair value hedges are recognised in income, as are changes in the fair value of the
hedged item. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments that are not designated as hedges
for accounting purposes are recognised in income. The Company does not use derivatives for
trading purposes.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company implemented the provisions of SFAS No. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation,” using the retroactive restatement method provided by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure — an amendment of SFAS No. 1237
When SFAS No. 123 was adopted, the retroactive restatement method required the restatement of
prior periods’ reported net income to give effect to the fair value based method of accounting for
awards granted, modified or settled in years beginning after 15 December 1984, In adopting this
standard, the Company employed the modified prospective transition method.

SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payments” requires that a company estimale forfeitures of stock
options at the date of grant rather than allowing a company to account for forfeitures as they ocour.
At the time the Company adopted SFAS No. 123, it decided to account for forfeitures as they
occurred, primarily due to the limited historical data o accurately estimate a forfeiture rate at the date
of grant.

The Company recognised stock-based compensation expense {included in selling, general and
administrative expense} of US$5.8 million, US$5.9 million and US$3.0 millicn for the years ended 31
March 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. This excludes the forfeiture adjustment of LUS$1.3 million
{LJS%0.9 million net of tax expense) recorded upon adoption of the standard as of 1 April 2008, which
is separately disclosed as "Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle for stock-based
compensation.” The tax benefit related to the forfeiture adjustment was US$0.4 million for the year
ended 31 March 2007.

The Company analysed forfeiture rates on all of the 2001 Stock Option Plan grants for which vesting
was complete resulting in an estimated weighted average forfeiture rate of 30.7%. Based on this
calculated rate, 2 cumulative adjustment to stock-based compensation expense of US$1.3 million
was recorded for the year ended 31 March 2007, upon adoption of SFAS No. 123R. The adjustment
is presented on the consolidated statements of operations as a cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle {net of income tax).

The portion of the cumulative adjustment that relates to USA-based employees caused a reduction
in the deferred tax asset previously recorded. The amount of the cumulative adjustment related to
USA-based emplovees was US§1.0 million. Therefore, the related USA income tax adjustment was
US$0.4 million which was recorded to income tax expense.

Employee Retirement Benefit Pians

The Company implemented the provisions of SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans.” The statement requires an employer o (a)
recognise the funded status of a benefit plan in its statement of financial position, {b) recognise as a
component of other comprehensive income, net of tax, the gains or losses and prior service costs or
credits that arise during the period but are not recognised as components of net periodic benefit cost
pursuant to SFAS No. 87, "Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” or SFAS No. 106, “Employers’
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions,” (¢} measure defined benefit plan
assets and obligations as of the date of the emplovyer’s fiscal year end statement of financial position,
and {d} disclose in the notes to the financial statements additional information about certain effects
on net periodic benefit cost for the next fiscal year that arise from delayed recognition of the gains or
losses, prior service costs or credits and transitional asset or obligation. Adopting this standard
resulted in the recognition of a loss of US$2.7 million net of a tax benefit of US$1.2 million which has
been treated as other comprehensive income.
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The Company sponsors both defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans for its
employees. Employer contributions to the defined contribution plans are recognised as periodic
pension expense in the period that the employees' salaries or wages are earned. The defined benefit
plan covers all eligible employees and takes into consideration the following components to calculate
net periodic pension expense: (a} service cost; {b) interest cost; {c) expected return on plan assets;
{d} amortisation of unrecognised prior service cost; (e} recognition of net actuariat gains or losses;
and {f} amortisation of any unrecognised net transition asset. If the amount of the Company’s total
contribution to its pension plan for the pericd is not equal fo the amount of net pericdic pension cost,
the Company recognises the difference either as a prepaid or accrued pension cost.

Dividends
Dividends are recorded as a liability on the date the Board of Directors formally declares the

dividend.

Earnings Per Share

The Company is required to disclose basic and diluted earnings per share {("EPS"). Basic EPS is
calculated using income divided by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
during the period. Diluted EPS is similar to basic EPS except that the weighted average number of
common shares outstanding is increased to include the number of additional common shares
calculated using the treasury method that would have been outstanding # the dilutive potential
common shares, such as options, had been issuad. Accordingly, basic and dilutive common shares
outstanding used in determining net income {loss) per share are as follows:

Years Ended 31 March

{Millions of shares) 2007 2006 2005

Basic common shares outstanding 464.8 461.7 458.9
Dilutive effect of stock options 1.8 - 2.1
Dituted common shares outstanding 466.4 461.7 461.0
{US dollars} 20087 2006 2005

Net income {loss) per share - basic $ 0.33 $§ {110y & 0.28
Net income {loss) per share - diluted $ 0.33 $§ {110y & 0.28

Potential commen shares of 7.7 millien, 6.6 million and 8.2 million for the years ended 31 March
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, have been excluded from the calculation of diluted common
shares ouistanding because the effect of their inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Due to the net loss for
the year ended 31 March 2006, the assumed net exercise of stock options was excluded, as the
effect would have been anti-dilutive.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Accumutated other comprehensive income (loss) includes foreign currency translation and previously
unrecognised pension costs, and is presented as a separate component of shareholders’ equity.

Accounting for Asbestos-related Liabilities

Prior to 31 March 2007, the Company's consolidated financial statements included an asbestos
provision retating to its anticipated fulure payments 1o a Special Purpose Fund (*SPF”} based on the
terms of the Original Final Funding Agreement {“Original FFA"™ entered info on 1 December 2005,

In February 2007, the Amended FFA was approved to provide long-term funding to the AICF, a
special purpose fund that provides compensation for Australian-related personal injury claims
against certain former James Hardie companies (being Amaca Pty Lid {"Amaca”), Amaba Pty Ltd
{“Amaba”} and ABN 60 000 009 263 Pty Ltd {"ABN 60" {the “Former James Hardie Companies”}.
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After the Amended FFA was approved, shares in Amaca and Amaba were transferred from the
Medical Research and Compensation Foundation to the AICF. In addition, shares in ABN 60 were
transferred from the ABN 60 Foundation to the AICF.

Although the Company has no legal ownership in the AICF, it has contractual and pecuniary
interests in the AICF as a result of funding arrangements ocutlined in the Amended FFA. The
Amended FFA results in James Hardie 117 Pty Lid {formerly LGTDD Pty Ltd) {the “Performing
Subsidiary™} having a contractual liability to pay the initiaf funding and ongoing annual payments to
the AICF. These payments to the AICF will result in the Company having a pecuniary interest in the
AICF. The interest is considered variable because the potential impact on us will vary based upon
the annual actuarial assessments obtained by the Company with respect to asbestos related claims..

Due to the Company's variable interest in the AICF, it consolidates the AICF in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASBE”} Interpretation No. 46R, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities.”

Following rulings received from the Australian Taxation Office, the Performing Subsidiary will be able
to claim a taxable deduction for its contributions to the AICF. Consequently, a deferred tax asset has
been recorded equivalent to the anticipated tax benefit over the life of the Amended FEA.

The amount of the asbestos liability reflects the terms of the Amended FFA, which has been
calculated by reference to (but is not exclusively based upon) the most recent actuarial estimate of
projected fuiure cash flows prepared by KPMG Actuaries Pty Lid ("KPMG Actuaries™. The asbeslos
liability includes these cash flows as undiscounted and uninflated on the basis that it is inappropriate
to discount or inflate future cash flows when the timing and amounts of such cash flows is not fixed
or readily determinable.

The asbestos liability also includes an allowance for the future operating costs of the AICF.

An updated actuarial assessment will be performed as of 31 March each year. Any changes in the
estimate will be reflected as a charge or credit to the consolidated statements of operations for the
year then ended.

Quantifying Financial Statement Misstatements

In September 20086, the Securities and Exchange Commission (*SEC”} staff issued Staff Accounting
Bulletin (*SAB"} No. 108, “Quantifying Financial Statements Misstatements,” in order to address the
observed diversity in quantificalion practices with respect to annual financial statements. For a
number of years, the SEC staff has expressed concern over the diversity of practice surrounding
how public companies (and their auditors) quantify financial statement misstatements.

Linder SAB No. 108, the SEC staff establishes an approach that requires quantification of financial
statement errors based on the effects of the error on each of the company’s financial statements and
the related financial statement disclosures. The Company has adopied the provisions of SAB No.
108 as of 31 March 2007 and the adopticn did not have an impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Uncertain Tax Positions

In June 20086, the FASB issued FIN 48, “Accounting for Unceriainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes.” FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognised in an enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with
SFAS No. 109. Unlike SFAS No. 109, FIN 48 prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement
attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expecied
to be faken in a tax return. Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecognition, classification,
interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition. The Company will
adopt the provisions of FIN 48 effective 1 April 2007.
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The Company is cortinuing to evaluate the impact of adopting FIN 48 on its financial statements;
however, at this stage, it is not possible to determine whether that impact will be material. The
cumulative effect of applying the new standard will be reflected as an adjustment to retained
earnings in the period of adoption. The Company expects that the requirements of FIN 48 may add
volatility to its effective tax rate, and therefore its income tax expense, in future periods.

3. Cash and Cash Equivaients

Cash and cash equivalents include amounis on deposit in banks and cash invested temporarily in
varicus highly liquid financial instruments with original maturities of three months or less.

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following components:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2007 2006
Cash at bank and on hand $ 261 % 24.8
Short-term deposits 8.0 290.2
Total cash and cash equivalents $ 341 § 3151

Short-term deposits are placed at floating interest rates varying between 4.85% to 5.25% and 4.60%
to 4.85% as of 31 March 2007 and 2006, respectively.

4. Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Included in restricted cash is US$5.0 millien related to an insurance policy as of 31 March 2007 and
LIS$146.9 million held by the AICF for compensation of asbestos claimants.

B. Accounts and Notes Receivable

Accounts and notes receivable consist of the foliowing components:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars} 2007 2006
Trade receivables $ 1524 % 146.5
Other receivables and advances 12.5 8.6
Allowance for doubtful accounis {1.5) {1.3}
Total accountis and notes receivable $ 1634 % 153.2

The collectibility of accounts receivable, consisting mainly of trade receivables, is reviewed on an
ongeing basis and an allowance for doubtful accounts is provided for known and estimated bad
debts. The following are changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2007 2006
Balance at beginning of period $ 1.3 % 1.5
Charged to expense 0.5 0.3
Costs and deductions {0.3) {0.5)
Balance at end of period $ 1.5 & 1.3
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6.

inventories

Inventories consist of the following components:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2007 2006
Finished goods $ 1MMMs5 3 84.1
Work-in-process 12.3 9.2
Raw materials and supplies 37.8 33.0
Provision for obsolete finishad goods and raw materals {4.0) (2.3)
Total inventories $ 1476 $ 1240
Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consist of the following components:
Machinery
and Construction

{hillions of US dollars) Land Buildings Equipment in Progress Tolal
Balance at 1 April 2005:
Cost $ 118 8§ 1311 % 606.8 $ 1766 § 9258
Accumulated depreciation - {24.4} {215.7) - £240.1)

Nat book value 11.8 106.7 390.9 176.8 685.7
Changes in net book value:
Capital expenditures 4.1 16.4 80.8 51.5 162.8
Retirements and sales - - {8.8} - {8.9}
Depreciation - {7.3) £38.0) - {45.3}
impairment - - £13.4) - {13.4}
Other movaments - - {0.9) - {0.0}
Foreign currancy translation adjustments - - {4.4) - {4.4}

Total changes 4.1 a.1 252 51.5 89.9
Balance at 31 March 2006:
Cost 156 147.5 669.8 228.1 1.061.0
Accumulated depreciation - {31.7} {253.7) - {285.4}

Net book value $ 156 % 1158 § 4161 % 2281 § 7758

Machinery
and Construction
Land Buildings Equipment in Progress Total

Balance at 1 April 2006:
Cost $ 158 § 1475 § 669.8 % 228.1 % 1,061.0
Accumulated depreciation - {31.7} {253.7) - {285.4)

Nat book value 15.6 115.8 416.1 228.1 7758
Changes in net book value:
Capital expenditures 1.3 70.8 131.3 {(110.8) 92.6
Retirements and sales - - {3.8) - {0.8)
Depreciation - {8.3) 142.4) - {50.7)
Other movermnents - - 0.8 - 0.6
Foreign currency translation adjustments - - 10.2 - 10.2

Total changes 1.3 62.5 09.1 (110.8) 52.1
Balance at 31 March 2007:
Cost 16.9 218.3 811.3 117.3 1,183.8
Accumulated depreciation - {40.0} {286.1) - {338.1)

Net book value $ 169 % 1783 % 5152 % t17.3 § 827.7
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Construction in progress consists of plant expansions and upgrades.

Interest related to the construction of major facilities is capitalised and included in the cost of the
asset to which it relates. Interest capitalised was US$5.3 million, US$5.7 million and US$5.9 million
for the years ended 31 March 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Depreciation expense for
continuing operaticns was US3$50.7 million, US$%45.3 million and U3$36.3 million for the years ended
31 March 2007, 2008 and 2005, respectively. The impairment charge for the pilot roofing plant was
LIS$13.4 million for the year ended 31 March 20086.

Included in property, plant and equipment are restricted assets with a net book value of US$0.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2007.

8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities consist of the following components:

31 March
{Miflions of US dollars} 2007 2008
Trade craditors $ §7.7 & 66.0
Other creditors and accruals 43.1 51.8

Total accounts payable and accrued Habilities $ 1008 5 117.8
9. Short and Long-Term Debt

Debt consists of the following components:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars} 2807 2006
Short-term debt $ 830 $ 3027
Long-term debt 105.0 -

$ 1880 § 302.7
Total debt at 5.91% and 7.11% weighted average rates, respeactively.

The Company's credit facilities currently consist of 364-day facilities in the amount of US3110.0
million, which as of 31 March 2007, all had a maturity date of December 2007. In May 2007, the
maturity date of US$38.3 million of the US$110.0 million was extended to June 2008. The Company
is in discussions with its lenders to extend the maturity date to June 2008 for the remainder of the
facilties. The Company also has term facilities in the amount of US$245.0 million, which had an
original maturity date of March 2007. Upon satisfaction of the conditions precedent to the full
implementation of the Amended FFA, which occurred on 7 February 2007 with shareholder approval,
the maturity date of the term facilities was automalically extended to June 2010. For both facilities,
interest is calculated at the commencement of each draw-down period based on the US$ London
Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR”} plus the margins of individual lenders, and is payable at the end of
each draw-down pericd. The Company paid commitment fees in the amount of US$0.7 million for the
years ended 31 March 2007 and 2006. At 31 March 2007, there was US$188.0 million drawn under
the combined facilities and US$167.0 million was available.

Short-term daebt at 31 March 2007 comprised US$83.0 drawn under the 364-day facilities.

Long-term debt at 31 March 2007 comprised US$105.0 million drawn under the term faciltties.
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10.

11.

At 31 March 2007, management believes that the Company was in compliance with all restrictive
covenants contained in its credit facility agreements. Under the most restrictive of these covenanis,
the Company is required to maintain cerfain ratios of debt to equity and net worth and levels of
earnings before interest and taxes and has limits on how much it can spend on an annual basis in
relation to asbestos payments to the AICF.

Debt at 31 March 2006 comprised US$ non-collateralised notes which formed part of a seven
tranche private placement facility which provided for maximum borrowings of US$165.0 million.
Principal repayments were dug in seven instaliments that commenced on 5 November 2004 and
were to end on 5 Novemnber 2013. The tranches had fixed interest rates of 8.86%, 6.92%, 6.29%,
7.05%, 7.12%, 7.24% and 7.42%. Interest was payabie 5 May and 5 November each year.

As a result of recording the asbestos provision at 31 March 2006, and the Supervisory Board's
approval on 12 May 2006 of the recording of this provision, the Company would not have been in
compliance with certain of the restrictive covenants in respect of the US$ non-collateratised notes.
However, under the terms of the non-collateralised notes agreement, prepayment of these notes was
permitted, and on 28 April 2006, the Company issued a notice to all noteholders to prepay in full all
outstanding notes on 8 May 2006. On that date, the US$ non-collateralised notes were prepaid in
full, incurring a make-whole payment of US$6.0 million. This make-whole payment is included in
interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended 31 March 2007,

The Company anticipates being able to meet its future payment obligations from existing cash,
unutiised committed facilities and fulure net operating cash flows. At 31 March 2007, the Company
entered into a forward rate agreement of US$25.0 milion with 2 fixed rate of 5.07% exciuding the
margin from February 2007 1o February 2008. The contract is accounted for as a financial derivative
and is marked to market every month.

Non-Current Other Liabilities

Non-current other liabilities consist of the following componenis:

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2007 2008
Employee entitlements $ 119§ 17.0
Cther 29.3 28.0
Totat non-current other Habilities % 41.2 $ 45.¢

Product Warranties

The Company offers various warranties on its products, including a 50-year limited warranty on
certain of its fibre cement siding products in the United States. A typical warranty program requires
the Company to replace defective products within a specified time period from the date of sale. The
Company records an estimate for future warranty related costs based on an analysis of actual
historical warranty cosis as they relate to sales. Based on this analysis and other factors, the
adequacy of the Company's warranty provisions are adjusted as necessary. While the Company's
warranty costs have historically been within its calculated estimates, it is possible that fuiure
warranty costs could differ from those estimates.

Additionally, the Company includes in #ts accrual for product warranties amounts for a Class Action
Settlement Agreement {the "Settlement Agreement”} related to its previous roofing products, which
are no longer manufactured in the United States. On 14 February 2002, the Company signed the
Settlement Agreement for all product, warranty and property related liability claims associated with
these previously manufactured roofing products. These products were removed from the
marketplace between 1895 and 1898 in areas where there had been any alleged problems. The total
amount included in the product warranty provision relating to the Settlement Agreement is US$3.5
million and US$5.7 million as of 31 March 2007 and 2008, respectively.
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12.

The following are the changes in the product warranty provision:
Years Ended

31 March
{Millions of US dollars} 2007 2006
Balance at beginning of period $ 15.5 % 12.8
Accruals for product warranties 4.4 6.2
Settlements made in cash or in kind (4.9} (3.4}
Foreign currency transiation adjustments 0.2 (0.2}
Balance at end of pericd $ 152 % 15.5

The "Accruals for product warranties” line item above includes an additional accrual of US$2.0
million and JS$0.6 million for the years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, respectively, related 1o the
Settlement Agreement. This increase reflects the results of the Company's most recent estimate of
its total exposure. The "Setllements made in cash or in kind" line item above includes settlements
related to the Settlement Agreement of US$0.2 million and US$0.7 million for the years ended 31
March 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Commitments and Contingencies

Commitment to provide funding on a long-term basis in respect of asbestos-related liabilities
of former subsidiaries

On 21 November 2008, the Company signed the Amended FFA with the NSW Government to
provide long-term funding to the AICF that will provide compensation for Australian asbestos-related
personal injury claims against Former James Hardie Companies. While the Amended FFA is
consistent in all material respects with the terms of the Final Funding Agreement entered into on 1
December 2005 among the Company, the NSW Government and a wholly owned Australian
subsidiary of the Company, the Performing Subsidiary, the Amended FFA set forth certain changes
to the original proposed arrangements as approved by the Company’s Managing and Supervisory
Boards of Directors.

In summary, the Amended FFA provided for the following key steps fo occur if the remaining
conditions precedent to that agreement be satisfied or waived in writing by the parties:

— the establishment of the AICF to provide compensation to Australian asbestos-related
personal injury claimants with proven claims against the Former James Hardie Companies;

— inttial funding of approximately A$184.3 million provided by the Performing Subsidiary to the
AICF, calculated on the basis of an actuarial report prepared by KPMG Actuaries as of 30
September 2006. That report provided an estimaie of the discounted net present value of all
present and future Australian asbestos-related personal injury claims against the Former
James Hardie Companies of A$1.55 billion (US$1.25 billion);

— subject to the cap described below, an annual confribution in advance to top up the funds in
the AICK to equal the actuarially calculated estimate of expected Australian asbestos-related
personal injury claims against the Former James Hardie Companies for the following three
years, to be revised annually (so as to create a rolling cash "buffer” in the AICF},

— acap on the annual payments made by the Performing Subsidiary to the AICF, initially set at
35% of the Company’s free cash flow (defined as cash from operations in accordance with
LS GAAP in force at the date of the Originat FFA) for the immediately preceding financial
year, with provisions for the percentage to decline over time depending upon the Company’s
financial performance {and therefore the contributions aiready made io the AICF} and the
claims outlook;
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— aninitial term to 31 March 2045, at the end of which time the parties may either agree upon
a final payment to be made by the Company in satisfaction of any further funding cbligations,
or have the term automaticaily extended for further periods of 10 years until such agreement
is reached or the relevant asbestos-related liabilities cease to arise;

— the entry by the parties and/or others into agreements ancillary to or connected with the
Amended FFA (the "Related Agreements™),

— no cap on individual payments to asbestos claimants;

— the Performing Subsidiary’s payment obligations are guaranteed by James Hardie industries
NV

— the AICF's claims to the funding payments required under the Amended FFA will be
subordinated 1o the claims of the Company's lenders;

— the compensation arrangements will extend to members of the Baryulgit community for
asbestos-related claims arising from the activities of a former subsidiary of ABN 60; and

— James Hardie Industries N.V. will, for ten years, provide an annual sum of A$0.5 million for
the purpose of medical research into the prevention, freatment and cure of asbestos disease
and contribute an annual sum of A$0.075 million towards an education campaign for the
benefit of the Australian public on the dangers of asbestos.

On 9 November 2008, James Hardie announced that #, the AICF and others had received private
binding rulings relating to the expected tax conseguences arising to the AICF and others in
connection with the Amended FFA. in the Amendad FFA, all parties 1o the Amended FFA agreed to
these rulings resulting in the tax conditions precedent set out in that agreement.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2007, the following conditions precedent were satisfied:

— receipt of an independent expert’s report confirming that the funding proposal is in the best
interests of the Company and its enterprise as a whole;

— approval of the Company's lenders and confirmation satisfactory to the Company’s Board of
Directors, acting reasonably, that the contributions to be made by JHI NV and the
Performing Subsidiary under the Amended FFA will be tax deductible;

— confirmation as to the expected tax consequences arising to the AICF and others from
implementing the arrangements;

— approval of the Company’s shareholders at the Extraordinary General Meeting held on 7
February 2007 and

— inttial funding payment of A$184.3 million paid to the AICF on 8 February 2007.

In addition to entering into the Amended FFA, one or more of the Company, the Performing
Subsidiary. the AICF and the NSW Government have entered into a number of Related Agreementis,
including & trust deed {for a trust known as the AICF, referred to as the Trust Deed), for the
establishment of the AICF; a deed of guarantee under which James Hardie Industries N.V. provides
the guarantee described above; intercreditor deeds 1o achieve the subordination arrangements
described above; and deeds of release in connection with the releases from civil liability described
below.

The Performing Subsidiary also signed an Interim Funding Deed with Amaca to provide funding to
Amaca of up to A$24.1 million in the event that Amaca’s finances are otherwise exhausted before
the Amended FFA was implemented in full. The commercial terms of such funding were setiled and
the Performing Subsidiary entered into interim funding documentation dated 16 November 2006. An
interim funding payment of A$9.0 milion {UJS$7.1 million} was made tc Amaca in December 2006.
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That sum was subsequently repaid by Amaca out of part of the proceeds of the initial funding on 12
February 2007.

Actuarial Study; Claims Estimate

The AICF commissioned an updated actuarial study of potential asbestos-related liabilities as of 31
March 2007. Based on the resulis of these studies, it is estimated that the discounted value of the
central estimate for claims against the Former James Hardie Companies was approximately A$1.4
billion (US%1.1 bilion}. The undiscounted value of the central estimate of the asbestos-related
liabilities of Amaca and Amaba as determined by KPMG Actuaries was approximately A$2.8 billion
{LJS52.3 billion). Actual liabilities of those companies for such claims could vary, perhaps materially,
from the cenfrai estimate described above. This central estimate is calculated in accordance with
Australian Actuarial Standards, which differ from accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. The asbestos liability includes projected fulure cash flows as undiscounted
and uninflated on the basis that it is inappropriate to discount or inflate future cash flows when the
timing and amounts of such cash flows is not fixed or readily determinable.

The tables below are designed to show the various components and effective grossing up of the net
Amended FFA liability at 31 March 2007.

The asbestos liability has been revised to reflect the most recent actuarial estimate prepared by
KPMG Actuaries as of 31 March 2007 and to adjust for payments made to claimants during the year
then ended.

Adjustments to the net Amended FFA liability are shown in the table below

LSS millions A% millions

At 31 March 2008 $ (715.8) A% {1,000.0)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates {84.5) -
Gther adjustments to net Amended FFA liability 24.0 25.7
Net Amended FFA liability at 31 March 2007 $ {786.1) A% {974.3}
Components of the net Amended FFA liability:

Insurance receivables - current $ 9.4 A% 11.7
Workers' compensation - Asbestos - current 2.7 3.4
Defarred tax assels - current 7.8 9.7
Income tax payable (reduction to income tax payable) 9.0 11.2
Insurance receivables - non-current 165.1 204.6
Workers' compensation - Asbestos - non-current 76.5 54.8
Deferred tax assets - non-current 318 2 394 4
Workers' compensation liabilities - current .7 A
Asbestos liability - current (63 5 (78 7
Asbestos liability - non-current {1,225.8) {1,519.4)
Workers' compensation liabilities - non-current (76 5) (94 8)
Other net Habilities .3) 8}
Net Amended FFA liability at 31 March 2007 $ (?86 1 A% (974 3}

In estimating the potential financial exposure, KPMG Actuaries made assumptions related to the total
number of claims which were reasonably estimated {o be asserted through 2071, the typical cost of
settlement {which is sensitive to, among other factors, the industry in which a plaintiff claims
exposure, the alleged disease type and the jurisdiction in which the action is brought}, the legal costs
incurred in the fitigation of such claims, the rate of receipt of claims, the settlement strategy in
dealing with outstanding claims and the timing of setllements.
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Further, KPMG Actuaries relied on the data and information provided by the AICF and Amaca
Claims Services, Amaca Pty Ltd {under NSW External Administration) ("ACS"} and assumed that it is
accurate and complete in all material respecis. The actuaries have nol verified the information
independently nor established the accuracy or completeness of the data and information provided or
used for the preparation of the report.

Due to inherent uncertainties in the legat and medical environment, the number and timing of future
claim notifications and settlemenis, the recoverability of claims against insurance confracts, and
estimates of future trends in average claim awards, as well as the extent to which the above named
entities will contribute o the overall seitiements, the actual amount of liability could differ materiatly
from that which is currently projected.

A sensitivity analysis has been performed to determine how the actuariai estimates would change if
certain assumptions {i.e., the rate of inflation and superimposed inflation, the average costs of claims
and legal fees, and the projected numbers of claims) were different from the assumptions used to
determine the central estimates. This analysis shows that the discounted central estimates could be
in a range of A$0.9 billion {LUS$0.7 billion} to A$2.0 billion {LUS$1.6 billion} {undiscounted estimates of
AS$1.6 billion {US%1.3 billion} to A$5.1 billion (US$4.1 billion} as of 31 March 2007. it should be noted
that the actual cost of the liabilities could be oulside of that range depending on the resulits of actual
experience relative 1o the assumptions made.

The potential range of costs as estimaled by KPMG Actuaries is affected by a number of variables
such as nil settlement rates (where no seillement is payable by the Former James Hardie
Companies because the claim settlement is borne by other asbestos defendanis {other than the
former James Hardie subsidiaries} which are held liable), peak year of claims, past history of claims
numbers, average settlement rates, past history of Australian asbestos-related medical injuries,
current number of claims, average defence and plaintiff legal costs, base wage inflation and
superimposed inflation. The polential range of losses disclosed includes both asseried and
unasserted claims. While no assurances can be provided, the Company believes that it is likely to be
able to partially recover losses from various insurance carriers. As of 31 March 2007, KPMG
Actuaries' undiscounted central estimate of asbestos-related liabilities was A$2.8 billion {US$2.3
billion}. This undiscounted central estimate is net of expected insurance recoveries of A$488.1
million (US$393.8 million) after making a general credit risk allowance for bad debt insurance
carriers and an allowance for A$91.6 million (US$73.9 million} of “by claim” or subrogation
recoveries from other third parties.

Claims Data
The following table, provided by KPMG Actuaries, shows the number of claims pending as of 31
March 2007 and 2006:

31 March
2007 20086
Australia 490 556
New Zealand w -
Unknown - Court Not Identified 13 20
USA 1 4

™ Information includes claims data for onty 11 months ended 28 February 2006. Claims data for the
12 months ended 31 March 2006 was not available at the time our financial statements were
prepared.
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For the years ended 31 March 2007, 2006 and 2005, the following tables, provided by KPMG
Actuaries, show the claims filed, the number of claims dismissed, setiled or otherwise resolved for
each period, and the average setilement amount per claim.

Years Ended 31 March

2007 2008!" 2005
Number of claims filed 463 346 489
Number of claims dismissed 121 97 82
Number of claims settled or otherwise resolved 416 405 402
Average settlement amount per seitled claim A$ 166,164 A% 151,883 A% 157,594

Average setilement amount per settled claim

Uss$ 127,165 USE 114,322 USSE 116,572

Unknown - Court Not identifled

Years Ended 31 March

2007 2006 2005
Number of claims filed - 8 7
Number of claims dismissed 3 10 20
Number of claims settled or otherwise resolved 5 12 2
Average settiement amount per settled claim A% 12,165 A% 188,892 A% 47,000
Average setilement amount per settled claim Us$ 8,310 USE 149,708 USE 34,788

USA
Years Ended 31 March

2007 2006 2005
Number of claims filed 1 - -
Number of claims dismissed 1 - 3
Number of claims settled or otherwise resolved - - 1
Average settiement amount per settled claim AS - A% - A% 228,283
Average settlement amount per settled claim Uss - USE - USE 168,868

The following table, provided by KPMG Actuaries, shows the activity related to the numbers of open
claims, new claims and closed claims during each of the past five years and the average settlement

per settled claim and case closed.

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Number of open claims af beginning of vear 586 749 743 814 871
Number of new claims 464 352 496 380 408
Number of closed claims 546 524 460 451 266
Number of open claims at year-end 504 577 749 743 814
Average settlement amount per settled claim A} 164,335 AL 153,236 A 157,223 A 167450 A% 201200
Average settlement amount per case closed A% 126,713 A 121,945 AS 129,849 AF 117,327 A% 177782

Average settlement amount per settled claim
Average settlement amount per case closed

US§ 125,766 USS 115,341 USSE 116,298 USS 116,127 USS 112,974
US$ 96,973 USE 91,788 US§ 06,123 US§ B1.366 USH 99,808

® Information includes claims data for onty 11 months ended 28 February 2006. Claims data for the
12 months ended 31 March 2006 was not available at the time our financial statements were

prepared.
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The Company did not have any responsibility or involvement in the management of claims against
ABN 860 between the time ABN 60 left the James Hardie Group in March 2003 and February 2007
when the Amended FFA was approved. Since February 2001, when Amaca and Amaba were
separated from the James Hardie Group, neither the Company nor any of #s current subsidiaries had
any responsibility or involvement in the management of claims against those entities. Prior to
February 2001, the principal entity potentially involved in relation to such claims was ABN 60, which
was not 2 member of the James Hardie Group between March 2003 and February 2007. However,
the Amended FFA and associated New South Wales legislation provides that the AICF will have both
the responsibility for, and management of claims against, the Former James Hardie Companies, and
that the Company will have the right to appoint a majority of the directors of the AICF, uniess a
special default or insolvency event arises.

On 26 Gctober 2604, the Company, the Medical Research and Compensation Fund ("MRCF") and
KPMG Actuaries entered into an agresement under which the Company would be entitled 1o obtain a
copy of the actuarial report prepared by KPMG Actuaries in refation to the claims liabilities of the
MRCF and Amaba and Amaca, and would be entitled o publicly release the final version of such
reports. Under the terms of the Amended FFA, the Company has oblained similar rights of access o
actuarial information produced for the AICF by the actuary to be appointed by the AICF {the
“Approved Actuary”). The Company’s future disclosures with respect to claims statistics is subject to
it obtaining such information from the Approved Actuary. The Company has had no general right
{and has not obtained any right under the Amended FFA) to audit or otherwise require independent
verification of such information or the methodologies to be adopted by the Approved Actuary. As
such the Company will need to rely on the accuracy and completeness of the information and
analysis of the Approved Actuary when making future disclosures with respect o claims statistics.

SCI and Other Related Expenses
The Company has incurred subsiantial costs associated with the Special Commission of Inquiry
{“SCI") and may incur material costs in the future related to the SC! or subsequent legal proceedings.

The following are the components of SCI and other related expenses:

Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2007 2006 2005
SCI $ - % - 8 6.8
internat investigation - - 49
ASIC investigation 1.7 0.8 1.2
Severance and consuiting 0.2 0.1 8.0
Resolution advisory fees 8.8 8.8 5.4
Funding advice 0.7 29 0.6
Qther 2.2 38 2.2

Total SCI and other related expenses $ 3.6 5 174 $ 281

Internal investigation costs reflect costs incurred by the Company in connection with an internal
investigation conducted by independent legal advisors to investigate allegations raised during the
SCI and the preparation and filing of the Company's annual financial statements in the United States.

Australian Securities and Investments Commission {"ASIC") Proceedings and investigation

On 14 February 2007, ASIC commenced civil proceedings in the Supreme Court of New South
Wales (the "Court”) against the Company, ABN 60 and ten then-present or former officers and
directors of the James Hardie Group. While the subject matter of the allegations varies between
individual defendants, the allegations against the Company are confined to alleged contraventions of
provisions of the Australian Corporations Act/Law relating to continuous disclosure, a director's duty
of care and diligence, and engaging in misleading or deceptive conduct in respect of a security.
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In the proceedings, ASIC seeks:

. declarations regarding the alleged contraventions;

. orders for pecuniary penalties in such amount as the Court thinks fit up to the limits specified
in the Corporations Act;

. orders that Michael Brown, Michael Gilifilan, Meredith Hellicar, Marin Koffel, Peter

Macdonald, Philip Morley, Geoffrey O'Brien, Peter Shafron, Gregory Terry and Peter Willcox
be prohibited from managing an Australian corporation for such period as the Court thinks
fit;

. an order that the Company execute a deed of indemnity in favour of ABN 60 Pty Limited in
the amourt of A$1.9 billion or such amount as ABN 60 or its directors consider is necessary
to ensuwre that ABN 60 remains solvent; and

. its costs of the proceedings.

ASIC stated in February 2007 that it would not pursue the claim for indemnity if the conditions
precedent to the Original FFA as announced on 1 December 2005 were satisfied. The Company and
the other parties to the agreement provided certification to ASIC in March 2007 that the conditions
precedent to the Amended FFA dated 21 November 2006 have been satisfied. ASIC is considering
its position and has not yet taken any siep to withdraw the indemnity claim.

ASIC has indicated that its investigations continue and may result in further actions, both civil and
criminal. However, it has not indicated the possible defendants to any such actions.

On 20 February 2007, the Company announced that the three serving directors named in the ASIC
proceedings had resigned from the Board and Board committees.

The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity with certain of its directors and officers as is
common practice for publicly listed companies. The Company's articles of association also contain
an indemnity for directors and officers and the Company has granted indemnities to certain of ifs
former related corporate bodies which may require the Company to indemnify those entities against
indemnities they have granted their directors and officers. To date, claims for payments of expenses
incurred have been received from certain former directors and officers in relation to the ASIC
investigation, and in relation to the examination of these persons by ASIC delegates, the amount of
which is not significant. Now that proceedings have been brought against former directors and
officers of the James Hardie Group, the Company is fikely 1o incur further liabilities under these
indemnities. Initially, the Company has obligations, or has offered, to advance funds in respect of
defence costs and depending on the outcome of the proceedings, may be or become responsible for
these and other amounis. Any obligations of the Company in this regard are expected to be
substantially recovered through the Company's insurance.

There remains considerable uncertainty surrounding the lkely outcome of the ASIC proceedings in
the longer term and there is a possibility that the related costs to the Company could be material.
However, at this stage, it is not possible to determine the amount of any such liability. Therefore, the
Company believes that both the probable and estimable requirements under SFAS No. 5
“Accounting for Contingencies,” for recording a liability have not been met.

Environmental and Legal

The operations of the Company, like those of other companies engaged in similar businesses, are
subject to a number of federal, state and local laws and regulations on air and water quality, waste
handling and disposal. The Company's policy is to accrue for environmental costs when it is
determined that it is probable that an obligation exists and the amount can be reasonably estimaied.
In the opinion of management, based on information presently known except as set forth above, the
ultimate fiability for such matters should not have a material adverse effect on either the Company’s
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

The Company is involved from time to time in various legal proceedings and administrative actions
incidental or related to the normal conduct of its business. Although it is impossible to predict the
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outcome of any pending legal proceeding, managemeni balieves that such proceedings and actions
should not, except as it relates to asbestos as described above, individually or in the aggregate,
have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position, statement of operations or cash
flows.

Operating Leases

As the lessee, the Company principally enters into property, building and equipment leases. The
following are fulure minimum lease payments for non-cancellable operating leases having a
remaining term in excess of one year at 31 March 2007:

Years ending 31 March: (Millions of US dollars}
2008 $ 15.0
2009 14.6
2010 12.5
2011 12.6
2012 9.0
Thereafter 73.3

Total $§ 137.0

Rental expense amounted to US$12.1 million, US$12.5 milion and LUS$9.1 million for the years
ended 31 March 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Capital Commitments

Commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment and other purchase obligations, primarily in
the United States, coniracted for but not recognised as liabilities and generally payable within one
year, were US$12.2 million at 31 March 2007,

income Taxes

Income tax expense includes income taxes currenily payable and those deferred because of
temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities. iIncome
tax benefit {expense) for continuing operations consists of the following components:

Years Ended 31 March
iMillions of US dollars) 2007 2008 2005

{Loss} income from continuing operations before income taxes:

Domestic! $ 110.9  § 1137 % 90.5
Foreign (204.0) {548.8) 88.3
flLoss) income from continuing operations before income taxes  § {893.1) % {43517 % 184.8
income tax expense (benefit):
Current:
Domaestic' $ 0.4 & ©.0) $ (14.1)
Foreign {63.7) {31.5) £37.1)
Current income tax benefit {63.3) {100.5) (51.2)
Braferrad:
Domestic' 0.1 (0.3) 5.0
Foreign 367.1 29.2 (15.7)
Beferred income tax benefit {expensea) 307.2 28.9 {10.7}
Total income tax benefit (expense) for continuing operations $ 2438 % (71.6) % {61.9}

'Since JHI NV is the Dutch parent holding company, domestic represents The Netherlands.
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Income iax benefit {expense) computed at the statutory rates represents taxes on income applicable
to all jurisdictions in which the Company conducts business, calculated as the statutory income tax
rate in each jurisdiction multiplied by the pre-tax income atiributable to that risdiction. Income tax
benefit (expense]) from continuing operations is reconciled to the tax at the statutory rates as follows:

Years Ended 31 March

{Millions of US dollars) 2007 2006 2005
income tax benefit {expense} computed at statutory tax rates % 6.2 § 121.0 & {65.3}
US state income taxes, net of the federal benefit {6.5) {7.1} (5.3}
Asbestos adjustment 2420 {(214.7} -
Asbestos - effect of foreign exchange {24.1) - -
Benefit from Dulch financial risk reserve regime 8.1 12.7 18.1
Expenses not deductible {1.7) {3.4) (2.3}
Non-assessable items 1.8 1.4 -
Lossas not available for carryforward {3.2) {2.8) (2.4}
Change in resenves 10.4 20.7 (3.7}
Change in tax law 3.0 - -
Other items {2.1) 0.4 {1.0}
Total income tax benefit {expenss)} % 2439 % {71.8) & {61.9}
Effective tax rate 262.0% 16.5% 32.6%
Deferred tax balances consist of the following componenis:
31 March
{Milions of US dollars} 2007 2006
Deferred tax assets:
Asbestos liability % 326.6 % -
Qther provisions and accruals 33.3 33.2
Net operating loss carryforwards 7.8 8.9
Capital loss carryforwards 35.2 31.2
Taxes on intellectual property transfer 6.5 8.0
Gther 7.5 2.3
Total deferred tax assels 416.3 81.8
Valuation allowance {39.7) (35.2)
Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation
allowance 376.6 48.4
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, plant and egquipment {108.4) (31.7)
Prepaid pension cost - {1.8)
Foreign currency movements (5.2) 2.8
Other {6.1) -
Total deferred tax liabitities {113.7) (80.7)
Net deferred tax liabiities % 2629 § (44.3)

Under SFAS No. 108, "Accounting for Income Taxes,” the Company establishes a valuation
allowance against a deferred tax asset if it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the
deferred tax asset will not be realised. The Company has established a valuation allowance
pertaining to a portion of its Australian net operating loss carryforwards and all of its Australian
capital loss carryforwards. The valuation allowance increased by US$4.5 million during fiscal year
2007 due to foreign currency movements.
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At 31 March 2007, the Company had Australian tax loss carryforwards of approximately US5824.9
million that will never expire. At 31 March 2007, the Company had a US$15.5 million valuation
allowance against the Ausiralian tax loss carryforwards.

At 31 March 2007, the Company had US$117.2 million in Australian capital loss carryforwards which
will never expire. At 31 March 2007, the Company had a 100% valuation allowance against the
Austratian capital loss carryforwards.

At 31 March 2007, the undistributed eamings of non-Dutch subsidiaries approximated US363%.8
million. The Company intends to indefinitely reinvest these earnings, and accordingly, has not
provided for taxes that would be payable upon remittance of those eamings. The amount of the
potential deferred tax liability related o undistributed eamings is impracticable to determine at this
time.

Due fo the size of the Company and the nature of its business, the Company is subject to ongoing
reviews by taxing jurisdictions on various tax matters, including challenges to various positions the
Company asseris on its income tax returns. The Company accrues for tax contingencies based upon
its best estimate of the taxes ultimately expected to be paid, which it updates over time as more
information becomes available. Such amounts are included in taxes payable or other non-current
liabilities, as appropriate. if the Company ultimately defermines that payment of these amounts is
unnecessary, the Company reverses the liability and recognises a tax benefit during the period in
which the Company determines that the liability is no longer necessary. The Company records
additional tax expense in the pericd in which it determines that the recorded tax liability is less than
the ullimate assessment it expects.

In fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, the Company recorded income tax benefit of US§10.4 million,
LS$20.7 milion and LUS$2.5 million, respectively, as a result of the finalization of certain tax audits
{whereby certain maiters were seitled}, the expiration of the statute related to certain tax positions
and adjusiments o income tax balances based on the filing of amended income tax returns, which
give rise to the benefit recorded by the Company.

Relevant fax authorities from various jurisdictions in which the Company operates are in the process
of auditing the Company’s respective jurisdictional income tax returns for various ranges of years. In
particular, the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) is auditing the Company's Australian income tax
return for the year ended 31 March 2002. The ATO has indicated that further investigation is required
and is working with the Company and the Company’s advisors to conclude its inguiries.

Of the audits currently being conducted, none have progressed sufficiently o predict their ultimate
outcome. The Company accrues income tax liabilities for these audits based upon knowledge of all
relevant facts and circumstances, taking into account existing tax laws, its experience with previous
audits and settiements, the staius of current tax examinations and how the tax authorities view
certain issues.

The Company currently derives significant tax benefits under the US-Netherlands tax itreaty. The
treaty was amended during fiscal year 2005 and became effective for the Company on 1 February
2006. The amended trealy provides, among other things, new requirements that the Company must
meet for the Company to continue to qualify for treaty benefits and its effective income tax rate.
During fiscal year 2006, the Company made changes to #ts organisational and operational structure
to satisfy the requirements of the amended treaty and believes that it is now in compliance and
should continue qualifying for treaty benefits. However, if during a subsequent tax audit or related
process, the Internal Revenue Service {*IRS") determines that these changes do not meet the new
requirements, the Company may not gualify for treaty benefits, its effective income tax rate could
significantly increase beginning in the fiscal year that such determination is made and it could be
liable for taxes owed from the effective date of the amended treatly provisions.
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14. Amended ATO Assessment

In March 2006, RCI Pty Ltd {*RCI"), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, received an
amended assessment from the ATO in respect of RCI's income tax return for the year ended 31
March 1999. The amended assessment refates to the amount of net capital gains arising as a result
of an internal corporate restructure carried out in 1998 and has been issued pursuant to the
discretion granted o the Commissioner of Taxation under Part IVA of the Income Tax Assessment
Act 1938, The original amended assessment issued to RCI was for a total of A$412.0 million.
However, after two subsequent remissions of general interest charges by the ATO, the total was
revised to A$368.0 milion and is comprised of the following as of 31 March 2007:

(Mitiions of dofars) ussg W AS
Primary tax after allowable credits $ 138.8 A% 172.0
Penalties ¥ 34.7 43.0
General interest charges 123.4 153.0
Total amended assessment $ 286.9 A% 368.0

(1) 1SS amounts calculated using the A3/USS foreign exchange spot rate at 31 March 2007.
2) Represents 25% of primary tax.

On 23 June 2006, following negotiation with the ATO regarding payment options for the amended
assessment, the Company was advised by the ATO that, in accordance with the ATO Receivable
policy, it was able to make a payment of 50% of the total amended assessment then due of AS378.0
million (US$305.0 million), being A$189.0 million {US$152.5 million), and provide a guarantee from
James Hardie Industries N.V. in favour of the ATO for the remaining unpaid 50% of the amended
assessment, pending outcome of the appeal of the amended assessment. Payment of 50% of the
amended assessment became due and was paid on 5 July 2006. The Company also agreed to pay
general interest charges {“GIC") accruing on the unpaid balance of the amended assessment in
arrears on a quarterly basis. The first payment of accrued GIC was paid on 16 Oclober 2006 in
respect of the quarter ended 30 September 2006.

On 10 November 2006, the ATO granted a further remission of GIC reducing total GIC on the
amended assessment from A$163.0 million to A$153.0 million and thereby reducing the total amount
due under the amended assessment from A$378.0 million to A$368.0 million. The reduction in the
total amount due under the amended assessment resulted in a reduction in the 50% payment
required under the agreement with the ATO from A$189.0 million to A$184.0 million. This gave rise
to an amount of A$5.0 million being available for offset against future GIC accruing on the unpaid
balance of the amended assessment. Accordingly, no GIC was required to be paid in respect of the
quarter ended 31 December 2006 and a reduced amount of GIC of A$1.2 million was paid in respect
of the quarter ended 31 March 2007.

RCI strongly disputes the amended assessment and is pursuing all avenues of objection and appeal

to contest the ATO's position in this matter. The ATG has confirmed that RCI has a reasonably
arguable posttion that the amount of net capital gains arising as a result of the corporate restructure
carried out in 1298 has been reported correctly in the fiscal year 1999 iax return and that Part VA
does not apply. As a result, the ATO reduced the amount of penalty from an automalic 50% of
primary tax that would otherwise apply in these circumstances, to 25% of primary tax. In Australia, a
reascnably arguable position means that the tax position is about as likely to be correct as it is not
correct. The Company and RCI received legal and tax advice ai the time of the transaction, during
the ATO enguiries and following receipt of the amended assessment. The Company believes that the
tax position reported in RCI's tax return for the 1999 fiscal year will be upheld on appeal. Therefore,
the Company believes that the probable requirements under SFAS No. 5, "Accounting for
Contingencies,” for recording a liability have not been met and therefore it has not recorded any
liability at 31 March 2007 for the remainder of the amended assessment.
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The Company expects that amounts paid on 5 July 2006 and, any later time, would be recovered by
RCI {with interest) at the time RCt is successful in its appeal against the amended assessment. As a
result, the Company has treated the payments on 5 July 2006 and 16 October 2006 as a deposit and
it is the Company’s intention to treat any payments to be made at a later dale as a deposi.

Discontinued Operations

Chile Fibre Cement

In June 2005, the Company approved a plan to dispose of s Chile Fibre Cement business to
Compania Industrial El Volcan S.A. {Volcan). The sale closed on 8 July 2005. The Company
received net proceeds of US$3.9 milion and recorded a loss on disposal of US$0.8 million. This loss
on disposal was included in other operating expense in the Company’s consolidated statements of
operations for the year ended 31 March 2006.

As part of the terms of the sale of the Chile Fibre Cement business o Volcan, the Company entered
into a two-year take or pay purchase contract for fibre cement product manufactured by Volcan. The
first year of the contract amounted 1o a purchase commitment of approximately US$2.8 milion and
the second year amounted to a purchase commitment of approximately US$2.1 million. As this
contract qualified as continuing involvement per SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or
Disposal of Long-Lived Assets,” the operating resulls and loss on disposal of the Chile Fibre Cement
business are included in the Company's income (loss) from continuing operations and are comprised
of the following components:

Years Ended

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2008 2005
Chile Fibre Cement
Net sales % 51 § 13.3
Cost of goods sold (3.5) (10.1)
Gross profit 1.6 3.2
Selling, general and administrative expenses (1.2) 2.0
Loss on disposal of business (0.8) -
Operating (loss) income (0.4) 1.2
interest expense (0.2} (0.4}
Net {loss) ihcome & (0.8) % 0.8
The following are the results of operations of discontinued businesses:
Year Ended
31 March
{Millions of US dollars) 2005
Building Services
Loss before income taxes (0.5)
lncome tax benefit 0.2
Loss before discontinued operations (0.3)
Loss on disposal, net of income {axes (0.7)
Loss from disconiinued operations $ (1.0)
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16. Stock-Based Compensation

At 31 March 2007, the Company had the following stock-based compensation plans: the Executive
Share Purchase Plan; the Managing Board Transitional Stock Option Plan; the JHI NV 2001 Equity
Incentive Plan; the JHI NV Stock Appreciation Rights incentive Plan; the Supervisory Board Share
Plan; the Supervisory Board Share Plan 2006 and the Long-Term Incentive Plan. As of 31 March
2006, the Company had no units oufstanding under the following stock-based compensation plans:
the Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option Plan, the Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option Plan
2001 and the Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option Plan 2002 (collectively the "Peter Donald
Macdonald Share Option Plans™.

Exscutive Share Purchase Plan

Prior to July 1998, James Hardie Industries Limited (*JHIL"} issued stock under an Executive Share
Purchase Plan {the "Plan"). Under the terms of the Plan, eligible executives purchased JHIL shares
at their market price when issued. Executives funded purchases of JHIL shares with non-recourse,
interest-free loans provided by JHIL and collateralised by the shares. In such cases, the amount of
indebtedness is reduced by any amounts payable by JHIL in respect of such shares, including
dividends and capital returns. These loans are generally repayable within two years after termination
of an exscutive’s employment. Variable plan accounting under the provisions of Accounting
Principles Board (*APB”} Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” has been
applied fo the Executive Share Purchase Plan shares granted prior o 1 April 1995 and fair value
accounting, pursuant to the recuirements of SFAS No. 123R, has been applied to shares granted
after 31 March 1295. The Company recorded no compensation expense during the years ended 31
March 2007, 2006 and 2005. No shares were issued under this plan during years ended 31 March
2007, 2006 and 2005.

Managing Board Transitional Stock Option Plan

The Managing Beard Transitional Stock Option Plan provides an incentive to the members

of the Managing Board. The maximum number of ordinary shares that may be issued and
outstanding or subject to outstanding options under this plan shall not exceed 1,380,000 shares. At
31 March 2007, there were 1,320,000 options outstanding under this plan.

On 22 November 2005, the Company granted options io purchase 1,320,000 shares of the
Company's common stock at an exercise price per share equal to A$8.53 to the Managing Directors
under the Managing Board Transitional Stock Option Plan. As set out in the plan rules, the exercise
price and the number of shares available on exercise may be adjusted on the occurrence of certain
events, including new issues, share splits, rights issues and capital reconstructions. 50% of these
options become exercisable on the first business day on or after 22 November 2008 if the total
shareholder returns (*TSR"} {essentially its dividend yield and common stock performance) from 22
November 2005 to that date were at least equal to the median TSR for the companies comprising
the Company's peer group, as set cut in the plan. In addition, for each 1% increment that the
Company's TSR is above the median TSR, an additional 2% of the options become exercisable. If
any options remain unvested on the last business day of each six month period following 22
November 2008 and 22 November 2010, the Company will reapply the vesting criteria to those
options on that business day.

JHIE NV 2001 Equity incentive Flan

On 19 October 2001 (the grant date), JHI NV granted a total of 5,468,829 stock options under the
JHI NV 2001 Equity Incentive Plan {the "2001 Equity Incentive Plan”} to key US executives in
exchange for their previously granted Key Management Equity Incentive Plan ("KMEIP™) shadow
shares that were originally granted in November 2000 and 1999 by JHIL. These options may be
exercised in five equal tranches (20% each year} starting with the first anniversary of the original
shadow share grant.
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Cctober 2001

Criginal Number Qption
Original Shadow Exercise of Options Expiration
Share Grant Date Price Granted Date
November 1898 A% 3.82 1,868,544 November 2009
November 2000 A% 3.78 3,500,285 November 2010

As set out in the plan rules, the exercise prices and the number of shares available on exercise are
adjusted on the cccurrence of certain events, including new issues, share splits, rights issues and
capital reconstructions. Consequently, the exercise prices were reduced by A$0.21, A$0.38 and
A$0.10 for the November 2003, November 2002 and December 2001 returns of capital, respectively.

Under the 2001 Equity Incentive Plan, additional grants have been made at fair market value to
management and other employees of the Company. Each option confers the right to subscribe for
one ordinary share in the capital of JHI NV. The options may be exercised as follows: 25% after the
first year; 25% after the second year; and 50% after the third year. All unexercised options expire 10
years from the date of issue or 90 days after the employee ceases to be employed by the Company.

The following table summarises the additional option grants:

Criginal Number Qption
Share Grant Exercise of Options Expiration
Date Price Granted Date

Becember 2001 A% 5.85 4,248,417 December 2011
Becember 2002 A% 6.66 4,037,000 December 2012
Becember 2003 A% 7.05 6,178,583 December 2013
December 2004 A% 5.89 5,391,100 December 2014
February 2005 A% 8.30 273,000  February 2015
Becember 2005 A% 8.80 5,224,100 December 2015
March 2008 A% 8.50 40,200  March 2018
November 2006 A% 8.40 3,495,490 November 2016
March 2007 A% 8.90 178,500  March 2017
March 2007 A% 8.35 151,400  March 2017

As set out in the plan rules, the exercise prices and the number of shares available on exercise may
be adjusted on the occurrence of certain events, including new issues, share splits, rights issues and
capital reconstructions. Consequently, the exercise prices on the December 2002 and December
2001 option grants were reduced by A$0.21 for the November 2003 return of capital and the
December 2001 option grant was reduced by A$0.38 for the November 2002 return of capital.

The Company is authorised to issue 45,077,100 shares under the 2001 Equity Incentive Plan.

JHI NV Stock Appreciation Rights Incentive Plan

On 14 December 2004, 527,000 stock appreciation rights were granted under the terms and
conditions of the JHI NV Stock Appreciation Rights Incentive Plan {("Stock Appreciation Rights Plan”}
with an exercise price of A$5.98. All of these stock appreciation rights were outstanding as of 31
March 2005. In April 2005, 27,000 stock appreciation rights were cancelled. In December 2006,
250,000 of these stock appreciation rights vested and were exercised at A$8.99, the closing price of
the Company's stock on the exercise day. These rights have been accounted for as stock
appreciation rights under SFAS No. 123R and, accordingly, compensation expense of US$0.5
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million, US$0.5 million and nil was recognised in the years ended 31 March 2007, 2008 and 2005,
respectively.

Supervisory Board Share Plan

At the 2002 Annual General Meeting, the shareholders approved a Supervisory Board Share Plan
{“SBSP"), which required that all non-executive directors on the Joint Board and Supervisory Board
receive shares of the Company’s common stock as payment for a portion of their director fees. The
SBSP required that the directors take at least US$10,000 of their fess in shares and allowed
directors fo receive additional shares in lieu of fees at their discretion. Shares issued under the
US$10,000 compulsory component of the SBSP are subject to a two-year escrow that requires
members of the Supervisory Board to retain those shares for at least two years following issue. The
issue price for the shares is the market value at the time of issue. No loans were entered inte by the
Company in relation to the grant of shares pursuant to the SBSP. During fiscal year 2007, this plan
was replaced with the Supervisory Board Share Plan 2006, At 31 March 2007, there were 6,063
shares still subject to escrow under this plan.

Supervisory Board Share Plan 2006

At the 2006 Annual General Meeting, the Company’s shareholders approved the replacement of its
SBSPF with a new plan called the Supervisory Board Share Plan 2006 (*\SBSP 20067}, Participation
by members of the Supervisory Board in the SBSP 2006 is not mandatory. The SBSP 2006 aliows
the Company to issue new shares or acquire shares on the market on behalf of the participant. The
total remuneration of a Supervisory Board member will take into account any participation in the
SBEP 2006 and shares under the SBSP 2006. At 31 March 2007, 5,038 shares had been acquired
under this plan.

Long-Term Incentive Plan

At the 2006 Annual General Meeting, the Company's shareholders approved the establishment of a
Long-Term Incentive Plan ("LTIP"} to provide incentives to members of the Company’s Managing
Board and to certain members of its management {"Executives”™}. The shareholders also approved, in
accordance with certain LTIP rules, the issue of certain oplions or other rights over, or interest in,
ordinary fully-paid shares in the Company {"Shares”), the issue and/or transfer of Shares under
them, and the grant of cash awards to members of the Company's Managing Board and to
Executives. At the same meeting, the shareholders approved participation in the LTIP and issue of
options to the Managing Board to a maximum of 1,418,000 options. In November 2006, 1,132,000
options were granted under the LTIP fo the Managing Board. The vesting of these options are
subject to ‘performance hurdles’ as ouflined in the LTIP rules. Unexercised oplions expire 10 years
from the date of issue. At 31 March 2007, there were 1,132,000 options outstanding under this plan.

Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option Plans

The Company granted Mr Macdonald options to purchase 1,200,000 shares, 624,000 shares and
1,950,000 shares under the Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option Plan, Peter Donald Macdonald
Share Oplion Plan 2001 and Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option Plan 2002, respectively. In April
2005, Mr Macdonald exercised all options granted under the Peter Donald Macdonald Share Option
Plan. Such sharaes had an original exercise price of A$3.87 per share. However, the exercise price
was reduced by A$0.21, A$0.38 and AS0.10 for the November 2003, November 2002 and December
2001 returns of capital, respectively. Alt 624,000 shares and 1,850,000 shares in the other two plans
expired in April 2005 and October 2005, respectively, as the performance hurdles were not met.

Valuation and Expense Information Under SFAS No. 123R

The Company accounts for stock options in accordance with the fair value provisions of SFAS No.
123R, which requires the Company to estimate the value of stock options issued based upon an
option-pricing model and recognise this estimated value as compensation expense over the periods
in which the options vest.

The Company estimates the fair vaiue of each option grant on the date of grant using either the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model or a lattice model that incorporates 2 Monte Carlo Simulation
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{the "Monte Carlo method”}. Options granted under the 2001 Equity Incentive Plan and the Managing
Board Transitional Stock Option Plan are valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing medel since
the vesting of these options is based solely on a requisite service condition. Options granted under
the LTIP were valued using the Monte Carlo method since vesting of these options requires that
certain target market conditions are achieved.

The determination of the fair value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using an
option-pricing model is affected by our stock price as well as assumptions regarding a number of
complex and subjeclive variables. These variables include our expected stock price volatility over
the term of the awards, aciual and projected employee stock oplion exercise behaviors, risk-free rate
and expected dividends. We estimate the expected term of oplions granted by calculating the
average term from our historical stock option exercise experience. We estimate the volatility of our
common stock based on historical dally stock price volatility. We base the risk-free interest rate on
US Treasury notes with terms similar to the expected term of the options. We calculate dividend yield
using the current management dividend policy at the time of option grant.

The following table includes the weighted average assumptions and weighted average fair values
used for granis valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model during the year ended 31
March:

2007 2006 2005
Dividend yield 1.5% 0.9% 1.1%
Expected volatility 28.1% 27.9% 29.1%
Risk-free interest rate 4.6% 4.5% 3.2%
Expected life in years 5.1 5.8 3.3
Weighted average fair value at grant date A% 2.40 A% 278 A% 1.35
Number of stock options 3,830,390 8,584,300 5,664,100

The following table includes the weighted average assumptions and weighted average fair values
used for grants valued using the Monte Carlo method during the year ended 31 March:

2007 2006 2005
Dividend yield 1.6% N/A N/A
Expected volatility 28.1% N/A N/A
Risk-free interest rate 4.8% N/A N/A
W eighted average fair value at grant date A% 3.30 N/A N/A
Number of stock options 1,132,000 N/A N/A

Compensation expense arising from stock optlion granis as estimated using option-pricing models
was US$5.8 million, US$5.9 million and US$3.0 million for the years ended 31 March 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively. As of 31 March 2007, the unrecorded deferred stock-based compensation
balance related to stock options was LS$10.5 milion after estimated forfeitures and will be
recognised over an estimated weighted average amortisation period of 1.5 years.
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General Share-Based Award Informalion

The foliowing table summarises all of the Company’s shares available for grant and the movement in

alt of the Company's cuistanding options:

Cutstanding Oplions

Weighted
Shares Average
Available for Exercise
Grant Number Price
Balance at 1 April 20065 24 340,258 20,128 610 A% 575
Newly Authorised 1,380,000 -
Granted {6,584 300} 6,584,300 AS 883
Exercised - {3,825 .378) AS 479
Forfeited 3274275 {3,274 275) A% 568
Expired {2,574 000} -
Batance at 1 April 20086 19,836,233 19,513,257 A5 6.99
Newly Authorised 3,060,600 -
Granted {4.962,3920}) 4,962,390 AS 842
Exercised - {3,988 880} A% 596
Forfeited 1,546,850 {1,546 950} A5 7.70
Balance at 31 March 2007 19,420,793 18,939,817 A% 7.52

The total intrinsic value of stock oplions exercised was A$10.3 million, A$11.5 million and A$1.7
million for the years ended 31 March 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted was A$2.61, A$2.78 and A$1.35
during the years ended 31 March 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Windfall tax benefits realised in the United States from stock options exercised and included in cash
flows from financing activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows were US$1.8 million for
the ysar ended 31 March 2007. Tax benefits of US$2.2 million and US$0.4 million for the years
ended 31 March 2006 and 2005, respectively, are included in cash flows from operating activities in
the consolidated statements of cash flows.
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The following table summarises outstanding and exercisable options as of 31 March 2007

Options Cutstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Woeighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate Average Aggregate
Exercise Remaining Exercise Intrinsic Exercise Intrinsic
Price Number Life {in Years} Price Value Number Price Value
A% 3.09 423,723 368 AP 309 A5 2233020 423723 AS 309 A% 2233020
3.13 100,435 28 3143 525275 106435 3143 525275
5086 712418 47 506 2350983 712418 508 2,354,983
589 3,367 425 7.7 58¢ 7880797 1.344 125 589 3185578
6.30 273,000 7.9 636 562 386 138,500 830 281,180
645 1,842,800 57 6845 1,932,926 1,012,000 845 1,832,920
T.08 2,481,000 8.7 705 3223810 2.481,000 7.05 3223810
8.35 151,400 9.9 B.35 1,514 . 835 -
8440 4365815 96 B.40 . 7,025 840
8.53 1,320,800 8.7 B.53 . . 853
8.80 4712800 8.7 B.80 - 1,139,650 880 -
AS 950 40,200 8.9 .50 . 16,058 .50 .
Total 18,838 817 8.2 A% 752 A} 1881607%¢ 7346927 AS 656 AP 13732874

The aggregate intrinsic value in the preceding table represents the fotal pre-tax intrinsic value based
on stock options with an exercise price less than the Company's closing stock price of A$8.36 as of
31 March 2007, which would have been received by the option holders had those option holders
exercised their options as of that date, atthough a significant portion had not vested.

Financial Instruments

Foreign Currency

As a multinational corporation, the Company maintains significant operations in foreign countries. As
a result of these activities, the Company is exposed to changes in exchange rates which affect ifs
results of operations and cash flows.

The Company purchases raw materials and fixed assets and sells some finished product for
amounts denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the business in which the
related transaction is generated. In order to protect against foreign exchange rate movements, the
Company may enter info forward exchange contracts timed to mature when settlement of the
underlying transaction is due to occur. At 31 March 2006, there were no material contracis
outstanding.

Credit Risk
Financial instruments which potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash
and cash equivalents, investments and trade accounis receivable.

The Company maintains cash and cash equivalents, investments and certain other financial
instruments with various major financial institufions. At times, these financial instruments may be in
excess of insured limits. To minimise this risk, the Company performs periodic evaluations of the
relative credif standing of these financial institutions and, where appropriate, places limits on the
amount of credit exposure with any one institution.

For off-balance sheet financial instruments, including derivatives, credit risk aiso arises from the
potential failure of counterparties to meet their obligations under the respective contracis at maturity.
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18.

The Company controls risk through the use of credit ratings and reviews of appropriately assessed
authority limits.

The Company is exposed to losses on forward exchange contracts in the event that counterparties
fail fo deliver the contracted amount. The credit exposure fo the Company is calculated as the mark-
to-market value of all confracts outstanding with that counterparty. At 31 March 2007 and 2006, total
credit exposure arising from forward exchange contracts was not material.

Credit risk with respect to trade accounts receivable is concentrated due to the concentration of the
distribution channels for the Company's fibre cement products. Credit is extended based on an
evaluation of each customer's financial condition and, generally, collateral is not required. The
Company has historically not incurred significant credit iosses.

Fair Values

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable, short-
term borrowings and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are a reasonable estimate of their fair
value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The following table summarises the
estimated fair value of the Company’s long-term debt (including current portion of long-term debt}):

31 March
(Millions of US dollars) 2007 2008
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value
Long-term debt:
Floating $ 105.0 $ 105.0 $ - % -
Fixed . P 121.7 133.8
Total $ 105.0 $ 105.0 $ 121.7 % 133.8

Fair values of long-term debt were determined by reference to the 31 March 2007 and 2006 markst
values for comparably rated debt instruments.

Operating Segment information and Concentrations of Risk

The Company has reported its operating segmeni information in the format that the operating
segment information is available to and evaluated by the Board of Directors. USA Fibre Cement
manufactures and sells fibre cement interior linings, exterior siding and related accessories products
in the United States. Asia Pacific Fibre Cement includes all fibre cement manufactured in Australia,
New Zealand and the Philippines and sold in Australia, New Zealand and Asia. Research and
Development represents the cost incurred by the research and development centres. Other includes
the manufacture and sale of fibre cement products in Chile (fiscal year 2005 only}, the manufacture
and sale of fibre cement reinforced pipes in the United States, fibre cement operations in Europe and
roofing operations in the United States. The roofing plant was closed and the business ceased
operations in April 2006. The Company’s operating segments are straiegic operating units that are
managed separately due to their different products and/or geographical location.
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Operating Segments
The following are the Company's operating segments and geographical information:

Net Sales to Customers®
Years Ended 31 March

{Millions of US dollars) 2007 2006 2005

USA Fibre Cement $ 1.262.3 % 1,218.4 3 939.2
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 251.7 241.8 236.1
Other 28.9 28.3 35.1

Worldwide total from continuing operations $ 1,5429 § 11,4885 §

1,210.4

(Loss) Income from Continuing Cperations

Before Income Taxes
Years Ended 31 March

(Millions of US dollars) 2007 2008 2005
USA Fibre Cement? $ 3624 $ 3426 % 241.5
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement® 39.4 41.7 46.8
Research and Development? {17.1} (15.7} {17.5)
Other {9.3) (28.5) {11.8)
Segments total 375.4 3421 259.0
General Corporate®48 {462.0) (777.0) (62.8)
Total operating {loss) income {B6.6) (434.9) 196.2
Net interest expense® {6.5) 0.2 (5.1)
Other expense - - (1.3)
Worldwide total from continuing operations $ (93.1y $ {435.1) § 180.8

Total Identifiable Assets

31 March

(Mitlions of US doltars) 2007 2006
USA Fibre Cement $ 8930 3% 8280
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement 199.3 170.4
Cther 52.5 54.8

Segments total 1,144.8 1,051.2
General Corporate®® 983.3 384.2

Worldwide fotal % 2,128.1 % 1,445.4
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(Millions of US dollars)

Additions 1o Property,

Piant and Equipment’

Years Ended 31 March
2007 2006 2005

USA Fibre Cement
Asla Pacific Fibre Cement
Cther

Worldwide total

(Millions of US dollars)

$ 80.3 $ 1845 &% 144.8
10.5 6.8 4.1
1.3 1.7 4.1

$ 924 $ 1628 &% 153.0

Depreciation and Amortisation
Years Ended 31 March
2007 2006 2005

USA Fibre Cement
Asia Pacific Fibre Cement
Other

Worldwide tota!

Geographic Areas

(Millions of US dollars)

$ 37.8 % 324 % 23.1
10.1 10.0 10.1
2.8 2.9 3.1

$ 507 § 453 % 36.3

Net Sales to Customers”
Years Ended 31 March
2007 2006 2005

USA

Australia

New Zealand
Cther Countries

$ 1,279.4 § 12337 § 955.7

168.0 164.5 160.5
54.4 53.6 49.6
40.1 36.7 44.8

Worldwide total from continuing operations § 11,5428 § 1,4885 $ 12104

{Mitlions of US doliars)

Total Identifiable Assets
31 March
2007 2006

USA

Australia

New Zealand

Cther Countries
Segments total

General Corporate®?
Worldwide total

$§ 8357 % 8703

127.1 108.5
23.1 18.7
58.9 53.7

1,144.8 1,051.2

983.3 384.2

$ 2,128.1 $ 1,4454

1 . e pe
Export sales and inter-segmental sales are not significant.

“Research and development costs of LUS$10.8 million, US$13.2 million and US$7.6 million in fiscal
years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were expensed in the USA Fibre Cement operating
segment. Research and development costs of US$1.8 million, LUS$2.3 million and LiS$1.9 million in
fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were expensed in the Asia Pacific Fibre Cement
segment. Research and development costs of US$13.0 million, US$12.3 million and US$12.0 million
in fiscal year 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were expensed in the Research and Development
segment. Research and Development costs of US$0.3 million, US$0.9 million and US$0.1 million in
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fiscal year 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, were expensed in other segment. The Research and
Development segment also included selling, general and administrative expenses of US$4.1 million,
LIS$3.4 million and US$5.5 million in fiscal year 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Research and development expenditures are expensed as incurred and in total amounted to
LIS$25.9 million, LUS$28.7 million and US$21.8 million for the years ended 31 March 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively.

The principal components of General Corporate are officer and employee compensation and related
benefits, professional and legal fees, administrative costs and rental expense, net of rental income,
on the Company’s corporate offices.

*Includes costs of US$13.6 miliocn, US$17.4 million and US$28.1 million for SCI and other related
expenses in fiscal years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. See Note 12.

*The Company does not report net interest expense for each operating segment as operating
segmenis are not held directly accountable for interest expense.

*The Company does not report deferred tax assets and liabilities for each operating segment as
operating segments are not held directly accountable for deferred income taxes. All deferred income
taxes are included in General Corporaie.

"Additions to property, plant and equipment are calculated on an accrual basis, and therefore differ
from property, plant and equipment in the consoclidated statements of cash flows.

®Included in General Corporate are asbestos adjustments of US$405.5 million and US$579.7 million
for the years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, respectively. Asbestos related assets at 31 March
2007 are US8$727.6 million and are included in the General Corporate segment. See Note 12.

Concentrations of Risk

The distribution channeis for the Company's fibre cement products are concentrated. If the Company
were to lose one or more of its major customers, there can be no assurance that the Company will
be able to find a replacement. Therefore, the loss of one or more customers could have a material
adverse effect on the Company's consolidated financiatl position, results of operations and cash
flows. The Company has three major customers that individually account for over 10% of the
Company's gross sales.

These three cusiomers' accounts receivable represented 58% and 60% of the Company's trade
accounts receivable at 31 March 2007 and 2006, respectively. The following are gross sales
generated by these three customers, which are all from the USA Fibre Cement segment:

Years Ended 31 March

{Miitions of US doltars) 2007 2008 2005
% % %
Cusiomer A $ 446.3 267 § 4262 350 § 2954 314
Customer B 172.3 103 168.5 13.8 131.8 14.0
Cusiomer C 168.9 10.1 156.6 12.8 131.7 14.0
Total $ 787.5 $ 7513 $ 558.9

Approximately 17% of the Company's fiscal year 2007 net sales from continuing operations were
derived from outside the United States. Consequently, changes in the value of foreign currencies
could significantly affect the consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows of
the Company's non-US operations on translation into US dollars.
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19.

20.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Accumulated other comprehensive income {loss} as reported in the consolidated balance sheets is
US$5.4 million and US${28.4) million as of 31 March 2007 and 20086, respectively, and includes
LUS$H2.7) milion, net of tax benefit of LUS$1.2 million, relating to the cumulative adjustment of
unrecognised pension losses and cumulative foreign currency gains of US$8.1 million, without any
associated tax impact. The balance sheet at 31 March 2006 is comprised of cumulative foreign
currency losses.

Related Party Transactions

JHI NV Directors’ and Former Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company's Directors and Former Directors’ and their direcior-related entities held an aggregate
of 210,530 ordinary shares and 271,561 ordinary shares at 31 March 2007 and 2006, respectively,
and 3,914,544 options and 2,782,544 options at 31 March 2007 and 2008, respectively.

Supervisory Board members on 12 December 2006 and 26 March 2007 participated in an acquisition
of shares at A$8.39 and A$8.50, respectively, under the terms of the Supervisory Board Share Plan
2006 which was approved by JBEI NV shareholders on 25 September 2006. Directors' acauisitions
were as follows:

Shares
Director Issued/Acquired
B Defosset -
B Anderson -
BG McGauchie AC -
J Barrl" 1,651
JRH Loudon -
M Hammes -
R van der Meer -

Former Directors

M Hellicar'? 3,388
Gd Clark -
MJ Gillilfan -
MR Brown -

Total 5,039

(* 779 shares at A$8.39 and 872 shares at A$8.50
2 3 388 shares at A$8.39

The JHI NV dividends paid on 6 July 2006 and 8 January 2007 to Directors and their related entities
was on the same terms and conditions that applied io other holders.

Existing Loans to the Company’s Directors and Directors of James Hardie Subsidiaries

At 31 March 2007 and 2006, loans iotaling US$30,774, and US$30,468, respectively, were
outstanding from certain executive directors or former directors of subsidiaries of JHI NV under the
terms and conditions of the Executive Share Purchase Plan {the "Plan™}. Loans under the Plan are
interest free and repayable from dividend income eared by, or capital returns from, securities
acquired under the Plan. The loans are collateralised by CUFS under the Plan. No new lcans 1o
Directors or executive officers of JHI NV, under the plan or otherwise, and nc modifications to
existing loans have been made since December 1997,
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During fiscal years 2007 and 2008, repayments totaling US$3,517 and LUS$1,892, respectively, were
received in respect of the Plan from AT Kneeshaw, PD Macdonald, PG Morley and DAJ Satlter.
During fiscal year 2005, an execulive direclor of a subsidiary resigned with loans outstanding of
LS$117,688. Under the terms of the plan, this director had two years from the date of his resignation
to repay such loan. The loan was repaid in full in the year ended 31 March 2007.

Payments Made to Directors and Director Related Entities of JHI NV during the Year

In August 2004, Former Chairman M Hellicar was appointed 1o a role as Chairman of a special
commitiee of the Board of Directors. The special commiltee was established o oversee the
Company's asbestos matters and was dissolved on 31 March 2005. In this role, she received a fee
of nil and US$33,777 for the years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008, raspectively.

Former Supervisory Board Director GJ Clark s a director of ANZ Banking Group Limited with whom
the Company transacts banking business. Deputy Chairman DG McGauchie AO is a director of
Telstra Corporation Limited from whom the Company purchases communications services. All
transactions were in accordance with normat commercial terms and conditions. It is not considered
that these Directors had significant influence over these transactions.

In February 2004, a subsidiary of the Company entered into a consulting agreement in usual
commercial terms and conditions with The Gries Group in respect to professionat services. The
principal of The Gries Group, James P. Gries, is Mr L Gries’ brother. The agreement expired in June
2005 and payments of nil and US$50,876 were made for the years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008,
respectively. Mr L Gries has no economic interest in The Gries Group.

Payments made to Director and Director Related Entities of Subsidiaries of JHI NV
The Company has subsidiaries located in various countries, many of which require that at feast one
director be a local resident. All payments described below arise because of these requirements.

Payments of LIS$4,507 and LUS$8,829 for the years ended 31 March 2007 and 20086, respectively,
were made to Grech, Vella, Tortell & Hyzler Advocates. Dr JJ Vella was a director of one of the
Company's subsidiaries. The payments were in respect of legal services and were negotiated in
accordance with usual commercial terms and conditions.

Payments totaling nil and US$78,496 for the years ended 31 March 2007 and 2006, respectively,
were made 1o M Helyar, R Le Tocg and N Wild who were directors of a subsidiary of the Company.
The paymentis were in respect of professional services and were negotiated in accordance with
usuat commercial terms and conditions.

Payments totaling US$5,364 and US$4,984 for the years ended 31 March 2007 and 2008,
respectively, were made to Bernaldo, Mirador and Directo Law Offices. R Bernaldo is a director of a
subsidiary of the Company. The payments were in respect of professional services and were
negotiated in accordance with usual commercial terms and conditions.
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This Financial Report forms part of a package of information about the Company’'s results. it should
be read in conjunction with the other parts of this package, including the Media Release,
Management Presentation and Management's Analysis of Resuits.

Disciaimer

This Financial Report of results contains forward-looking slatements. James Hardie may from time fo
time make forward-looking statemenis in its periodic reports filed with or furnished fo the United
States Securities and Exchange Commission on Forms 20-F and 6-X, in the annual reports to
shareholders, in offering circulars and prospectuses, in media releases and other written materials
and in oral siatemenis made by the Company's officers, directors or employees to analysts,
institutional investors, representalives of the media and others. Exampies of forward-looking
statements include:

— expeclations about the timing and amount of payments to the Asbestos Injuries
Compensation Fund {AICF), a special purpose fund for the compensation of proven
asbestos-related personal injury and death claims;

— expectations with respect to the effect on the Company's financial statements of those
payments;

— stalements as to the possible consequences of proceedings brought against the Company
and cerfain of its former directors and officers by the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission;

— projections of the Company’s operating resulls or financial condition;

— statements regarding the Company’s plans, objectives or goals, including those relating to
competition, acquisitions, dispositions and the Company’s products;

— statements about the Company’s future performance; and

— statements about product or environmental liabiities.
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Words such as “"believe,” “anficipate,” “plan,” “expect,” “intend,” *targei,” ‘estimate,” "project,”
“predict,” “forecast,” “guideline,” “"should,” "aim” and similar expressions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements but are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements.

Forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties. The Company cautions that a
number of important factors could cause actual resulis to differ materially from the plans, objectives,
expectations, estimates and intentions expressed in such forward-looking statements. These factors
include, but are not limited to, the risk factors discussed under “Risk Factors” beginning on page 5 of
the Form 20-F filed on 29 September 2006 with the Securities and Exchange Commission, include
but are not limited to: all matters relating to or arising out of the prior manufacture of products that
contained asbestos by current and former James Hardie subsidiaries; required contributions to the
AICF and the effect of foreign exchange on the amount recorded in our financial statements as an
asbestos liability: compliance with and changes in tax laws and treatments; competition and product
pricing in the markets in which the Company operates; the conseguences of product failures or
defects; exposure to environmenial, asbestos or other legal proceedings; general economic and
market conditions; the supply and cost of raw materials; the success of research and development
efforts; reliance on a small number of product distributors; compliance with and changes in
environmental and heaith and safety laws; risks of conducting business internationally; compliance
with and changes in laws and regulations,; foreign exchange risks,; the successful implementation of
new software systems; and the successful implementation of the infernal control over financial
reporting requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as codified by ltem 308 of
Regulation S-K. The Company cautions that the foregoing list of facters is not exhaustive and that
other risks and uncertainfies may cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak only as of the date they are made.
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